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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Unless the context otherwise requires, all refeesnin this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Coma “we,” “us,” “our,” or
“Cryoport” refer to Cryoport, Inc. and our wholly owned sulisig, Cryoport Systems, Inc. In addition, we owrhave rights to the register
trademark Cryopor (both alone and with a design logo) and Cryoporptess® (both alone and with a design logo). All other Comy
names, registered trademarks, trademarks, and semiarks included in this Annual Report are trademaregistered trademarks, serv
marks, or trade names of their respective owners.

Cryoport, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K conticertain forward-looking statements. These forwlaaking statements involve
number of risks and uncertainties. These forwlaking statements can generally be identifiediahdecause the context of the statemen
include certain words, including but not limited, telieves,” “may,” “will,” “expects,” “intends,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “plans,”
“seeks,” “continues,” “predicts,” “potential,” “lik ely,” or “opportunity,” and also contains predictits, estimates and other forwalabking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A oS#dwirities Act of 1933, as amended, and SectiBroP1he Securities Exchange Act of 1!
as amended, and in reliance upon the safe harbowipions of the Private Securities Litigation RefioAct of 1995. Such forwatdeking
statements are based on the current beliefs o€ttrapanys management, as well as assumptions made by forchation currently availabl
to the Company’s management. Readers of this AnReglort on Form 10-K should not put undue reliamce these forwardeoking
statements, which speak only as of the time thimu&lnReport on Form 18- was filed with the Securities and Exchange Cormsianis(the
“SEC"). Reference is made in particular to forwalabking statements regarding the success of oudywets, product approvals, product sa
revenues, development timelines, product acquistitiquidity and capital resources and trends. Wward-1ooking statements are inherer
subject to risks and uncertainties, some of whatmot be predicted or quantified. Cryoport Irscdctual results may differ materially from
results projected in the forwardoking statements. Factors that might cause sudtifarence include, but are not limited to, thasgcussed i
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “RiBactors” in “Item 1A — Risk Factors”, and in “Ita 7 — Managemermt’Discussion ar
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiem<” included in Part Il. In addition, past financial arperating performance is r
necessarily a reliable indicator of future perfornta, and you should not use our historical perfamo®to anticipate results or future per
trends. We can give no assurances that any of\hetg anticipated by the forwatdeking statements will occur or, if any of them dda
impact they will have on our results of operati@msl financial condition. Except as required by lawe do not undertake to update any ¢
forward-looking statements and expressly disclaim any ttutipdate the information contained in this AnnRaport on Form 10-K.

PART 1
Item 1. Business
Overview

Cryoport is a leading provider of cryogenic logistsolutions to the life sciences industry throiiglpurposebsuilt proprietary packagin
information technology and specialized cold chaigistics expertise. We provide leading edge loggssiolutions for biologic materials suct
immunotherapies, stem cells, CAR-T cells, and rdpctive cells for clients worldwide, including ptsrof-care, CRGs, central laboratorie
biopharmaceuticals, contract manufacturing, headthters and university research. Our packaginguis &round our proprietary Cryop:
Express® liquid nitrogen dry vapor shippers, which are vatit to maintain a constarit50°C temperature for a ten day dynamic ship
duration. Our information technology centers on Guyoportal™ Logistics Management Platform, whielgilitates management of the er
shipment process.

We view our solutions as disruptive to “older teslugies”such as dry ice, in that our solutions provideatddl, economic alternatives
existing solutions and services utilized for frozhipping in life sciences, including immunotheespistem cells, cell lines, vaccines, diagn
materials, semen, eggs, embryos, cord bloodpharmaceuticals, infectious substances and othersithat require continuous exposur
frozen or cryogenic temperatures.

Our Cryoport Expres8 Solutions include a sophisticated clobased logistics operating platform, which is brahde the Cryoportal™
The Cryoportal™ supports the management of theeestiipment and logistics process through a simgégface, including initial order inpi
document preparation, customs clearance, courieagenent, shipment tracking, issue resolution,datidery. In addition, it provides uniq
and incisive information dashboards and validadonumentation for every shipment. The CryoportaBtords and retains a fully documer
“chain-of-custody” and, at the client’s option, ‘ah-of-conditionfor every shipment, helping ensure that qualitfetya efficacy, and stabili
of shipped commodities are maintained throughoatgiocess. This recorded and archived informatitmwa our clients to meet exacti
requirements necessary for scientific work andofmof of regulatory compliance during the logistitsase.




The branded packaging for our Cryoport Expr8sSolutions includes our liquid nitrogen dry vapoipgiers, the Cryoport Express
Shippers. The Cryoport Expre8sShippers are costffective and reusable cryogenic transport contaifeur standard shipper is a pate
vacuum flask) utilizing an innovative applicatiori tdry vapor” liquid nitrogen (“LN2”) technology. oport Express® Shippers ai
International Air Transport Association (“IATA”) céfied and validated to maintain stable tempermgunsf minus 150° C and below for a 10
day dynamic shipment period. The Company curreiedyures three Cryoport Expre8Shippers: the Standard Dry Shipper (holding up3
2.0 ml vials), the High Volume Dry Shipper (holding to 500 2.0 ml vials) and the recently introdLi@ryoport Expres€ CXVC1 Shippe
(holding up to 1,500 2.0 ml vials). In addition, assist clients with internal secondary packagsgaell (e.g., vials, canes, straws, plates, etc.

Our most used solution is the “turnkey” solutiorhigh can be accessed directly through our cloased Cryoportal™ or by contact
Cryoport Client Care for order entry. Once an olidgslaced and cleared, we ship a fully chargecb@oyt Expres§ Shipper to the clientvho
conveniently loads its frozen commodity into th@en chamber of th€ryoport Expres® Shipper. The customer then closes the shi
package and reseals the shipping box displayingnéixé recipient’s address (“Flap A”) for pre-arradgcarrier pick upCryoport arranges f
the pick-up of the parcel by a shipping servicevjater, which is designated by the client or chobgrCryoport, for delivery to the clierst’
intended recipient. The recipient simply opensshigper package and removes the frozen commaodityhls been shipped. The recipient
reseals the package, displaying the nearest Cry@puerations Center address (“Flap B”), makingetidy for pre-arranged carrier piak-
When the Cryoport Operations Center receives tlyefrt Expres® Shipper, it is cleaned, put through quality assceaesting, and return
to inventory for reuse.

In late 2012, we shifted our focus to become a aefmnsive cryogenic logistics solutions provideec®&nizing that clients in the |
sciences industry have varying requirements, weundled our technologies, established customer dgasoiutions and took a consultat
approach to the market. Today, in addition to ¢andard “Turn-key Solution described above, we also provide the following @our facing
value-added solutions to address our various cliergeds:

« “ Customer Staged Solutioyi designed for clients making 50 or more shipmentsyanth. Under this solution, we supply an inveptoi
our Cryoport Expres® Shippers to our customer, in an uncharged statélieiy our customer (after training/certificatico)charge the
with liquid nitrogen and use our Cryoportal™ to embrders with shipping and delivery service prev&dfor the transportation of 1
package

« “ Customer Managed Solutioti’ a limited customer implemented solution, wherel®y supply our Cryoport Expre§sShippers to clien
in a fully charged state, but leaving it to theenti to manage the shipping, including the seleatibthe shipping and delivery serv
provider and the return of the shipper to

« “ powered by CryoportM ,” available to providers of shipping and delivesgrvices who seek to offer a “brandesyogenic logistic
solution as part of their service offerings, witppéwered by Cryoport™” appearing prominently on the offering software ifstee an
packaging. This solution can also be private labalgon meeting certain requirements, such as mimimaguired shipping volume

« " Integrated Solution,” which is our total outsource solution. It is ourshoomprehensive solution and involves our manageifethe
entire cryogenic logistics process for our clientluding Cryoport employees at the client’s stentanage the cliergt’cryogenic logistic
function in total.

- “ Regenerative Medicine Poi-of-Care Repository Solutior” designed for allogeneic therapies. In this soluti@nsupply our Cryopc
Express® Shipper to ship and store cryogenically preserifedstience products for up to six days (or longeriods with supplemente
shippers) at a point-of-care site, with the Cryogxpress® Shipper serving as a temporary freezer/repositoabkng the efficient ar
effective distribution of temperature sensitiveoglineic celbased therapies without the expense, inconveniearug,potential cost
failure of an o-sight, cryopreservation devic

« “ Personalized Medicine and Crbased Immunotherapy Solutior” designed for autologous therapies. In this satutiar Cryopol
Express® Shipper serves as an enabling technology for tfeetsansportation of manufactured autologous cathhsed immunothera
market by providing a comprehensive logistics sotufor the verified chain of custody and conditimansport from, (a) the collection
the patient cells in a hospital setting, to (b) a centralcpssing facility where they are manufactured infreesonalized medicine, to
the safe, cryogenically preserved return of thespliaceable cells to a point-of-care treatmeniifac If required, the Cryoport Express
Shipper can then serve as a temporary freezeritepo® allow the efficient distribution of thisepsonalized medicine to the patient w
and where the medical provider needs it most withilie expense, inconvenience, and potential cofgtijyre of an orsight
cryopreservation devic




Competitive Advantages

With our first-tomarket cryogenic logistics solutions for the lifeiemces industry, we have established a unique ¢&ad potentic
competitors. Furthermore, we are not aware of apamy that offers comparable solutions and hasaheesapabilities Cryoport has as a gl
provider of advanced, validated cryogenic logiststdutions. As a solutions company working with daols in packaging, informatit
technology, and cryogenic logistics, we addressgoowing $1.7 billion cryogenic logistics marketiimovative and creative ways.

The majority of our competition utilizes “old teabingies.”In fact, most of our market still uses dry ice dindid nitrogen. In the case
dry ice the technology does not deliver cryogeamaperatures and, consequently, this medium all@Ns t degrade, sometimes beyond
utility. When biology was less developed, dry icasvbelieved to be acceptable and was readily dlaila

Liquid nitrogen, on the other hand, while effective bulky, expensive and has special handling irements. Both dry ice and liqu
nitrogen are classified “hazardouby shipping companies and regulatory authoriti@sadidition to being ineffective and/or classifies
“dangerous goods,” they are inefficient when coregdo Cryoport solutions. Conversely, Cryoport’Bisons are classified as non-hazardous

Having been validated and qualified as a solutjgowider for hundreds of life sciences companies iastitutions, Cryoport has logg
over 20,000 shipments to over 80 countries withdneds of life sciences materials. Once life scismm@mpanies start utilizing our adva
cryogenic logistics solutions, we experience miniatiznt attrition.

While we look at companies such as Thermo Fish&n8fic, AmerisourceBergen Corporation and Marlkaenpotential competitol
some of these companies are also our customers.

We think our competitive position is further enhaddy our respective “powered by Cryopgstrtnership agreements with FedEx, L
and UPS, who collectively, account for approximat®$% of worlds air freight and who, individually, have been engliag their offerings ¢
cold chain logistics solutions to the life sciengetustry. In short, we are the cryogenic solufimneach of them, employing our packaging,
software and our logistics expertise.

The challenge for our seasoned, professional mamagteteam is to maintain what we believe to beua year lead in the marketplace
other words, we think it would take a serious pt&trcompetitor at least four years to build out ttompetencies that we possess an
knowledge we have of the marketplace.

In addition to our intellectual property consistiof three issued U.S. patents, one pending U.Snpapplication, and one U
provisional patent application and our lead asfitlse to market mover, we think our biggest comipeti advantage is our speed to market
new solutions and our sensitivity to anticipate agalct to market needs. Our solutions are compee@nd it is in our “DNA"to maintait
our market lead by employing the best people inrtdastry as well as our current and new techne®¢p maintain that lead.

Given today’s environmental concerns, we also dmrsthe fact that we are “greetd be a competitive advantage. Our packa
materials are recyclable and the key componentseaisable. The fact that the inner and outer sbéltsir shippers are made of aircrgftade
aluminum makes these components recyclable asWelkake our responsibility toward the environmseriously.

Strategic Logistics Alliances

We have sought to establish strategic alliances mgthod of marketing our solutions to the lifeescies industry. We have focused
efforts on leading companies in the logistics smwiindustry as well as participants in the lifeesces industry. In connection with 1
alliances with providers of shipping services, wter to their offerings as powered by CryoportM” to reflect our solutions being integra
into our alliance partner’s services.

Cryoport now serves and supports the three laigésgrators in the world, responsible for over 86%worldwide airfreight, with it
advanced cryogenic logistics solutions for lifeesies. We operate with each independently anddemtfally in support of their respect
market and sales strategies. We maintain our intkp# partnerships with strict confidentiality gelides within the Company. The
agreements represent a significant validation ofsolutions and the way we conduct our business.

FedEx. In January 2013, we entered into a master agreemigmtFederal Express Corporation (“FedEx”) (theetlEx Agreemen)’
renewing these services and providing FedEx wittom-exclusive license and right to use a customizgdion of our Cryoportal™ for the
management of shipments made by FedEx customederldmur FedEx Agreement, we provide frozen shippagistics services through 1
combination of our purpose-built proprietary teclogées and turnkey management processes. FedExetnaakd sells Cryopost'services fc
frozen temperature-controlled cold chain transpionaas its FedE® Deep Frozen Shipping Solution on a rexclusive basis and at its s
expense. During fiscal year 2013, the Company wibiiesely with FedEx to further align its salesoef§ and accelerate penetration wi
FedEXxs life sciences customer base through improvedessas, sales incentives, joint customer calls aomé frequent communication at
sales and executive level. In addition, FedEx lbped a FedEx branded version of the Cryop&¥aioftware platform, which is powere:
by CryoportSM” for use by its customers, giving them acceséoftll capabilities of our cloud-based logisticamagement software platform.




DHL. In June 2014, we entered into a master agreemehtlwieConEx, a part of DHL Global Forwarding (“DHL DHL has nov
enhanced its cold chain logistics offerings tolifis sciences and healthcare customers with Cryttpealidated cryogenic solutions. D
added 15 additional certified Life Sciences stationthe second quarter of 2014 bringing its Tharetometwork to 60 stations in operat
This expanded network offers Cryoport's cryogenitusons under the DHL brands aspbwered by CryoporfM”. In addition, DHL'’s
customers have direct access to our cloud-basest erdry and tracking portal to order Cryoport Solutions and receive prefer
DHL shipping rates and discounts. Our proprietargidtics management operating platform, the CrymapdM , is integrated with DHILS
tracking and billing systems to provide DHL lifeieeces and healthcare customers with a seamlessofvagcessing critical informati
regarding shipments of biological material worldeid

UPS.In October 2014, we added United Parcel Serviges, ('UPS”) as our third major distributor by entering into agreement wit
UPS Oasis Supply Corporation, a part of UPS, whetéBS will offer our validated and comprehensivgogenic solutions to its life scienc
and healthcare customers on a global basis. Ogardtirse of rolling out our new relationship witRP8, UPS customers will have direct ac
to our cloud-based order entry and tracking pddairder Cryoport Expres® Solutions and gain access to U®8road array of domestic ¢
international shipping and logistics solutions @npetitive prices. Our proprietary logistics marragat operating platform, the Cryoporté ,
is integrated with UPS’tracking and billing systems to provide UPS $itégences and healthcare customers with a seam#gsefnaccessir
critical information regarding shipments of biologi material worldwide.

These agreements with the three largest integratotise world, controlling more than 85% of the Wlos air shipments, represer
significant validation of our solutions and the wag conduct our business.

Cryoport’s Positioning in the Life Sciences Industy

Life sciences technologies are expected to havgréfisant impact on global society over the ne&sty&ars. In the United States alc
the life sciences industry is made up of 6,000tifiable establishments. However, the industryrisvging globally in a way where research
manufacturing pipelines span across the globe,wihicreases the need to mitigate logistics risk.

The total cold chain logistics market has histdijcgrown 70% faster per annum than the total lbgismarket. For 2011, global ci
chain logistics transportation costs were repottetle $7.2 hillion; about $1.5 billion within theyogenic range of requirements. By 2(
transportation cost alone, for global life sciencelsl chain logistics, is forecasted to grow ta388illion, a 41% increase, and twice the grc
of the overall market.

In addition, with the recent advancements in thgeltggment of biologics and cdiiased therapies, scientists, intermediaries
manufacturers require the means for cryogenicediysporting their work. Temperatures must be maiathbelow the “glass pointgénerally
minus 136C€) while shipping these therapies to ensure that ghipped specimens are not subject to degrad#tancould impact tt
characteristics and efficacy of those specimens.

While we estimate that our solutions currently offemprehensive and technololggsed monitoring and tracking for a potential afte
seven million deep frozen shipments globally onaanual basis, we also believe that with investnmientur services, adaptations of
solutions can be applied to a large portion of dditeonal fifty-five to sixty million annual shipnms requiring ambient (between 20° and 2&
C), chilled (between 2° and 8°C) or frozen (minG8C or less) temperatures.

Cryoport's clients include companies and institutions tkajuire reliable cryogenic logistics solutions sashtherapy developers
personalized medicine, bjmharmaceuticals, research, contract research aag#ns, diagnostic laboratories, contract manufacs, cor
blood repositories, vaccine manufacturers, animablndry related companies, and in-vitro fertilaaclinics.

Life Sciences Agreements

Zoetis. In December 2012, we signed an agreement with Pfiwe relating to Zoetis Inc. (formerly the aninfaalth business unit
Pfizer Inc.) pursuant to which we were engaged tnage frozen shipments of a key poultry vaccinedddrthis arrangement, Cryop
provides on-site logistics personnel and its logismanagement operating platform, the Cryopditato manage shipments from the Zo
manufacturing site in the United States to domestistomers as well as various international distiiim centers. As part of our logist
management services, Cryoport is constantly anadyirigistics data and processes to further intreceaonomies and reliability throughout
network, ensuring products arrive at their destimat in specified conditions, dime and with the optimum utilization of resourcdse
Company manages Zoetittal fleet of dewar flask shippers used for thiggwse, including liquid nitrogen shippers. In J@§13 thi
agreement was amended to expand Cryoport's scopeitage all logistics of Zoetis’ key frozen poultrigccine to all Zoetisinternationz
distribution centers as well as all domestic shiptseln October 2013, the agreement was furthemdegt to further expand Cryopatiole tc
include the logistics management for a second poudtccine.




Liventa Biosciencesln February 2014, we entered into a services ageaemith Liventa Bioscience, Inc. (“Liventa”), aiyately-held
commercial early stage biotechnology company foduse cellbased biologics in the orthopedic industry. Undhés igreement, Liventa w
use Cryoport’s Regenerative Medicine Point-of-CRepository Solution for the logistics of its cblised therapies requiring cryoge
temperatures and also provide Cryoport ExpfeSslutions to other biologics suppliers within th¢hopedic arena. The agreement comk
Cryoport’s proprietary, purpose-built cold chaiwiktics solutions for cell-based and advanced Bioltissue forms with Liventa’distributiol
capability to orthopedic care providers. The impdatation of Cryoport's Regenerative Medicine PaifiCare Repository Solution w
eliminate the risks of degradation and also elit@ngie need for expensive onsite cryogenic freefmrstorage of celbased orthopec
therapies. The agreement has an initial three4gear and may be renewed for consecutive tlygma-terms, unless earlier terminated by e
party. Liventa also agreed to certain performaniter@ and the issuance of 150,000 shares obitsngon stock to Cryoport in exchange for
opportunity for an exclusive right to offer, markaid promote Cryoport Expre8sSolutions for cellulabased therapies requiring cryoge
temperatures for use in the orthopedic arena itJthited States.

Corporate History and Structure

The Company was originally incorporated under thene G.T.5-Limited (“GT5")on May 25, 1990 as a Nevada Corporation. |
completion of a Share Exchange Agreement, on Mas;2005 the Company changed its name to Cryojpmartand acquired all of the isst
and outstanding shares of Cryoport Systems, Ingofent Systems, Inc. remains the operating comparder Cryoport, Inc. At that tin
Cryoport Systems, Inc. was focused on developimgQhyoport Expres® Shipper. Over time the Company has transitionech fleing
development company to providing global cold cHagistics solutions to the biotechnology and liégesices industries.

Since 2011, we have validated, perfected and exghtite features of the Cryoport Expr&dsgistics solutions and have now mane
shipments of the Cryoport Expre8sShippers through its CryoportdM into and out of more than 80 countries with morantt20,00
shipments, handling a vast array of different tgatal products and specimens.

During fiscal year 2012, the Company completedakternal validation of its Cryoport Express Stanld&hipper to ISTA 7E standa

and introduced the Cryoport Expre8sHigh Volume Shipper in response to customer demai Company also set up its Eurog
distribution depot in Holland to better serve isstomer base and support sales efforts in Europe.

During fiscal year 2013, the Company elected JeBiet¢lton as President and CEO, realigned its dals, and introduced a soluti
based sales and operating strategy. In additioth,aanpart of its global expansion plans, the Comsat up its Asian distribution depot
Singapore.

Since the beginning of fiscal year 2014, the ComgfsaBoard of Directors (“Board”has added certain members to better alig
experience and competencies of the directors wWighGompanys strategic direction. In March 2013, Richard GthrRaann, a fund manag
investor, and advisor to life science companies tlre past 20 years, was appointed to the BoamdSelptember 2013, Mr. Rathmann
elected Chairman of the Board. Also in Septembdr3204r. Edward Zecchini, an executive with morerthhirty years of experience in 1
healthcare and information technology industries wppointed to the Board. In June 2014, Dr. Ramkuvendalam was appointed to
Board. Dr. Mandalam has more than twenty yearsxpkgence in the development of biologics and igently the President and CF
Executive Officer of Cellerant Therapeutics, Irecglinicalstage biotechnology company. Most recently, in dan@015, Richard Berman w
appointed to the Board. Mr. Bermanbusiness career consists of more than 35 yearemtiire capital, management and merger
acquisitions experience. The Companyemaining Board member, Jerrell Shelton, the itfeas and Chief Executive Officer of Cryopi
joined the Board in October 2012. The Comy's five person Board has four independent Board neesplas determined by NASDAQ R
5605(a)(2) and the related rules of the SecurétiesExchange Commission.

Cryoport Expres® Solutions

Our Cryoport Expres8 Solutions are currently made up primarily of the/@ortal™ software platform, Cryoport Expré¥Shippers
Cryoport Express® Smart Pak data loggers and arstiences cold chain logistics expertise. Crybfmpress® Solutions are focused
improving the reliability of frozen shipping whiteducing our clients’ overall operating costs. Tisiaccomplished by providing complete end
to-end solutions for the transport and monitoringrozén or cryogenically preserved biological or othreaterials shipped primarily throu
distribution partners, such as FedEx, UPS, and Ddtd, specialty couriers.




The information technology is centered on a crydgéogistics operating platform called the Cryopbrt™ . which is cloudbasec
Among its functions, the CryoportdM programmatically assists in the management of spikets of the logistics operations beginning
order entry and continuing to monitor, log datack shipments and store vital information. The @oytal ™ is capable of producing a vari
of Cryoport Expres$® Analytics which report shipment performance metrecsl evaluates temperaturenitoring data collected by t
Cryoport Expres® Smart Pak during shipment.

Cryoport Expres® Solutions are focused on improving the reliabitifycryogenic logistics while reducing our clients/erall operatin
costs. This is accomplished by providing tailorad aomplete end-tend solutions for cryogenic logistics requirementduding managemel
transport, monitoring and data collection regardiogen/cryogenically preserved biological commieditor pharmaceutical materials ship
primarily though integrators and Cryopartogistics network which includes specialty corgjdrokers and other intermediaries. Certain €
intellectual property underlying our Cryoport Exps& Solutions, other than that related to the Cryofiogpress® Shippers, has been, ¢
continues to be, developed under a contract witloatside software development company, with theedgihg technology licensed
Cryoport for exclusive use in our field of use.

Cryoportal ™

The Cryoportal™ is used by Cryoport, our clients and business pestto automate the entry of orders, prepare cisstioumentatic
and to facilitate status and location monitoringbipped orders while in transit. It is used by @grt to assist in managing logistics operat
and to reduce administrative costs typically priovied through manual labor relating to or@etry, order processing, preparation of ship
documents and baakfice accounting. It is also used to support tighHevel of customer service expected by the igu€ertain features
the Cryoportal™ reduce operating costs and facilitate the scalfr@rgoport’s business, but more importantly they offer siguaifit value to tt
customer in terms of cost avoidance and risk ntitiga Examples of these features include automatioarder entry, development of K
Performance Indicators (“KPI's®o support our efforts for continuous process improents in our business, and programmatic exce
monitoring to detect and sometimes anticipate delayhe shipping process, often before the custemthe shipping company becomes a\
of them.

The Cryoportal™ also serves as the communications center for thegement, collection and analysis of Smart Pak clatacted fror
Smart Pak data loggers in the field. Data is caeeeinto predesigned reports containing valuable and ofteroaahle information th
becomes the quality control standard or “pedigdehe shipment. This information can be utilized@ryoport to provide valuable feedbacl
our clients relating to their shipments.

The Cryoportal™ software platform has been devaloge a “carrier-agnosticsystem, allowing the client and the Cryoport Cli€atre
team to work with a single or multiple integratdirgight forwarders, couriers and/or brokers defregndn the specific requirements and cl
preferences. To increase operational efficienciegpportal™ has already been integrated with theking systems of FedEx, DHL and L
and we plan to integrate it with other key logistaroviders.

The Cryoportal™ was developed for time- and temperatsessitive shipments that are required to be maiethiat specifi
temperatures, such as ambient (between 20° and)26hflled (between 2° and 8°C) or frozen (minusQr less all the way down
cryogenic temperatures (minus 150°C) to ensurettiwshipped specimen is not subject to degradaticout of its designated “safeange
While our current focus is on cryogenic logisticghim the life sciences industry using the logistgolutions described herein, the use o

Cryoportal™ can and may be extended into other temperaturesasicthe cold chain.

To our knowledge, the Cryoportal™ software platfasmunique to cold chain logistics in the life swes industry. It is robust and |
considerable capabilities. It is telling that otmrategic alliance partners have chosen to licelmseCryoportal™ rather than attempt to dupli
its features in their logistics management softwdfe have engineered the Cryoportal™ in a waydhags us the ability to offer thegowere:

by CryoportSM” strategy as a means to addresss all of the vageds of our strategic alliance partners.
The Cryoport Expres® Shippers

Our Cryoport Expres® Shippers are cryogenic dry vapor shippers capdaheaintaining cryogenic temperatures of minus 16@fsius
or below for a dynamic shipping period of 10 or mdays. A dry vapor cryogenic shipper is a devied tises liquid nitrogen contained in:
a vacuum insulated vessel which serves as a redrigéo provide stable storage temperatures belowsrl50° Celsius. Our Cryoport Expr
® Shippers are designed to ensure that there isessire build up as the liquid nitrogen evaporatés have developed a proprietary reter
system to ensure that liquid nitrogen stays intfidevacuum container, which allows the shipperaaésignated as a dry vapor shipper me
IATA requirements. Biological or pharmaceutical sipgens are stored in a specimen chamber, refeored & “well’inside the container a
refrigeration is provided by gas evolving from tliguid nitrogen entrapped within the proprietaryergion system. Specimens that ma
transported using our cryogenic shipper includee Icells, scientific or pharmaceutical commodit®gh as cancer vaccines, diagne
materials, semen, eggs, embryos, infectious sutxstanand other commodities that require continuemposure to frozen/cryogel
temperatures, i.e., temperatures below minus 1805iG3.




An important feature of our Cryoport Expré&Shippers, except for the newly introduced Cryogbmpress® CXVC1 Shipper, is the
compliance with the stringent packaging requiremenftIATA Packing Instructions 602 and 650, respwety. These specifications inclu
meeting internal pressure (hydraulic) and dropgrerfince requirements. Under IATA guidelines, Crybfxpress® Shippers are classified
“Non-hazardous.” Dry ice and liquid nitrogen arasdified as “Dangerous Good€ur shippers are also in compliance with IntermaticCivil
Aviation Organization (“ICAO”)regulations that prohibit egress of liquid nitrogesidue from the shipping packages. The ICAO iniec
Nations organization that develops regulationgtiersafe transport of dangerous goods by

We currently offer three sizes of dry vapor shigpéne Cryoport Expre$$Standard Shipper with a storage capacity of upst@.0 m
vials, the Cryoport Expre€High Volume Shipper, which has a storage capaditypato 500 2.0 ml vials, and the Cryoport Expr@&XVvC1
Shipper, introduced in August 2014, which has aagte capacity of up to 1,500 2.0 ml vials. Our @y Express@hippers are composec
an aluminum (aircraftrade) dewar flask, containing a well for holdihg high value biological or other materials iniftser chamber and ¢
proprietary retention foam that absorbs the licuitdbogen placed in the shipper to provide it withéxtreme cold temperature. The dewar
is vacuum insulated to limit the transmission oathitom outside the flask to the liquid nitrogerptaed within the absorption foam and
well.

Cryoport Expres$® Standard Shippers

The Cryoport Expres® Standard Shippers are lightweight, low-costusable dry vapor liquid nitrogen storage contairtbes, we
believe, combine the best features of life scieqmaskaging, cryogenics science and vacuum insalagohnology. A Cryoport Expre$s
Standard Shipper is composed of an aluminum metddlivar flask, with a well for holding the biologlomaterial in the inner chamber. ~
dewar vessel is a device in which the conductiomyvection and radiation of heat are reduced as rasgbossible giving it the capability
maintaining its contents at a neamstant temperature over relatively long periddgnoe. The inner chamber of the shipper is surdashby
high surface, low-density material which retaing liquid nitrogen insitu by absorption, adsorption, and surface tengMasorption is define
as the taking up of matter in bulk by other matterjn the dissolving of a gas by a liquid, wheradsorption is the surface retention of s
liquid or gas molecules, atoms or ions by a solidiguid. This material absorbs liquid nitrogen eeal times faster than currently u
materials, while providing the shipper with a htlde and capacity to transport biological matergdfely and conveniently. The annular sj
between the inner and outer dewar walls is evaduate very high vacuum (10-6 Torr). The specirheiding chamber has a primary ca|
enclose the specimens/commodities, and a remowatdereplaceable secondary cap to further enclosespiecimen/commaoditigelding
container and to contain the liquid nitrogen drpea The entire dewar vessel is then wrapped itugality of insulating and cushionii
materials and placed in a disposable outer pacagiade of recyclable material. The Cryoport Expf@&tandard Shippers has a stol
capacity of up to 75 2.0 ml vials.

The technology underlying the Cryoport ExprésStandard Shipper is under constant refinementrthduimprove its performance &
reliability. Our current shippers use aircraft gradluminum and other lower weight materials, redgcireight cost which is based
dimensionakweight. We maintain ongoing development effortsates to our shippers that are principally focusednuaterial propertie
particularly those properties related to our l@mperature requirement, vacuum retention chaiatitsy, such as the permeability of
materials, and lower weight materials in an eftortmeet the life sciences market requirements é¢hiexing the most reliable, lowest c
frozen and cryogenic logistic solutions.

Cryoport Expres$ High Volume Shippers

The Cryoport Expres® High Volume Shipper also uses a dry vapor liquittogien (LN2) technology to maintain minus 150
temperatures with a dynamic shipping enduranceOofldys. The Cryoport Expre§sHigh Volume Shipper is based on the same dry \
technology as Cryopo#’original standard dry shipper and utilizes ardient material to hold LN2, thus providing theesxded enduran
time and IATA validation as a ndmazardous shipping container. The high volume diigper is reusable and recyclable, making it a ly
sustainable and cost effective method of transpyiife science materials. The Cryoport Expr8stigh Volume Shipper has a storage cap:
of up to 500 2.0ml vials.




Cryoport Expres® CXVC1 Shippers

The Cryoport Expres® CXVC1 Shipper is our largest shipper and can bel @sther as a dry vapor shipper or a liquid shipjteis
designed to focus on vaccine ampoules or cryoviginsents in canisters. In the case of dry vaparidicpitrogen (LN2), it maintains min
150° C temperatures with a dynamic shipping endiweaof 20 days. In the case of liquid nitrogen (LNR)maintains minus 150°
temperatures with a shipping endurance of 72 dape. Cryoport Expres® CXVC1 Shipper, in dry vapor form, is based on tkene
technology as Cryopo#d’original standard dry shipper and utilizes arodient material to hold LN2, thus providing theemded enduran
time and IATA validation as a non-hazardous shiggiontainer. The Cryoport Expre8<CXVC1 Shipper, in liquid form, is a straightforwi
wet dewar with all the characteristics attendard twet dewar and with a holding time of 72 dayse Tryoport Expres& CXVC1 Shipper i
reusable and recyclable, making it a highly sustale and cost effective method of transporting difeence materials. As a point of refere
the Cryoport Expres8 CXVC1 Shipper has a storage capacity of up to 1(6@l vials.

Cryoport Expres® Shipper Summary

We believe Cryoport Expres¥Solutions are the best and most cost effectivetisoliavailable in the biotechnology and life scies
markets and satisfy customer needs and scientificregulatory requirements relating to the shipneéniime- and temperatureritical, frozetr
and refrigerated transport of biological materialach as stem cells, cell lines, pharmaceuticaiical trial samples, gene biotechnolc
infectious materials handling, animal and humanraépction markets. Due to our proprietary technglagd innovative design, our shipf
are less prone to losing functional hold time whehkept in an upright position than the compepngducts because our proprietary dry vi
technology and innovative design prevent the spjlbr leakage of the liquid nitrogen when the cmatiais tipped or on its side.

The Cryoport Expres® Smart Pak Temperature Monitoring System

Temperature monitoring is a high-value feature fiaum clients perspective as it is an effective and reliabl¢hod to determine that t
shipment materials were not damaged and did not¢resqice degradation during shipment due to temperdtuctuations. Our Smart F
System consists of a seléntained automated data logger and thermocouplebéa of recording cryogenic temperatures of sasngihépped i
our Cryoport Expres8 Shippers. The dat@gging temperature probe is positioned within sheper to record the most accurate reading
resultant temperature mapping includes both thepéeature inside the chamber (which is closest ¢oattual biomaterial) and the exte
temperature. This reading, combined with the mappih shipment checla points, can provide a holistic view of the coetpl shippin
process. At the client’s election, shipments cavehafull chain-of-custody and chain-céndition with data monitoring, analysis, and avel
storage available.

Chain-of-Condition

Chain-ofCondition information is essential for many lifeiestces materials, for laboratories and in some scése compliance wit
regulatory authorities. Data monitoring starts witlr custom built data logger (the Cryoport Expr&s3mart Pak). The Cryoport Expr@&s
Smart Pak can be set up to report during a shipmeator after the shipment. For those shipmentshitnvg biologics, clinical trials or ar
other material that needs to be verified beforeiraeg, the information recorded by the data loggen be downloaded to the data st¢
onsite. Alternatively, Cryoport can upload the temgture data from the Cryoport ExpresS®&art Pak for analysis to the Cryoportal u
return of the shipper. The report from the data ilmorserves as analysis for temperature monitooihthe entire shipment as well as a tan
warning. The Cryoportal™ also acts as the datagiegy for all shipment and temperature informatiovhich the customer can acc
remotely through the Internet. Chain of conditiemvice provided via Cryoport Expre8$Smart Pak is available at the client’s election.

Chain-of-Custody

When overlaid with the carrier cheaks, the data monitor and analysis also providelsaan of custody. The report from the data mo
serves as analysis for temperature monitoring efethtire shipment as well as a tampering warnihthe client has elected to have chai
condition monitoring, each time the container iemgd there is a temperature record. The reportifsnoutlier temperature excursions s
as opening the shipment in customs or tamperingthns will allow for more conclusive investigatiots ensure that specimens were
adversely impacted during shipment.

Cryoport Expres® Analytics

Cryoport Express® Analytics information is captured by the CryopoMalto provide us and our customemtcess to importa
information from the shipments recorded in the @oal™ to assist in management of our custonshigping. For us, we use the informa
to support planned future features to allow foreapansion of our solutions offering. Analytics iseam used by IT professionals to refe
performance benchmarks or Key Performance Indisdtat management utilizes to measure performaga@st desired standards. Exam
for analytics tracked through the Cryoportal™ imtgutime-based metrics for order processing time @amime deliveries by our shippil
partners, as well as profiling shipping lanes ttedaine average transit times and predicting p@kEshipping exceptions based on histol
metrics. The analytical results are being utilibgdCryoport to render consultative and proactiventiservices.
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Biological Material Holders

A patented containment bag is used in connectidh thie shipment of infectious or dangerous goodsguthe Cryoport Expres$
Shippers. Up to 75 cryovials (polypropylene viaighwhigh-density polyethylene closures), set on aluminunesare placed into an absort
pouch, which is designed to contain the entire @atst of all the vials in the event of leakage. Tosich is then placed in a watertight Ty
bag (secondary packaging) capable of withstandiyggenic temperatures, and then sealed. This badbeis placed into the well of t
Cryoport Expres® Shipper.

Logistics Expertise and Suppo

Cryoport’s client services professionals provide 24/7/36% liogistics and monitoring services with specidizknowledge in tt
domestic and global logistics of life sciences mataequiring cryogenic temperatures. The Cryogdodistics professionals have valide
shipping lanes in and out of more than 80 countdetate to ensure shipments maintain cryogenipéeatures and arrive securely and on t

Other Development Activities

We are continuing our research and development eftortsirther refine our current technology as wellexplore opportunities wi
partners to offer complementary packaging solutimndrozen temperature (minus 10° Celsius or lessilled temperature (2° to 8° Celsi
and ambient temperature (between 20° and 25° Gglshipping markets.

We also continue to further expand the functiogaiit our Cryoportal™ to ensure a high level of effectiveness and efficiein the col
chain logistics process and to allow for intelligand easy data monitoring and analysis.

Government Regulation

The shipping of diagnostic specimens, infectiousssances and dangerous goods, whether via aioandr falls under the jurisdiction
many state, federal and international agencies. qumdity of the containers, packaging materials @mgllation that protect a specin
determine whether or not it will arrive in a usabtendition. Many of the regulations for transpogtidangerous goods in the United State:
determined by international rules formulated urtierauspices of the United Nations.

The International Civil Aviation Organization (“IG&") is the United Nations organization that developgulaions (Technic
Instructions) for the safe transport of dangerooisdg by air. If shipment is by air, compliance wiitle rules established by International
Transport Association (“IATA”)s required. IATA is a trade association made upidines and air cargo couriers that publishesuahadition:
of the IATA Dangerous Goods Regulations. Theselatiguns interpret and add to the ICAO Technicatrimgions to reflect industry practic
Additionally, the Centers for Disease Control (“CD®as regulations (published in the Code of FedeegjuRations) for interstate shipping
specimens, and OSHA also addresses the safe hguoditlass 6.2 Substances.

Our Cryoport Expres8 Shippers meet Packing Instructions 602 and 650aamdertified for the shipment of Class 6.2 Dangsréood
per the requirements of the ICAO Technical Insinng for the Safe Transport of Dangerous Goods ioyAd IATA. Our present and planr
future versions of the Cryoport Smart Pak data éoggill likely be subject to regulation by the FAKCC, FDA, IATA and possibly oth
agencies which may be difficult to determine oriabgl basis.

We are also subject to numerous other federak statl local laws relating to such matters as safking conditions, manufacturi
practices, environmental protection, fire hazardtia, and disposal of hazardous or potentiallyandaus substances. We may incur signifi
costs to comply with such laws and regulations oW the future.

Manufacturing and Raw Materials

Manufacturing. Due to our sufficient level of dewar inventoriege are not manufacturing at this time. The compomarts for ot
shippers are primarily manufactured at third pamgnufacturing facilities. We also have a warehatseur facility in Lake Forest, Californ
where we are capable of manufacturing certain fartisto fully assemble our shippers. Most of thegonents that we use in the manufac
of our shippers are available from more than oradified supplier. For some components, howevergetlaee relatively few alternate source
supply and the establishment of additional or regrl@ent suppliers may not be accomplished immegliatebwever, we have identifi
alternate qualified suppliers. Should this occue believe that with our current level of shippesg have enough inventory to cover
forecasted demand.
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There are no specific agreements with any manufachor are there any long term commitments to maypufacturer. We believe tl
most of the manufacturers currently used by usdcdal replaced within a short period of time as nbaee a proprietary component ¢
substantial capital investment specific to our phig.

Our production and manufacturing process incorgsrainovative technologies developed for aerospacdeother industries which
cost effective, easier to use and more functiohahtthe traditional dry ice devices and other meshourrently used for the shipmen
temperature-sensitive materials. Our manufactupragess uses ndmazardous cleaning solutions, which are provided disposed of by
supplier approved by the Environmental Protectigercy (the “EPA”). EPA compliance costs for us taerefore negligible.

Cryoport Expres€ High Volume Shippers are purchased from a thirdypand modified to meet our specifications using poprietan
technology and know-how.

Our data loggers have been acquired from a singlece with the calibration done by an independairdtparty. We are curren
considering adding alternate data loggers withtgreange of functionality.

Raw Materials. Various common raw materials are used in the fiaatwre of our shippers and in the developmentusftechnologie:
These raw materials are generally available froneis alternate distributors and manufactures. \&eehnot experienced any signific
difficulty in obtaining these raw materials and d@not consider raw material availability to bagn#icant factor in our business.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

In order to remain competitive, we must develop araintain protection on the proprietary aspectswf technologies. We rely or
combination of patents, copyrights, trademarksjersecret laws and confidentiality agreements dept our intellectual property rights. !
currently own three registered U.S. trademarks thnele issued U.S. patents primarily covering variaspects of our Cryoport Expre®s
Shippers.

In addition, we have a pending U.S. patent appdoafior various aspects of our shipper and webtal, which includes, in part, varic
aspects of our business model referred to as thepOrt Express@ystem. We have also filed a U.S. provisional gaagplication for a sme
label which will communicate electronically with odata logger. We intend to file additional patapplications to strengthen our intellec
property rights.

The technology covered by the above indicated tsquegents relates to matters specific to the uséqafd nitrogen shippers
connection with the shipment of biological materialhe concepts include those of disposabilitykpge configuration details, liquid nitroc
retention systems, systems related to thermal pedoce, systems related to packaging integrity, anadters generally relevant to
containment of liquid nitrogen. Similarly, the teadarks mentioned relate to the cryogenic tempearahipping activity. Issued patents
trademarks currently owned by us and a patent gt include:

Type: No. Issued Expiration
Patent 6,467,64. Oct. 22, 200 Jan. 2, 202
Patent 6,119,46! Sep. 19, 200! Feb. 10, 201!
Patent 6,539,721 Apr. 1, 2003 May 8, 2021
Patent Application 12/656,64

Trademark 3,569,47. Feb. 3, 200! Feb. 3, 201!
Trademark 3,589,92¢ Mar. 17, 200¢ Mar. 17, 201¢
Trademark 2,632,321 Oct. 8, 200z Oct. 8, 202z

Our success depends in part upon our ability teeldgvproprietary products and technologies andbtain patent coverage for thi
products and technologies. We intend to file traalmand patent applications covering any newly tmed products, methods ¢
technologies. However, there can be no guaranteatty of our pending or future filed applicationdl be issued as patents. There can b
guarantee that the U.S. Patent and Trademark Qffiseme third party will not initiate an interfae proceeding involving any of our penc
applications or issued patents. Finally, there lsamo guarantee that our issued patents or fussted patents, if any, will provide adeq
protection from competition.
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Patents provide some degree of protection for @apnetary technology. However, the pursuit andegssn of patent rights involh
complex legal and factual determinations and, fbege are characterized by significant uncertaimtyaddition, the laws governing pat
issuance and the scope of patent coverage continegolve. Moreover, the patent rights we possesar® pursuing generally cover
technologies to varying degrees. As a result, waahensure that patents will issue from any offmatent applications, or that any of its iss
patents will offer meaningful protection. In additi our issued patents may be successfully chatbngvalidated, circumvented or rende
unenforceable so that our patent rights may natteran effective barrier to competition. Moreovhe laws of some foreign countries may
protect our proprietary rights to the same extenthe laws of the United States. There can be soraisce that any patents issued to us
provide a legal basis for establishing an exclushagket for our products or provide us with any pefitive advantages, or that patent
others will not have an adverse effect on our ghiti do business or to continue to use our teagies freely.

We may be subject to third parties filing claimattbur technologies or products infringe on thefellectual property. We cannot pres
whether third parties will assert such claims agfaurs or whether those claims will hurt our busindswe are forced to defend against ¢
claims, regardless of their merit, we may face lgdgtgation and diversion of managementtention and resources. As a result of any
disputes, we may have to develop, at a substard&] noninfringing technology or enter into licensing agresnts. These agreements ma
unavailable on terms acceptable to such thirdgmrtr at all, which could seriously harm our bas@or financial condition.

We also rely on trade secret protection of ourlletéual property. We attempt to protect trade secby entering into confidential
agreements with third parties, employees and ctargs| although, in the past, we have not alwayaingéd such agreements. It is possible
these agreements may be breached, invalidatechdemed unenforceable, and if so, our trade secmtkl be disclosed to our competit
Despite the measures we have taken to protechtelleictual property, parties to such agreementg lon@ach confidentiality provisions in ¢
contracts or infringe or misappropriate our pateatpyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and ottggrietary rights. In addition, third part
may independently discover or invent competitivehtelogies, or reverse engineer our trade secrewther technology. Therefore, -
measures we are taking to protect our proprietehrtology may not be adequate.

Customers and Distribution

As a result of growing globalization, including suareas as biotechnology and life science, clirtigals, distribution of pharmaceutis
products and reproductive medicine, the requirenfmmeffective and reliable solutions for keepidmical samples, pharmaceutical prodi
and other specimen at frozen temperatures takeslded significance due to more complex shippindesyuextended shipping times, cus
delays and logistics challenges. Today, such spgwnare traditionally shipped in styrofoam cardddasulated containers packed with
ice, gel/freezer packs or a combination thereoé @irrent dry ice solutions have limitations thatezely limit their effective use for both st
and long-distances (e.g., international). Convertialry ice shipments often require labor-intensireeicing” operations resulting in higt
labor and shipping costs.

We believe our patented Cryoport ExprésShippers, the Cryoportal™ and our logistics experiinake us well positioned to t;
advantage of the growing demand for effective dfidient international transport of temperature séwe materials resulting from contint
globalization. Of particular significance is therid within the life sciences and biotechnology stdas toward globalization.

We provide domestic shipping solutions in situagiovhere specimens must be kept at frozen tempesasund in regions where there
high priority placed on maintaining the integritiyroaterials shipped at these temperatures.

Pharmaceutical Clinical Trials Every United States based pharmaceutical comgengloping a new drug must seek drug develop
protocol approval by the FDA. These clinical triale to test the safety and efficacy of the posméw drug among other things. A signific
amount of clinical trial activity is managed by anmber of large Clinical Research Organizations (G3R.

In connection with the clinical trials, due to gédization, companies can be enrolled from all aer world and may need to regul:
submit a blood or other specimen at the local hakploctors office or laboratory. These samples are thentsespiecified testing laboratori
which may be local or in another country. The testiaboratories will typically set the requiremefuas the storage and shipment of bl
specimens. In addition, drugs used by the patierag require frozen shipping to the sites of thaicél trials. While both domestic a
international shipping of these specimens is acdishgd using dry ice today, international shipmesgpecially present several problem:
dry ice, under the best of circumstances, can prdyide freezing for one to two days in the absesfae-icing (which is quite costly). Becat
shipments of packages internationally can takedotigan one to two days or be delayed due to fghtellations, incorrect destinations, e
problems, ground logistics, customs delays andtyagasons, dry ice is not always a reliable andfst effective option. Clinical tri
specimens are often irreplaceable because eachepresents clinical data at a prescribed pointnmetin a series of specimens on a g
patient, who may be participating in a trial fomyg Sample integrity during the shipping procestéital to retaining the maximum numbe
patients in each trial. Our shippers are idealligesufor this market, as our longer hold time emsuthat specimens can be sent over
distances with minimal concern that they will aerim a condition that will cause their exclusioarfrthe trial. There are also many instanc
domestic shipments where Cryoport Expre&hippers will provide higher reliability and be teffective.
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Furthermore, the IATA requires that all airbornépshents of laboratory specimens be transmittedthee IATA Instruction 650 or 6C
certified packaging. We have developed and obtalAd\ certification of our Cryoport Expres® System, which is ideally suited for t
market, in particular due to the elimination of #hast to return the reusable shipper.

Biotechnology and Diagnostic Companie$he biotechnology market includes basic and apptesearch and development in div
areas such as stem cells, cloning, gene therapp, tDiMor vaccines, tissue engineering, genomics,bdoad products. Companies participa
in the foregoing fields rely on the frozen trangpoi specimens in connection with their researct davelopment efforts, for which ¢
Cryoport Expres® Shippers are ideally suited.

Cell Therapy CompaniefRapid advancements are underway in the researctdevelopment of cell based therapies, which inv
cellular material being injected into a patientalfogeneic cell therapy, the donor is a differpatson to the recipient of the cells. Autolog
cell therapy is a therapeutic intervention thatsuese individuals cells, which are cultured and expanded outsidétuly, and reintroduced it
the donor. Once cells are processed, in either, tasg must be shipped cryogenically for which @uyoport Expres§ Shippers are ideal
suited.

Central LaboratoriesWith the increase and globalization of clinicaldias and trials, logistics has become more comatekensurin
sample integrity has become more challenging. matiiwnal courier costs are now consuming a sigifigortion of global protocol budge
We believe laboratories performing the testingashples collected during the conduct of these glahati-site studies are looking for relia
state-of-the-art logistics solutions.

Pharmaceutical Distribution The current focus for the Cryoport Expr&sSystem also includes the area of pharmaceuticaituition.
There are a significant number of therapeutic drangs vaccines currently or anticipated soon to téetgoing clinical trials. After the FC
approves them for commercial marketing, it willfecessary for the manufacturers to have a relatdeeconomical method of distributior
the physician who will administer the product te fhatient. It is likely that the most efficient amediable method of distribution will be to shi
single dosage to the administering physician. Tiizsgs are typically identified to individual patis and therefore will require a comp
tracking history from the manufacturer to the pattidhe most reliable method of doing this is tgpshunit dosage specifically for each pati
If such drugs require maintenance at frozen orgewic temperatures, each such shipment will requirezen or cryogenic shipping packs
Cryoport can provide the technology to meet thiscgrated need.

Distribution of Vaccines and Biologic Therapihere are a variety of vaccines and other drugbemapies that require distributior
frozen or cryogenic temperatures. We anticipateiigg@nt growth in this area, in particular themgpbased upon stem cells. It is likely tha
most efficient and reliable method of distributiaill be to ship a single dosage or a limited supjgythe physician for administration ti
patient.

In February 2013, we started providing comprehengigistics management services for the lead pouliccine distribution of Zoet
Inc. In October 2013, Zoetis engaged us to managehdition of an additional vaccine.

One of our strategic alliance partners, LiventasBience, Inc., is, in part, basing its businesatessy on using our Cryoport Expre%s
Shippers to deliver supplies of cell-based thesapephysicians, which will be able to keep thephtis at the physiciasmfacility for up to on
week and thus avoid the need to invest in costpgenic refrigeration equipment for commodity stgraWith the inclusion of our Cryop

Express® Smart Pak data logger, Liventa and the physicidinhaie assurance that cryogenic temperatures maretained within the shipper.

Fertility Clinics and In Vitro Fertilization (“IVF”) . Maintaining cryogenic temperatures during shippargd transfer of in vitt
fertilization specimens like eggs, sperm, or embri® critical for cell integrity in order to retaiiability, stabilize the cells, and ens
reproducible results and successful IVF treatm&here are approximately 3,300 fertility clinics Wwhwide. Cryoport anticipates that t
market will continue to grow; in the United Statdene, the fertility market has grown to more ti$&n0 billion with over 1.3 million wome
seeking treatment each year. In the worldwide ntaikis reported that there are more than onéhillVF cycles per year and growing.

Sales and Marketing

We currently have five sales directors in the UWhif&tates, one sales director in Europe, one insédes representative focused
Reproductive Medicine/IVF and a part time senioedior of marketing promoting the use of our Cryxpress@Solutions on a direct bas
In addition, we have a vice president of stratdgisiness development that focuses on large coparaounts. Given the global nature of
business, we are also establishing distributiomolls to broaden our sales and marketing reacherAtnericas, Europe and Asia. For
fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, weohadccustomer that accounted for 22.7% and 30.88pentively, of total revenues. No ot
single customer generated over 10% of our totamaes during 2015 and 2014.
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Our geographical revenues for the fiscal year eacth 31, 2015 were as follows:

USA 84.2%
Europe 7.5%
Asia 1.€%
Rest of World 6.2%

We renewed our agreement with FedEx and enteredagteements with UPS and DHL to further expandreuenue and marketi
opportunities and plan to establish additionaltetyig partnerships with integrators and freightwlarders. Subject to available finan
resources, we also plan to hire additional salesmarketing personnel and implement marketingatiites intended to increase awarene:
the Cryoport Expres$ Solutions.

Cryoport Operations Centers

In addition to the services provided through ouwiliiy in Lake Forest, California, we have contiedtwith third parties to run our
European Operations Center (located in Rotterdasiiaid) and Asian Operations Center (located irg&ore). The operations centers
provide warehousing, shipping, receiving, refurbighand recycling services for our shipping corgasn This approach is a cost-effective way
to initiate operations outside of the US and allasgo scale up as our business grows globally.

Industry and Competition

Our products and services are sold into a rapiddyving segment of the logistics industry focusedlmtemperature sensitive packay
and shipping of biological materials. Expenditufes “value addedpackaging for frozen transport have been increakinghe past sevel
years and, due in part to continued globalizatiza,expected to continue to increase even moteifuture as more domestic and internati
biotechnology firms introduce pharmaceutical pradutat require continuous refrigeration at cryogegemperatures. We believe this \
require a greater dependence on passively cordrtdlmperature transport systems (i.e., systemsigano external power source). In addit
we expect that industry standards and regulatidghdevintroduced globally, requiring more comprahkize tracking and validation of shipp
temperatures.

We believe that growth in the following markets hesulted in the need for increased reliabilitficedncies and greater flexibility in t
temperature sensitive segment of the logistics etark

. cell-based therapi

. gene and stem cell biotechnols

. cell lines

. vaccine productic

. commercial drug product distributi
. clinical trials, including transport of tissue auk sample
. diagnostic specime

. infectious sample materi:

. inter/intralaboratory diagnostic testi
. temperaturesensitive specime

. biological samples, in gene

. environmental samplir

. IVF

. animal husband
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Many of the biological products in these above ratgkequire transport in a frozen state as wethaseed for shipping containers wt
have the ability to maintain a frozen, cryogenigimmment (e.g., minus 150° Celsius) for a periadging from two to ten days (depending
the distance and mode of shipment). These prodiuciisde stem cells, semen, embryo, tissue, tissitares, cultures of viruses and bactt
enzymes, DNA materials, vaccines and certain pheeotacal products.

One of the integral parts of our solutions are Gayoport Expres® Shippers that are based on a liquid nitrogen dpowaechnology
The following paragraphs compare our shippers wiith ice and liquid nitrogen shipping methods. Oatusons integrate the Cryop
Express® Shippers with our Cryoportdf logistics software platform and our cold chain &iigis knowhow that are comprehensive
tailored to client requirements.

Cryoport Express Shippers (Liquid Nitrogen Dry Vapa@ompared to Dry Ice Shipments

One problem faced by many companies operating ésetspecialized markets is the limited nhumber gbgenic shipping syster
serving their needs. The currently adopted protaodl the most common method for packaging frozamsport in these industries is the us
solid-state carbon dioxide (dry ice). Dry ice is and haen used extensively in shipping to maintain adnostate for a period of one to f
days. Dry ice is used in the transport of many dgaal products, such as pharmaceuticals, labgragpecimens and certain infecti
materials. The common approach to shipping themmsitvia ground freight is to pack the product icamtainer, such as an expan
polystyrene (styrofoam) box or a molded polyurethhpx, with a variable quantity of dry ice. The hsxtaped or strapped shut and shipp
its destination with freight charges based onritsal shipping weight. All dry ice shipping is ceidered dangerous goods shipping, requ
extra packaging steps and adding costs. It giviesaobon dioxide and sublimates unevenly and intstaration.

With respect to shipments via specialized cour@vises, there is no standardized method or dexicesntly in use for the purpose
transporting temperaturgensitive frozen biological specimens. One commathod for courier transport of biological materiédsto plac
frozen specimens, refrigerated specimens, and angiecimens into a compartmentalized containgrilai in size to a 55 quart Colemar
Igloo cooler. The freezer compartment in the cowriis loaded with a quantity of dry ice at minu® Telsius, while the refrigerat
compartment at 8° Celsius utilizes ice substitutes.

Two manufacturers of the polystyrene and polyum¢heontainers frequently used in the shipping andier transport of dry ice froz
specimens are Insulated Shipping Containers, Im¢.Teegrant (formerly SCA Thermosafe). When thesgtainers are used with dry ice,

average sublimation rate (e.g., the rate at whighiak turns from a solid to a gaseous state) dortainer with a 1/ , inch wall thickness
slightly less than three pounds per 24 hours. Othegting refrigerant systems employ the use ofpgeks and ice substitutes for tempere

maintenance. Gels and eutectic solutions (phasegaig materials) with a wide range of phasing terapges have been developed in re
years to meet the needs of products with varyimgi§ip temperature control requiremer

The use of dry ice and ice substitutes, howeveyandiess of external packaging used, are frequéndiglequate because they do
provide low enough storage temperatures and, icdbe of dry ice, last for only a few days withm#cing. As a result, companies run the
of increased costs due to lost specimens and additshipping charges due to the need to re-ice.

Some of the other disadvantages to using dry icetipping or transporting temperature sensitivadpcts are as follows:

. availability of a dry ice sourct

. handling and storage of the dry i

. cost of the dry ice

. compliance with local, state and federal regulatimiating to the storage and use of dry

. dangerous goods shipping regulatic

. weight of containers when packed with dry i

. securing a shipping container with a high efoBRgvalue (which is a measure of thermal resistancéjotd the dry ice ar

product for the required time peric
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. securing a shipping container that meets the rements of IATA, the DOT, the CDC, and other requiatagencies; an
. emission of greenhouse gases (primarily carbonidiéxnto the environmen

Due to the limitations of dry ice, specimens thejuire frozen shipping are more securely shippetdiatcryogenic temperatures usir
service such as liquid nitrogen dry vapor shipgéhs/oport Express Shippers), or liquid nitrogenpgieirs where the specimen is kept
actual liquid nitrogen. However, liquid nitrogenhazardous and has many pitfalls including safatyexpense.

Cryoport Express Shippers (Liquid Nitrogen Dry Vapaompared to Liquid Nitrogen Dewars/Tanks

There are distinct disadvantages when using liguiitbgen compared to the dry vapor liquid nitrogesed in Cryoport Expresg
Shippers. Liquid nitrogen dewars/tanks are clasdifis dangerous goods and cannot be shipped &s. par@ddition, the liquid nitrogen has
be disposed of prior to returning the dewar/tankg@rigin. These issues add additional procedstegds and costs to the shipment. In add
there is a risk of liquid nitrogen leakage if thewar/tank tips to the side during transport, whieln cause bodily injury and compromise
specimen being shipped. Due to the use of our f@iapy technology, our Cryoport Expre&Shippers are not prone to leakage when on
side or inverted, thereby protecting the integoityur shipper’s hold time and being safe for hargl!

While both liquid nitrogen dry vapor and liquid miggen shippers provide solutions to the issuesterteced when shipping with dry i
liquid nitrogen shippers have some draw backs.example, the cost for a liquid nitrogen shipperidgfly can range from $650 to $4,000
unit, which can substantially limit their use ftwettransport of many common biologics, particulavith respect to small quantities such ¢
the case with direct to the physician drug deliv@gcause of the initial cost and limited productaf these containers, they are designed
reusable. However, the cost of returning theseaioats can be significant, particularly in intefoatl markets, because most applicat
require only onavay shipping. In addition, the logistics supportoojogenic shippers requires more sophisticate@tiog management a
discipline to ensure shippers are returned andctedyespecially for international shipments, whicany companies do not have in place.

Cryoport’s solutions are totally comprehensive amdgrated for maximum reliability, economy andataffectiveness. Cryopost'tota
logistics solution enables life sciences compatuestilize the superior liquid nitrogen dry vapa&chnology without having to make cag
investments or developing in-house logistics exgerand systems by offering a complete solutioricivincludes the clouttased Cryoport
™ |ogistics management platform, the temperature todng system and the 24/7/365 logistics supporyo@ort allows the customer
outsource logistics and focus on its core compétenghile maintaining visibility of all shipping leted information.

Within our intended biotechnology and life sciencearkets for Cryoport Expre&sShippers, there is limited known direct competit
We compete with liquid nitrogen and dry ice soloidby reason of the improved and integrated hamhaad software technology in «
products including our comprehensive logistics ngamaent software and through the use of our seenedled business model. The Cryo
Express® Solution provides a simple and cost effective sotufor the frozen or cryogenic transport of bidtend life sciences materials. -
Cryoportal™ assists with the management, scheduling and shjpyiithe Cryoport Expres? Shippers, removing the burdens associated
other methods.

Traditional dry ice shippers and liquid nitrogemkasuppliers, such as MVE/Chart Industries, TayMmarton, and Air Liquide, offi
various models of dry vapor liquid nitrogen shippéhat are not as cost efficient for multi-use anditi-shipment purposes due to tt
significantly greater unit costs and unit weighh{gh may substantially increase the shipping c&t)the other hand, they are more establi
and have larger organizations and have greatendiah operational, sales and marketing resourcase a broader manufactured proi
offering of other liquid nitrogen products and mesgerience in research and development than we do.

Factors that we believe give us a competitive athgmare attributable to our software and shippimgtainers, which allow our shipj
to retain liquid nitrogen when placed in non-uptiglsitions, the overall “leak-proofnessf our package which determines compliance
shipping regulations, the overall weight and volushi¢he package which determines shipping costs,cam business model represented b
merged integration of our shipper with Cryopoftdland Smart Pak data logger into a seamless shippauing and monitoring solution.

17




Other companies that offer potentially competitpreducts include Industrial Insulation Systems, alhoffers cryogenic transport ur
and has partnered with Marathon Products Inc., aufaaturer and global supplier of wireless temperaidata collecting devices used
documenting environmentally sensitive products dgfothe cold chain, and Kodiak Thermal Technolagies. which offers, among otf
containers, a repeat use actomsl container that uses free piston stirling cyteehnology. While not having their own shippingvides
BioStorage Technologies is potentially a competittompany through their management services offerecbld-chain logistics and lontgrir
biomaterial storage. Cryogena offers a single useodable LN2 shipper with better performance ttignice, but it does not perform as v
and is not as codffective as the Cryoport solution when all costs eonsidered. In addition, BioMatrica, Inc. is deping and offerin
technology that stabilizes biological samples agmbarch materials at room temperature. They pigseffer these technologies primarily
research and academic institutions; however, teeinnology may eventually enter the broader abldin market. Fisher BioServices, pat
Thermo Fisher Scientific, provides cell therapyistigs services, maintaining cold chain from mauctfeer to patient bedside. They pro\
customized solutions in biospecimen collection,lisspecimen shipping, lab processing, biobankimd clinical trial support services.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are focusemotinually improving the features of our CryopBrpress® Solutions including tr
cloud-based CryoportdM and the Cryoport ExpressShippers. These efforts are expected to lead tantheduction of shippers of varyi
sizes based on market requirements, constructéoefr cost materials and utilizing high volume mfatturing methods that will make
practical to provide the cryogenic packages offavigl the Cryoport Expres% Solutions. Alternative phase change materials acglof liquic
nitrogen may be used to increase the potential etsurthese shippers can serve such as ambient ar@P@°markets. Our research i
development expenditures for the fiscal years emdiaath 31, 2015 and 2014 were $352,600 and $409r&8pectively with the largest port
being spent on software maintenance and development

Employees

The efforts of our employees are critical to ouccmss. We believe that we have assembled a stramagement team with {
experience and expertise needed to execute oundsssstrategy. We anticipate hiring additional gengl as needs dictate to implement
growth strategy. As of May 8, 2015, we had tweryes full-time employees, four consultants and fermporary employees.

Insurance

We currently maintain general liability insuraneath coverage in the amount of $1 million per ocence, subject to a $2 million ann
limitation. Claims may be made against us that edcthese limits. In fiscal year 2015, we did nopexience any claims against
professional liability insurance. Our liability poy is an “occurrencebased policy. Thus, our policy is complete whenpmechased it ar
following cancellation of the policy it continues provide coverage for future claims based on conthat took place during the policy te
However, our insurance may not protect us agaih&ahility because our policies typically havenaus exceptions to the claims covered
also require us to assume some costs of the claén though a portion of the claim may be coveradaddition, if we expand into ne
markets, we may not be aware of the need for, alile to obtain insurance coverage for such asvitr, if insurance is obtained, the dc
amount of any liabilities incurred could exceed dmsurance coverage. A partially or completely gnied claim, if successful and
significant magnitude, could have a material adveféect on our business, financial condition ae&lits of operations.

We also maintain product liability insurance withverage in the amount of $1,000,000 per year. thitiath, we currently maintain cargo
insurance for shipments for one customer, with caye of up to $10,000 per shipment.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking information based on our current expectasioBecause our actual resi
may differ materially from any forwarkboking statements made by or on behalf of Crygpbis section includes a discussion of impol
factors that could affect our actual future resuitscluding, but not limited to, our potential pnact and service revenues, acceptance o
products and services, expenses, net income(lasis@anings(loss) per common she
Risks Related to Our Financial Condition

We have incurred significant losses to date and ncamytinue to incur losses.

We have incurred net losses in each fiscal yeaesive commenced operations. The following tableesgnts net losses incurred for
each of our last two fiscal years:

Net Loss
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 20 $ 7,026,90!
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 20 $ 19,565,40
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Our fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 loss of $1®48 included a one-time naash loss of $13,713,800 as a result of an induledx
conversion expense as described in Managements3ion and Analysis of Financial Condition andu®ssof Operations under th&esult:
of Operations for Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscd2Gection. As of March 31, 2015, we had an accumdldégicit of $97.8 million. In ordt
to achieve and sustain such revenue growth inuted, we must significantly expand our market pneg and revenues from existing and
customers. We may continue to incur losses in tharé and may never generate revenues sufficieiitetmme profitable or to sust
profitability. Continuing losses may impair our ktlyito raise the additional capital required toitinue and expand our operations.

Our auditors have expressed doubt about our abitiycontinue as a going concern.

The Report of Independent Registered Public AcdognEirm to our March 31, 2015 consolidated finah@tatements includes
explanatory paragraph stating that the recurrisgds and negative cash flows from operations $meption and our cash and cash equivi
balance at March 31, 2015 raise substantial ddaditeour ability to continue as a going concerne Thnsolidated financial statements dc
include any adjustments that might result fromdbh&ome of this uncertainty.

If we are unable to obtain additional funding, weag have to reduce or discontinue our business opieirss.

As of May 8, 2015, we had cash and cash equivaleh$2.1 million. Therefore, our ability to contiatand expand our operation:
highly dependent on the amount of cash and casivagaots on hand combined with our ability to ragditional capital to fund futu
operations.

Recently, we funded our operations through a steont- bridge financing and a preferred stock offgre plan to raise additional fur
through an equity or debt offering to cover generatking capital needs and sales and marketingaiivies to expand our customer base
increase revenues. The Company currently anticptuiat it will continue to raise additional capitalfund its short term operating exper
pursuant to private placements similar to privdee@ments the Company has conducted in the pastCbmpany also anticipates seekin
raise up to $15 million pursuant to a public offigriof its common stock and warrants to provide waglcapital and to support the Company’
anticipated operations and development plans. Ifaneenot able to raise sufficient funds and ouljgmted revenues and castitows are
reduced or delayed, we may not have sufficienttabfB operate through the third quarter of oucdlsyear 2016 or beyond. We are curre
exploring various arrangements with respect to rdegwadditional funding. However, there can be ssuaance that any additional financing
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, will baikable when needed. The inability to obtain addil capital may reduce our ability
continue to conduct our business operations. Amjtiadal equity financing will involve substantidllution to our then existing stockholde
The uncertainties surrounding our future cash wéltnave raised substantial doubt regarding ouitybil continue as a going concern.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our agreements with global providers of shippingsiees may not result in a significant increase our revenues or cash flow, soon or
the future.

We believe that establishing strategic alliancethwlobal providers (integrators) of logistics aafl shipping services, such as
agreements with FedEx, DHL, and UPS can drive dgrawtour revenues, but there is no certainty te théew. We are seeking to estab
similar arrangements with other providers of in&dional shipping services. We anticipate all sutihreces will enable us to provide seaml
end-toend shipping solutions to customers of our respedlliance partners and allow us to leverage thabtished relationships with the
customers, but there is no guarantee this will bapp

In January 2013, we entered into an agreementRattEx, renewing FedEXx’s right to, on a nexelusive basis, promote, market and
transportation of our shippers and our relatederaldded goods and services and providing FedExanitbnexclusive license and right to 1
a customized version of our Cryoportal™ softwaratfprm for the management of shipments made by ¥FediStomers. In June 2014,
added DHL as our second major distribution partadrereby DHL can offer our validated and comprehensryogenic solutions to its li
sciences and healthcare customers on a global. hasixctober 2014, we entered into an agreemerit WRS related to our participation
UPS’s efforts to expand its provision of cryogesiiipping services to the life sciences industry.

Because our agreements with FedEx, DHL, and UP&oticontain any requirement that they use a minirfewral of our services, the
can be no assurance of any significant increaseiimevenues or cash flows as a result of theagegfic alliances.
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Our agreements with providers of vaccines and stegll-based therapies may not result in a significant iease in our revenues or ca
flow.

We believe that establishing strategic relationshwith manufacturers and distributors of treatméntsanimals and humans, such as
agreements with Zoetis, Inc. and Liventa Biosciefe, can drive growth in our revenues.

In December 2012, we entered an agreement with bdzdme Zoetis, Inc. (in January 2013, Pfizer giffiits animal health busine
into Zoetis, Inc., a public company) pursuant toicihwe were engaged to manage frozen shipmentskefygoultry vaccine from Zoetis’
production site in the United States. Over timeet&has further expanded our role in providingritessistance in managing their cryog
distribution of their vaccines and has become argdst customer.

In February 2014, we entered into an agreement litenta Bioscience, Inc. (“Liventafo act as its exclusive provider of cryoge
logistics of stem cell based therapies for orthapegbplications based on meeting minimum perforrearequirements over specified ti
periods. Liventa intends to distribute its own lofetherapies and to act as a distributor of otherapies to orthopedic health care providers
require controlled cryogenic temperatures. Themigsssurance if or when Liventa will begin sigrafit use of our services.

While we anticipate growth in shipments by Zoetigler our management and that Liventa will be swgfoé its efforts to distribu
cell based biologic materials to the orthopedickagrthere can be no assurance of any significamease in our revenues or cash flows
result of these important alliances.

We will have difficulty increasing our revenues ile experience delays, difficulties or unanticipatedsts in establishing the sali
distribution and marketing capabilities necessary successfully commercialize our solutions.

We plan to improve our sales, distribution, andkating capabilities in the Americas, Europe, aniaAk will be expensive and time-
consuming for us to develop our global marketind sales network and thus we intend to rely on trategic alliances with FedEx, DHL, ¢
UPS. We further intend to seek to enter into addél strategic alliances with international provilef shipping services to incorporate us
our solutions in their service offerings. We mayt be able to provide adequate incentive to ourssédece or to establish and maint
favorable distribution and marketing collaboratiomgh others to promote our solutions. In additiamy third party with whom we ha
established a marketing and distribution relatigmsiiay not devote sufficient time to the marketargl sales of our solutions, thereby expc
us to potential expenses in exiting such distrinutagreements. We, and any of our alliance partmatst also market our services
compliance with federal, state, local and inteai laws relating to the provision of incentiveslanducements. Violation of these laws
result in substantial penalties. Therefore, if we @nable to successfully motivate and expand arketing and sales force and further dev
our sales and marketing capabilities, or if ouiaalte partners fail to promote our solutions, wh kave difficulty increasing our revenues i
the revenue may not off-set the additional expefigxpansion.

Our ability to grow and compete in our industry Wite hampered if we are unable to retain the contéd service of our key profession
or to identify, hire and retain additional qualifié professionals.

A critical factor to our business is our abilitydtiract and retain qualified professionals inahgdkey employees and consultants. We
continually at risk of losing current professionalsbeing unable to hire additional professionashaeded. If we are unable to attract
qualified employees, our ability to grow will bevaisely affected. If we are unable to retain curemployees or strategic consultants,
financial condition and ability to maintain opeats may be adversely affected.

Sustainable future revenue growth is dependent awnsolutions and services.

Our future revenue stream depends to a large degreeir ability to bring new solutions and servitesnarket on a timely basis. \
must continue to make significant investments geeech and development in order to continue toldpweew solutions and services, enh:
existing solutions and services, and achieve maskeeptance of such solutions and services. We in@ay problems in introducing ne
solutions and services.

The adoption cycle of our target customers tends®very lengthy, which continues to adversely affeur ability to increase revenu
quickly.

We offer our solutions primarily to companies iretlife sciences industry. These companies operatiginwa heavily regulate
environment and as such, changing vendors andhdistm practices typically require a number ofpstewhich may include the audit of
facilities, review of our procedures, qualifying &s a vendor, and performing test shipments. Titisgss can take several months or long
complete, involving multiple levels of approvaljgrto a company fully adopting our Cryoport Exg&sSolutions. The logistics managernr
of many companies is decentralized adding to time theed to effect adaptation of our solutions.dditéon, any such adoption may be ¢
gradual basis such that the customer progressieeips up use of our Cryoport ExprésSolutions following adoption. The slow adopt
process continues to adversely affect our abititintrease revenues.

20




The loss of key members of our executive managenteain could adversely affect our business.

Our success in implementing our business strategents largely on the skills, experience and perdioce of key members of «
executive management team and others in key mareageositions. The collective efforts of each afgh persons working as a team wil
critical to us as we continue to develop our tedbgies, tests and research and development ansl giagrams. As a result of the difficulty
locating qualified new management, the loss orpacdy of existing members of our executive manag@nteam could adversely affect
operations. If we were to lose one or more of tHeseemployees, we could experience difficultiedimling qualified successors, compe
effectively, developing our technologies and impderting our business strategy. We do not maintagy “Berson’insurance on any of @
employees.

We are dependent on an outside party for the conéd development and maintenance of our Cryoportat®ftware.

Our proprietary Cryoportal™ is a logistics platfosoftware used by our customers, business paramerslient care team to automate
entry of orders, prepare customs documentationfacititate status and location monitoring of shigp@ders while in transit. The contint
development of the Cryoportal™ platform is conteactvith an outside software development companthi$f developer becomes unable
unwilling to continue work on scheduled projectsd an alternative software development company atane secured, we may not be abl
implement needed enhancements to the system. Fudhe if we terminate our agreement with our cotrreoftware developer and can
reach an agreement or fail to fulfill an agreemi@ntthe termination, it is possible we could loag ticense to use this software. Failur
proceed with enhancements or the loss of our ledos the system would adversely affect our abildygenerate new business and s
existing customers, resulting in a reduction ineraye.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to @htpatent protection for our solutions and busiresnodel, preserve our trade secr
and operate without infringing the proprietary rigis of others.

Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietansition by, among other methods, filing United Stapatent applications related to
technology, inventions and improvements that aggoitant to the development of our business. We liae® issued U.S. patents; one pen
patent, and one recently filed provisional pateppligation, all relating to various aspects of @autions and services. Our patent:
provisional patent application may be challengadalidated or circumvented in the future or theéntiggranted may not provide a competi
advantage. We intend to vigorously protect and rittfeur intellectual property. Costly and tirmeasuming litigation brought by us may
necessary to enforce our patents and to protectrade secrets and kndwow, or to determine the enforceability, scope waalidity of the
proprietary rights of others.

We also rely upon trade secrets, technical kihow- and continuing technological innovation to depeand maintain our competiti
position. In the past our employees, consultardsjsars and suppliers have not always executedidmmtfality agreements and invent
assignment and work for hire agreements in conmectith their employment, consulting, or advisogjationships. Consequently, we may
have adequate remedies available to us to protedhtellectual property should one of these paréigempt to use our trade secrets or reft
assign any rights he or she may have in any iuteit¢ property he or she developed for us. Addéilyn our competitors may independe:
develop substantially equivalent proprietary infation and techniques or otherwise gain access it@mprietary technology, or we may
be able to meaningfully protect our rights in urgpéed proprietary technology.

While we are not aware of any third party thatniinging any of our patents or trademarks nor dobelieve that we are infringing
the patents or trademarks of any other person gamzation, we cannot assure you that our curredtptential competitors and other tl
parties have not filed (or in the future will ndej patent applications for (or have not receieedh the future will not receive) patents or oh
additional proprietary rights that will preventmii or interfere with our ability to make, use @llour solutions either in the United State
internationally. Additionally, we may face assemgoof claims by holders of patents alleging thatase infringing upon their patent rig
which claims are without merit, but may result ur incurring substantial costs of defense.

If we were sued for product liability, we could fasubstantial liabilities that exceed our resources
The marketing, sale and use of our products caadd to the filing of product liability claims wesemeone to allege that our prodi

failed to perform as designed. A product liabilitgim could result in substantial damages and lséycand time-consuming for us to defend.
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Although we believe that our existing insurancadequate, our insurers may fail to defend us orimurance may not fully protect
from the financial impact of defending against pradliability claims. Any product liability claim dought against us, with or without me
could increase our insurance rates or preventam fecuring insurance coverage in the future. Aalditly, any product liability lawsuit cou
damage our reputation, or cause current cliniceghpes and collaborators to terminate existing egrents and potential clinical partners to :
other partners, cause customers to terminate itskaitionship with us and potential customers tk s#ternative solutions, any of which co
impact our results of operations.

Our solutions and services may contain errors orfeles, which could result in damage to our reputati, lost revenues, divert
development resources and increased service casldiigation.

Our solutions and services must meet stringentiregents and we must develop our services andigotutjuickly to keep pace with 1
rapidly changing market. Solutions as sophisticatedurs could contain undetected errors or defespecially when first introduced or wi
new equipment or versions of our software are sgldalf our solutions are not free from errors efedts, we may incur an injury to «
reputation, lost revenues, diverted developmerdguegs, increased customer service and suppow,castl litigation. The costs incurrec
correcting any product errors or defects may betsuitial and could adversely affect our businessylts of operations and financial condition.

If we experience manufacturing delays, interruptierin production, or delays in procurement of shipgemanufactured by third partie
then we may experience customer dissatisfaction andreputation could suffer.

If we fail to produce enough shippers at our owmuifacturing facility or at a third party manufadhg facility, or if we fail to complel
our shipper recycling processes as planned, we lbeaynable to deliver shippers to our customers ¢imaly basis, which could lead
customer dissatisfaction and could harm our rejfmutagnd ability to compete. We currently acquireisas component parts for our shipg
from various independent manufacturers in the WniBeates. We would likely experience significantagle or cessation in producing
shippers if a labor strike, natural disaster orotbupply disruption were to occur at any of ouimsuppliers. If we are unable to procu
component from one of our manufacturers, we maydupiired to enter into arrangements with one oremalternative manufacturi
companies, which may cause delays in producingbippers. In addition, because we depend (in parthird party manufacturers, our pr
margins may be lower, which will make it more difflt for us to achieve profitability. To date, wavie not experienced any material delay
has adversely impacted our operations. As our kasidevelops it becomes more likely that such probicould arise.

We expect to base our equipment and inventory pasing decisions on our forecasts of customed&€mand, and if our forecasts a
inaccurate, our operating results could be matetiaharmed.

As our customer base increases, we expect to mepdrthase additional equipment and inventory. fotecasts will be based
multiple assumptions, each of which may cause stimates to be inaccurate, affecting our abilityptovide products to our customers. W
demand for our products increases significantlynay not be able to meet demand on a timely bastwe may need to expend a signifi
amount of time working with our customers to allieciimited supply and maintain positive customéatiens, or we may incur additional cc
in order to rush the manufacture and delivery oflit@hal products. If we underestimate custometsmand, we may forego revel
opportunities, lose market share and damage ouoroes relationships. Conversely, if we overestimaistomer demand, we may purct
more equipment and inventory than we are able ¢ooussell at any given time or at all. As a resdilour failure properly to estimate dem:
for our products, we could have excess or obsagtépment and/or inventory, resulting in a declinehe value of our equipment anc
inventory, which would increase our costs of revenand reduce our liquidity. Our failure to accelsatnanage our equipment purchases
inventory relative to demand would adversely affaat operating results.

If we experience delays or interruption in shippindue to factors outside of our control, such distign could lead to custom:
dissatisfaction and harm our reputation.

We rely on third party shipment and carrier sergit@ transport our shippers containing biologicaltenial. These third party operatis
could be subject to natural disasters, adversehgeabnditions, other business disruptions, andesagrror, which could cause delays in
delivery of our shippers, which in turn could cassgious harm to the biological material being pbgh As a result, any prolonged dela
shipment, whether due to technical difficultiesyveo failures, brealis, destruction or damage to carrier facilitiesaasesult of a natur
disaster, fire, or any other reason, could resuttaimage to the contents of the shipper. If wauaeble to cause the delivery of our shippers
timely matter and without damage, this could alaohour operating results and our reputation, éveme are not at fault.
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Our solutions and services may expose us to lidyilh excess of our current insurance coverage.

Our solutions and services involve significant sisk liability, which may substantially exceed ttevenues we derive from them.
cannot predict the magnitude of these potentiailitees. We currently maintain general liabilitgySurance, with coverage in the amount c
million per occurrence, subject to a $2 million aahlimitation, and product liability insurance tvia $1 million annual coverage limitati
Claims may be made against us that exceed thegs. lim

Our liability policy is an “occurrencebased policy. Thus, our policy is complete whenpuechased it and following cancellation of
policy it continues to provide coverage for futwrl@ims based on conduct that took place duringpibiey term. Our insurance covera
however, may not protect us against all liabiligchuse our policies typically have various excagstim the claims covered and also requil
to assume some costs of the claim even thoughtomparf the claim may be covered. In addition, & @xpand into new markets, we may
be aware of the need for, or be able to obtainramse coverage for such activities or, if insurare@btained, the dollar amount of :
liabilities incurred could exceed our insuranceerage. A partially or completely uninsured claifnsticcessful and of significant magnitt
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition and results of operations.

If we use biological and hazardous materials in ammer that causes injury, we could be liable formages.

Our customers may ship potentially harmful biolagimaterials in our dewars. We cannot eliminaterisie of accidental contaminati
or injury to employees or third parties from the ustorage, handling or disposal of these matelialthe event of contamination or injury,
could be held liable for any resulting damages, amy liability could exceed our resources or angliapble insurance coverage we may h
Additionally, we are subject to, on an ongoing ba$éderal, state and local laws and regulationgeigung the use, storage, handling
disposal of these materials and specified wastéyats. In the event of an accident, we could bd hiable for damages.

If we cannot compete effectively, we will lose mess.

Our services and solutions are positioned to bepetitive in the life sciences colthain logistics market. While there are technolal
and marketing barriers to entry, we cannot guaeatiiat the barriers we are capable of producingheilsufficient to defend the market st
we wish to gain against current and future compestitOur principal competitive considerations im market include:

« financial resources to allocate to proper markesind an appropriate sales effort

« acceptance of our solutions model

« acceptance of our solutions including per use fieetuires and other charges for services

« keeping up technologically with ongoing developmeinénhanced features and benefits

« reductions in the delivery costs of competitordusons

« the ability to develop and maintain and expandegia alliances

« establishing our brand name

« our ability to deliver our solutions to our custas@hen requested

« our timing of introductions of new solutions, arahsces

- financial resources to support working capital rse@ad required capital investments in infrastriectur

Current and prospective competitors have substBntmeater resources, more customers, longer tipgraistories, greater nai
recognition and more established relationshipsénimndustry. As a result, these competitors magtide to develop and expand their netw
and product offerings more quickly, devote greagmources to the marketing and sale of their swigtiand adopt more aggressive pri
policies. In addition, these competitors have etteand will likely continue to enter into businesfationships to provide additional soluti
competitive to those we provide or plan to provide
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We may acquire other businesses, products or te¢tbgies in order to remain competitive in our markend our business could |
adversely affected as a result of any of these fatacquisitions.

We may make acquisitions of complementary busiggeggeducts or technologies. If we identify any rappiate acquisition candidat
we may not be successful in negotiating acceptasias of the acquisition, financing the acquisition integrating the acquired busint
products or technologies into our existing busiress operations. Further, completing an acquisisiod integrating an acquired business
significantly divert management time and resourdd® diversion of management attention and anycdiffes encountered in the transit
and integration process could harm our businesge lEonsummate any significant acquisitions ustogksor other securities as considerat
our shareholders' equity could be significantlytditl. If we make any significant acquisitions usiagh consideration, we may be require
use a substantial portion of our available cashlyuigition financing may not be available on favdeaterms, if at all. In addition, we may
required to amortize significant amounts of oth@amgible assets in connection with future acqois#, which would harm our operat
results and financial condition.

If we successfully develop products and/or servjdast those products and/or services do not achiemel maintain market acceptanc
our business will not be profitable.

The degree of acceptance of our Cryoport ExpfeSslutions or any future products or services by aurent target markets, and
other markets to which we attempt to sell our potsiiland services, and our profitability and growdii depend on a number of fact
including, among others:

e our shipper ability to perform and preserve the integrity of timaterials shippe
* relative convenience and ease of use of our shipeor Cryoporta™

» availability of alternative produc

e pricing and cost effectivene

» effectiveness of our or our collaborat sales and marketing strate

» the adoption cycles of our targeted custon

If any products or services we may develop do shteve market acceptance, then we may not gensuéfteient revenue to achieve
maintain profitability.

In addition, even if our products and services eshimarket acceptance, we may not be able to nraiht@ market acceptance over t
if new products or services are introduced thatnamee favorably received than our products andisesy are more cost effective, or rendet
products obsolete. Although we are not aware of @hgr treatments or methods currently being deeglahat would directly compete w
the methods we employ, there can be no assuraatdutiure developments in technology will not make technology nomompetitive o
obsolete, or significantly reduce our operating gireg or the demand for our offerings, or otherwiggatively impact our ability to
profitable.

We may not be able to compete with our competitarthe industry because many of them have greatesaurces than we do.

We expect to continue to experience significant armdeasing levels of competition in the future. dddition, there may be ott
companies which are currently developing competifivoducts and services or which may in the futleneelop technologies and products
are comparable, superior or less costly than our. wr example, some cryogenic equipment manufatwith greater resources curre
have solutions for storing and transporting cryagéiguid and gasses and may develop storage sakitihat compete with our produ
Additionally, some specialty couriers with greatesources currently provide dry ice transportatonl may develop other products in
future, both of which compete with our productscdmpetitor that has greater resources than us maple to bring its product to market fa
than we can and offer its product at a lower ptitan us to establish market share. We may not be tabsuccessfully compete witt
competitor that has greater resources and suchetdiop may adversely affect our business.

24




Intellectual Property Risks Associated with Our Bass

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to ahtpatent protection for our solutions and busiresodel, preserve our trade secrets,
operate without infringing the proprietary rightsfmthers.

Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietansiion by, among other methods, filing United Ssapatent applications related to
technology, inventions and improvements that aggoirtant to the development of our business. We tiae® issued U.S. patents, one pen
U.S. patent application, and one recently filed.Uhvisional patent application, all relating tarious aspects of our solutions and serv
Our patents or patent application may be challengedalidated or circumvented in the future or thghts granted may not provide
competitive advantage. We intend to vigorously gcotind defend our intellectual property. Costlg ime-consuming litigation brought by
may be necessary to enforce our patents and tegbrotr trade secrets and knbww, or to determine the enforceability, scope ealdtlity of
the proprietary rights of others.

We also rely upon trade secrets, technical kihaw- and continuing technological innovation to depeand maintain our competiti
position. In the past our employees, consultardgisars and suppliers have not always executedidemtfality agreements and inventi
assignment and work for hire agreements in conmectith their employment, consulting, or advisogjationships. Consequently, we may
have adequate remedies available to us to protedhtellectual property should one of these partitempt to use our trade secrets or reft
assign any rights he or she may have in any iuteléé property he or she developed for us. Addéilyn our competitors may independel
develop substantially equivalent proprietary infation and techniques or otherwise gain access it@mprietary technology, or we may
be able to meaningfully protect our rights in urgpa¢d proprietary technology.

While we are not aware of any third party thatniBinging any of our patents or trademarks nor dohelieve that we are infringing
the patents or trademarks of any other person ganmzation, we cannot guarantee that our curredtpamtential competitors and other tt
parties have not filed (or in the future will ndej patent applications for (or have not receieedh the future will not receive) patents or oh
additional proprietary rights that will preventmii or interfere with our ability to make, use @llour solutions either in the United State
internationally. Additionally, we may face assemsoof claims by holders of patents alleging thatase infringing upon their patent rigt
which claims may be without merit, but may nonetkslresult in our incurring substantial costs déuise.

We are dependent on a third party for the continugevelopment and maintenance of our Cryoportal ™ tsedre.

Our proprietary Cryoportal™ is a logistics platfosoftware used by our customers, business paramerslient care team to automate
entry of orders, prepare customs documentationfatititate status and location monitoring of shigpmders while in transit. The contint
development of the Cryoportal™ platform is conteactvith an outside software development companthi$f developer becomes unable
unwilling to continue work on scheduled projectsd an alternative software development company atane secured, we may not be abl
implement needed enhancements to the system. Fudhe if we terminate our agreement with our cotrreoftware developer and can
reach an agreement or fail to fulfill an agreemientthe termination, it is possible we could loag ticense to use this software. Failur
proceed with enhancements or the loss of our ledos the system would adversely affect our abildygenerate new business and s
existing customers, resulting in a reduction ineraye.

Our customers could also become the target of &itign relating to the patent and other intellectuploperty rights of others.

Any litigation relating to the intellectual propgrtights of others could trigger technical suppantd indemnification obligations
licenses or customer agreements that we may enterThese obligations could result in substamiglenses, including the payment by u
costs and damages relating to claims of intellégit@perty infringement. In addition to the timeda@xpense required for us to provide sug
or indemnification to our customers, any such ditign could disrupt the businesses of our customénih in turn could hurt our relationsh
with such customers and cause the sale of our ptedo decrease. No assurance can be given thasdar indemnification will not be mac
or that if made, such claims would not have a nigtadverse effect on our business, operating tesulfinancial conditions.

Our Cryoportal™ software platform may be subjectitdentional disruption that could adversely impaotir reputation and future revenue:

We have implemented our Cryoportal™ software platfavhich is used by our customers and businessgrarto automate the entry
orders, prepare customs documentation and faeilg&gttus and location monitoring of shipped orderde in transit. Although we believe
have sufficient controls in place to prevent intemal disruptions, we could be a target of cyhgacks specifically designed to impede
performance of the Cryoportal®bftware platform. Similarly, experienced compytesgrammers may attempt to penetrate our Cryog¥
software platform in an effort to search for andapipropriate proprietary or confidential informatior cause interruptions of our servis
Because the techniques used by such computer progges to access or sabotage networks change frijgaed may not be recognized u
launched against a target, we may be unable toipate these techniques. Our activities could heesetly affected and our reputation, br
and future sales could be harmed if such intenlipdésruptive efforts were successful.
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Regulatory Risks Relating to Our Business

Complying with certain regulations that apply to gments using our solutions can limit our activitieand increase our cost of operations.

Shipments using our solutions and services areestuib) various regulations in the various countiieshich we operate. For examj
shipments using our solutions may be required toptp with the shipping requirements promulgatedtbg Centers for Disease Con
(“CDC"), the Occupational Safety and Health Orgatian (“OSHA”"), the Department of TransportatiodQT") as well as rules establist
by the IATA and the ICAO. Additionally, our datagiger may be subject to regulation and certificatigrthe Food and Drug Administrati
(“FDA"), Federal Communications Commission (“FCC8nd the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA"We will need to ensure that ¢
solutions and services comply with relevant ruled eegulations to make our solutions and servicakatable, and in some cases compli
is difficult to determine. Significant changes urch regulations could require costly changes tosolutions and services or prevent use o
shippers for an extended period of time while waksde comply with changed regulations. If we arahla to comply with any of these rule:
regulations or fail to obtain any required appreyalur ability to market our solutions and serviocesy be adversely affected. In addition, €
if we are able to comply with these rules and ratiohs, compliance can result in increased costither event, our financial results .
condition may be adversely affected. We dependuwnbasiness partners and unrelated and frequenkmawn third party agents in forei
countries to act on our behalf to complete the irtgimn process and to make delivery of our shipperthe final user. The failure of these t
parties to perform their duties could result in dge to the contents of the shipper resulting inarner dissatisfaction or liability to us, eve
we are not at fault.

Risks Relating to Our Current Financing Arrangements
Certain of our existing stockholders own and haveetright to acquire a substantial number of shareEcommon stock.

As of May 8, 2015, our directors, executive offe@nd beneficial owners of 5% or more of our ouiditag common stock beneficia
owned 1,208,251 shares of common stock (withouankego beneficial ownership limitations containedcertain warrants) assuming tt
exercise of all outstanding warrants and optioas #ine exercisable within 60 days of May 8, 201&amproximately 20.1% of our outstand
common stock. Of these shares of common stock488%&hares, or approximately 5.4% of our commookstwill be beneficially owned t
Cranshire Capital Master Fund. As such, the comagoh of beneficial ownership of our common stacky have the effect of delaying
preventing a change in control of Cryoport and mdyersely affect the voting or other rights of othelders of our common stock.

The sale of substantial shares of our common stociy depress our stock price.

As of May 8, 2015, there were 5,025,577 sharesuofcommon stock outstanding. Substantially allhefse shares of common stock
eligible for trading in the public market. The matlprice of our common stock may decline if ourcktmlders sell a large number of share
our common stock in the public market, or the maperceives that such sales may occur. We couttliatsie up to 8,993,495 shares of
common stock including shares to be issued uporexieecise of outstanding warrants and options serked for future issuance under
stock incentive plans, as further described infoflewing table:

Number of

Shares of
Common Stock

Issuable or

Reserved for

Issuance
Common stock issuable upon conversion of outstangliaferred stoc 1,541,14:
Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstandargants 5,475,801

Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanaltigns or reserved for future incentiv:

awards under our stock incentive plans 1,976,54.
Total 8,993,49!
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Of the total preferred stock, options and warranitstanding as of March 31, 2015, preferred stopkpns and warrants exercisable for
an aggregate of 2,397,712 shares of common stoaldvio@ considered dilutive to the value of our ktadders’ interest in Cryoport because
we would receive upon exercise of such optionsvaztlants an amount per share that is less tham#nket price of our common stock on
March 31, 2015.

Our stock price has been and will likely continue be volatile.

The market price of our common stock has been higbllatile and could fluctuate widely in price iesponse to various factors, man
which are beyond our control, including, but natited to:

» technological innovations or new solutions and iserby us or our competita
» additions or departures of key persor

» sales of our common sto

e our ability to execute our business p

* our operating results being below expectati

* loss of any strategic relationst

e industry development

» economic and other external fact

» perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resu

In addition, the securities markets have from tbméime experienced significant price and volumetlations that are unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. &hmsurket fluctuations may also materially and askfyr affect the market price of «
common stock and warrants.

In addition, we completed a 1-fa2 reverse stock split in May 2015. There can baswurance that the reverse stock split will h&ve
anticipated benefits. For instance, there can bassarance that the market price per share of@unmn stock after the reverse stock split
rise in proportion to the reduction in the numbésloares of our common stock outstanding beforer¢lierse stock split, or that the rew
stock split will result in a market price per sh#trat will attract brokers and investors who do tnatle in lower priced stocks.

Additionally, the liquidity of our common stock ddube adversely affected by the reduced numbehafes resulting from the reve
stock split, which, in turn, could result in great®latility in the price per share of our commdnck. The potential volatility in the price |
share of our common stock may also make segliing more attractive, which could put additiomlmwnward pressure on the price of
common stock.

Furthermore, the reverse stock split may resutame shareholders owning “odd lots’less than one hundred shares of our con
stock on a post-split basis. Odd lots may be mdfiewlt to sell, or require greater transactiorstoper share to sell, than shares in “round lot

of even multiples of one hundred shares

If equity research analysts do not publish researghreports about our business or if they issue ambrable commentary or downgra
our common stock and warrants, the price of our coran stock and warrants could decline.

The trading market for our common stock and wagaglies in part on the research and reports tiustyeresearch analysts publish at
us and our business. We do not control these asaljse price of our common stock and warrantsacdekline if one or more equity ana
downgrades our stock or if analysts downgrade tacksor issue other unfavorable commentary or ceadishing reports about us or
business.

We have not paid dividends on our common stockhe past and do not expect to pay dividends in the$eeable future. Any return ¢
investment may be limited to the value of our commziock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark sdad do not anticipate paying cash dividendshia foreseeable future. T
payment of dividends on our common stock will depen our earnings, financial condition and othesibess and economic factors affec
us at such time as the Board of Directors may cemghe payment of any such dividends. If we dopagt dividends, our common stock r
be less valuable because a return on your investwionly occur if the price of our common stoakpreciates.
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We need additional capital, and the sale of addii@ shares of common stock or other equity sec@sticould result in additional dilution
to our stockholders.

Our current cash and cash equivalents and antdpeash flow from operations are insufficient toeteur cash needs. We req
additional cash resources to fund our operatiodsnaay require additional funds in the future duehanged business conditions or other ft
developments, including any investments or acqoistwe may decide to pursue. The sale of additiegaity securities, or debt securi
convertible into equity securities, could resulanhditional dilution to our stockholders. The in@nce of indebtedness would result in incre
debt service obligations and could result in opegaand financing covenants that would restrict aperations.

Our Articles of Incorporation allows our Board of Dectors to issue up to 2,500,000 shares of “blastieck” preferred stock.

Our Atrticles of Incorporation allows our Board ofréctors to issue up to 2,500,000 shares of “bleiméck” preferred stock, witho
action by our stockholders. We have designated0B@0shares as Class A Convertible Preferred Stifokhich 454,750 shares are issued
outstanding at March 31, 2015 and 585,000 shar€dass B Convertible Preferred Stock, of which 69, shares are issued and outstar
as of March 31, 2015. Accordingly, the Board ofd@iors will have discretion to issue up to 1,116,8B8ares on terms determined by tt
Without limiting the foregoing, (i) such shares meferred stock could have liquidation rights tha¢ senior to the liquidation prefere
applicable to our common stock and Preferred Stfigksuch shares of preferred stock could havengobr conversion rights, which cot
adversely affect the voting power of the holdersoof common stock and Preferred Stock and (iii) dlamership interest of holders of
common stock will be diluted following the issuarafeany such shares of preferred stock. In addifienissuance of such shares of blank ¢
preferred stock could have the effect of discourggdelaying or preventing a change of controlwf Gompany.

Provisions in our bylaws and Nevada law might discage, delay or prevent a change of control of oGompany or changes in ol
management and, as a result, may depress the trgglirice of our common stock.

Provisions of our bylaws and Nevada law may disager delay or prevent a merger, acquisition orroth@nge in control th
stockholders may consider favorable, including sesnions in which you might otherwise receive arpuen for your shares of our comn
stock. The relevant bylaw provisions may also pnewe frustrate attempts by our stockholders tdaes or remove our management. Tl
provisions include advance notice requirementsstockholder proposals and nominations, and thétyaloil our Board of Directors to mal
alter or repeal our bylaws.

Absent approval of our Board of Directors, our mdanay only be amended or repealed by the affikmatote of the holders of at lea:
majority of our outstanding shares of capital stenkitled to vote.

In addition, Section 78.438 of the Nevada Revisttues prohibits a publicliield Nevada corporation from engaging in a bus
combination with an interested stockholder (gemgmdéfined as a person which together with itsliatis owns, or within the last three ye
has owned, 10% of our voting stock, for a periodloke years after the date of the transaction hicliwthe person became an intere
stockholder) unless the business combination isoae in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and opfudéential antitakeover measures could limit the price that inmessinight be willing t
pay in the future for shares of our common stodieylcould also deter potential acquirers of our Gany, thereby reducing the likelihood 1
you could receive a premium for your common stocén acquisition

Even though we are not incorporated in Californiave may become subject to a number of provisionsttef California Genera
Corporation Law.

Section 2115(b) of the California Corporations Cadposes certain requirements of California corfgfaw on corporations organiz
outside California that, in general, are doing mibwm 50% of their business in California and hangre than 50% of their outstanding vo!
securities held of record by persons residing itif@aia. While we are not currently subject to 8es 2115(b), we may become subject to
the future.

The following summarizes some of the principaleliféinces which would apply if we become subjectdctiSn 2115(b).
Under both Nevada and California law, cumulativaing for the election of directors is permitted. wver, under Nevada I
cumulative voting must be expressly authorizechm Articles of Incorporation and our Amended andt&ed Articles of Incorporation do |

authorize cumulative voting. If we become subjectSection 2115(b), we may be required to permit idative voting if any stockhold
properly requests to cumulate his or her votes.
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Under Nevada law, directors may be removed by thekbolders only by the vote of twtbirds of the voting power of the issued
outstanding stock entitled to vote. However, Catifa law permits the removal of directors by thdéevof only a majority of the outstand
shares entitled to vote. If we become subject tiGe 2115(b), the removal of a director may beoatglished by a majority vote, rather the
vote of two-thirds, of the stockholders entitled/tie.

Under California law, the corporation must taketaier steps to be allowed to provide for greateremdification of its officers ar
directors than is provided in the California Comton Code. If we become subject to Section 211%(l) ability to indemnify our officers a
directors, to the extent permitted in our Artictédncorporation, Bylaws and under Nevada law, roayimited by California law.

Nevada law permits distributions to stockholderfoag as, after the distribution, (i) the corpavativould be able to pay its debts as
become due and (i) the corporatisrtdtal assets are at least equal to its liatslitied preferential dissolution obligations. Undafif@rnia law
distributions may be made to stockholders as lanipa corporation would be able to pay its debtheg mature and either (i) the corporat®on’
retained earnings equal or exceed the amount gbrihy@osed distributions, or (i) after the distiilons, the corporatios’tangible assets are
least 125% of its liabilities and the corporat®iurrent assets are at least equal to its culiedilities (or, 125% of its current liabilities the
corporations average operating income for the two most regaatinpleted fiscal years was less than the aveshge interest expense of
corporation for those fiscal years). If we becombject to Section 2115(b), we will have to satisfgre stringent financial requirements tc
able to pay dividends to our stockholders. Adddibn stockholders may be liable to the corporatibmve pay dividends in violation
California law.

California law permits a corporation to provide ffgamajority vote”provisions in its Articles of Incorporation, whiakiould requir
specific actions to obtain greater than a majaftthe votes, but not more than 663 percent. Nevada law does not permit supermajonty

provisions. If we become subject to Section 2115¢d% possible that our stockholders would vateaimend our Articles of Incorporation ¢
require a supermajority vote for us to take spea@ifitions.

Under California law, in a disposition of substafiji of all the corporatiors assets, if the acquiring party is in control ofumde
common control with the disposing corporation, phiecipal terms of the sale must be approved byp®&@ent of the stockholders. Althot
Nevada law does contain certain rules governingrésted stockholder business combinations, it doesequire similar stockholder appro
If we become subject to Section 2115(b), we mayehavobtain the vote of a greater percentage obthekholders to approve a sale of
assets to a party that is in control of, or unadenmon control with, us.

California law places certain additional approvights in connection with a merger if all of the s of each class or series «
corporation are not treated equally or if the seing or parent party to a merger represents mare 89 percent of the voting power of the o
corporation prior to the merger. Nevada law dodseqguire such approval. If we become subject wtiSe 2115(b), we may have to obtain
vote of a greater percentage of the stockholdeegpfove a merger that treats shares of a clasers differently or where a surviving
parent party to the merger represents more thand#Qbe voting power of the other corporation ptiothe merger.

California law requires the vote of each classpprave a reorganization or a conversion of a cafmn into another entity. Nevada |
does not require a separate vote for each clagge Hecome subject to Section 2115(b), we may tmebtain the approval of each class il
desire to reorganize or convert into another tyfpentity.

California law provides greater dissentergjhts to stockholders than Nevada law. If we beeasubject to Section 2115(b), m
stockholders may be entitled to dissenters’ rightsich may limit our ability to merge with anothemtity or reorganize.

Our stock is deemed to be penny stock.

Our stock is currently traded on the OTCQB, opetrdig the OTC Markets Group, Inc., and is subjedh®“penny stock rulesddopte:
pursuant to Section 15(g) of the Securities Excbhahg of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Adte penny stock rules apply to compa
not listed on a national exchange whose commorksti@eales at less than $5.00 per share or which kevgible net worth of less th
$5,000,000 ($2,000,000 if the company has beenatipgrfor three or more years). Such rules reqainepng other things, that brokers \
trade “penny stock” to persons other than “esthbliscustomerstomplete certain documentation, make suitabilityuines of investors al
provide investors with certain information concegitrading in the security, including a risk distioee document and quote information ul
certain circumstances. Penny stocks sold in vimatif the applicable rules may entitle the buyethef stock to rescind the sale and rece
full refund from the broker.
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Many brokers have decided not to trade “penny Stbelcause of the requirements of the penny stock arnd, as a result, the numbe
broker-dealers willing to act as market makersuichssecurities is limited. In the event that we a@msubject to the “penny stock ruldst any
significant period, there may develop an adverggaithon the market, if any, for our securities. 8ese our securities are subject to theriny
stock rules,”investors will find it more difficult to dispose afur securities. Further, for companies whose $iesirare traded in the O
Bulletin Board, it is more difficult: (i) to obtaiaccurate quotations, (ii) to obtain coverage fgnificant news events because major '
services, such as the Dow Jones News Service,@neo not publish press releases about such coiepaand (iii) to obtain needed capital.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inmtwal control over financial reporting, we may notebable to accurately report o
financial results, and current and potential stocklders may lose confidence in our financial reparg.

We are required by the SEC to establish and maistdéquate internal control over financial repartinat provides reasonable assur:
regarding the reliability of our financial repowirand the preparation of financial statements goatance with generally accepted accout
principles. We are likewise required, on a quaytédsis, to evaluate the effectiveness of our iratlecontrols and to disclose any changes
material weaknesses in those internal controls.

As described in Item 9A of this Annual Report onrfRdLOK for the year ended March 31, 2015, no materiadkmesses were identifi
and we determined that our internal control ovearficial reporting was effective as of March 31,201

Any failure to maintain such internal controls iretfuture could adversely impact our ability toogur financial results on a timely ¢
accurate basis. If our financial statements areanotirate, investors may not have a complete utaeling of our operations. Likewise, if «
financial statements are not filed on a timely bas required by the SEC and the OTC Bulletin Boaedcould face severe consequences
those authorities. In either case, there couldlresmaterial adverse effect on our business. imfénternal controls could also cause inves
to lose confidence in our reported financial infatian, which could have a negative effect on thditrg price of our stock.

Our publicly-filed SEC reports are reviewed by the SEC from titeetime and any significant changes required agesult of any suc
review may result in material liability to us andave a material adverse impact on the trading prafeour common stock.

The reports of publiclyraded companies are subject to review by the SB@ time to time for the purpose of assisting conigs ir
complying with applicable disclosure requiremems & enhance the overall effectiveness of comgapiablic filings, and reviews of su
reports are now required at least every three yaader the Sarban&xley Act of 2002. SEC reviews may be initiatedaay time, and w
could be required to modify or reformulate inforioat contained in prior filings as a result of an GSEeview. Any modification ¢
reformulation of information contained in such repaould be significant and could result in matkliability to us and have a material advt
impact on the trading price of our common stock.

The requirements of being a U.S. public company nsisain our resources and divert management’s atien.

As a U.S. public company, we are subject to thenem requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sazbadxley Act, the Doddrrank
Act, certain listing requirements, and other aggilie securities rules and regulations. Complianitie these rules and regulations will incre
our legal and financial compliance costs, make santities more difficult, timesonsuming, or costly, and increase demand on tesy
and resources. The Exchange Act requires, amorgg thittngs, that we file annual and current repaith respect to our business and oper:
results. As a result of disclosure of informatianthis prospectus and in filings required of a pulglompany, our business and finan
condition is more visible, which we believe mayuleén threatened or actual litigation, including tompetitors and other third parties. If s
claims are successful, our business and operagts could be harmed, and even if the claimsadgesult in litigation or are resolved in
favor, these claims, and the time and resourcesssacy to resolve them, could divert resourcesuohtanagement and harm our busines:
operating results.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
ITEM 2. Properties

We do not own real property. We currently lease ¢enadlity, with approximately 12,000 square feet adrporate, research &
development, and warehouse facilities, located akel Forest, California under an operating leaseriegpJune 30, 2015, which we do
intend to renew. In May 2015, we amended the |éasmnvert to a month-toronth basis, commencing July 1, 2015. The basewénbe
$9,500 and either party will have the right to aarthis month-to-month agreement by giving the ptharty a minimum of a 9@day prio

written notice. We are currently exploring othecifities to meet our growing demands. The lease@gent contains certain scheduled
increases, which are accounted for on a straigbtbiasis.
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The Company currently makes base lease paymemspobximately $8,900 per month, due at the begmoineach month. We belie
that these facilities are adequate, suitable arsdifficient capacity to support our immediate neddititional space may be required, howe
as we expand our research and development, mauatfarand selling and marketing activities.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we are at tisbgect to various legal proceedings and dispiriekjding product liability claims. W
currently are not aware of any such legal procagdor claim that we believe will have, individuatly in the aggregate, a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results or clastsf It is our practice to accrue for open clalmased on our historical experience and
available insurance coverage.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
PART Il

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stodkholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Secities
Common Stock

As of May 8, 2015 there were 5,025,577 shares wifngon stock outstanding and 228 stockholders ofrce¢dn May 8, 2015, the closi
sale price of our common stock was $7.68 per si@mmport completed a 1-for-12 reverse stock $pliay 2015. All common stock and per-
share information included in this Annual ReportFfmrm 10-K reflect such reverse stock split.

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the OTCQB, operayetthd OTC Markets Group, Inc. under the symbol “C&¥RThe high and low
closing sale prices of our common stock reporte@BZQB during each quarter ended March 31, 201528id were as follows:

High Low
Year 2015:
Fourth Quarter Ended March 31, 2C $ 8.64 $ 4.5¢
Third Quarter Ended December 31, 2( $ 5.7¢ $ 4.32
Second Quarter Ended September 30, - $ 5.8¢ % 4.8(C
First Quarter Ended June 30, 2( $ 6.3¢ $ 4.2C
Year 2014:
Fourth Quarter Ended March 31, 2C $ 6.84 $ 4.0¢
Third Quarter Ended December 31, 2( $ 6.6C $ 3.6(
Second Quarter Ended September 30, : $ 6.2¢ $ 2.7¢€
First Quarter Ended June 30, 2( $ 6.7z $ 1.92

Dividends

No dividends on common stock have been declarepa@ by the Company. As of March 31, 2015, the Camyphad cumulativ
undeclared dividends that have not been accruatiettko its outstanding preferred stock of $305,30@&: Company intends to employ
available funds for the development of its busirass, accordingly, does not intend to pay any cigldends in the foreseeable future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation

The information included under Item 12 of Partdilithis Annual Report is hereby incorporated byrefce into this Item 5 of Part Il of
this Annual Report.

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities
The following is a summary of transactions by tt@Pany during period covered by this report invafyihe issuance and sale of
Company’s securities that were not registered utiteiSecurities Act of 1933, as amended (the “SiesirAct”) and that have not previou

been included in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qnoa Current Report on FormK- All securities sold by the Company were sol
individuals, trusts or others who were accrediteastors as defined under Regulation D under targies Act.
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Between February 19, 2015 and March 31, 2015, tapgainy conducted a private placement pursuant tormthe Company sold a
issued an aggregate of 161,709 shares of ClassrBe@ible Preferred Stock and warrants to purcHa¥d&806 shares of common stoc
$12.00 per unit, for gross proceeds of $1.9 milli&@mergent Financial Group, Inc. served as the Gmylp placement agent in this transac
and received a commission of 10% and a aoceuntable finance fee of 3% of the aggregatesgrosceeds received from the investors,
reimbursement of up to $5,000 of legal expensesergGemt Financial Group, Inc. will also be issuedarant to purchase 0.25 share
common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 perestuaireach share of Class B Convertible Prefertedidssued in this transaction.

In January 2015, we issued 1,667 shares of resdricdmmon stock to a consultant in exchange farices. The Company recogni:
$8,400 in expense related to these shares forethiegnded March 31, 2015.

Between December 2014 and February 2015, we is¥ib8l Series Secured Promissory Notes (the “7% Bridgtes”)in the aggrega
original principal amount of $915,000. The 7% Bedgotes accrue interest at a rate of 7% per anAllrprincipal and interest is due on J
1, 2015 unless we elect to extend the maturity ttadanuary 1, 2016 by providing written noticehe note holders and a warrant to purch:
number of shares of common stock equal to (a)tltha butstanding principal balance of the note,ddigiby (b) $6.00 multiplied by 125%.
connection with the issuance of the notes, we t$ie note holders warrants to purchase 190,62%®sltd common stock at an exercise f
of $6.00 per share. The warrants are exercisabMayn31, 2015 and expire on November 20, 2021uApaid principal and interest was ref
in April 2015.

In February 2015, the Company conducted a priviteement pursuant to which the Company sold anteéssin aggregate of 11,¢
shares of Class A Convertible Preferred Stock aadamts to purchase 7,908 shares of common stb&i{,2200 per unit, for gross proceed
$142,400. Emergent Financial Group, Inc. servethasCompanys placement agent in this transaction and receaveasimmission of 3% anc
non-accountable finance fee of 1% of such proceedswatidrespect to gross proceeds received fromthBminvestors, a commission of 1
and a noreccountable finance fee of 3% of the aggregatesguosceeds received from such investors, plus ngis@ment of legal expense:
up to $40,000. Emergent Financial Group, Inc. aiflo be issued a warrant to purchase 0.25 sharesnohon stock at an exercise prici
$6.00 per share for each share of Class A ConleRiteferred Stock issued in this transaction.

The issuance of the securities of the Company énatbove transaction were deemed to be exempt fegistration under the Securit
Act by virtue of Section 4(2) thereof or Regulatrpromulgated there under, as a transaction bgsarer not involving a public offering. W
respect to the transaction listed above, no gemetalitation was made by either the Company or penson acting on the Compasyehall
the securities sold are subject to transfer regiris; and the certificates for the shares coraaimppropriate legend stating that such sect
have not been registered under the Securities ithaay not be offered or sold absent registratigouesuant to an exemption therefrom.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data has beenveéerifrom audited consolidated financial statemefthie Company for each of the f
years in the period ended March 31, 2015. You shoshd the following financial information togetheith the information und
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@aindition and Results of Operationahd our consolidated financial statements
related notes included elsewhere in this annuabrteffhe information set forth below is not nece#gandicative of our future financi
condition or results of operations.

Years ended March 31

Statement of Operations Data 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share data)
Revenue! $ 3,93t $ 2,66 $ 1,101 $ 55¢ $ 47¢€
Cost of revenues 2,76¢€ 2,22 1,58¢ 1,392 1,30:
Gross margin (loss 1,16¢ 437 (487) (83¢€) (827)
Selling, general and administrati 6,40¢ 5,10¢ 5,41% 6,10¢ 4,321
Research and development 358 40¢ 42F 492 44¢
Loss from operation (5,599 (5,07¢) (6,329 (7,439 (5,597)
Debt conversion expen: — (13,719 — — —
Interest incom — — — 12 1€
Interest expens (1,42%) (784) (72) (528 (619
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Years ended March 31

Statement of Operations Data 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands, except per share data)

Change in fair value of derivative liabilitir — 21 1€ 11¢ 5C
Other expense, net (4) (8) — — —

Loss before provision for income taxes (7,025 (19,569 (6,380 (7,83)) (6,150

Provision for income taxes 2 2 2 2 2
Net loss (7,027) (19,564 (6,387) (7,837 (6,157)
Preferred stock beneficial conversion che (4,869 — — — —
Undeclared cumulative preferred dividends (306) — —
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (12,19) $ (19,569 $ (6,382 $ (7,839 $ (6,157)
Net loss per share attributable to comr

stockholders — basic and diluted $ (2449 $ (4.8]) $ (2.09) $ (3.29) $ (5.55)
As of March 31,
Balance Sheet Data 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,408 $ 37C % 56 $ 4,61¢ $ 9,27¢
Working capital (deficit (835) (2,909 (1,539 4,02¢ 6,76(
Total asset 2,607 1,71( 1,75¢ 6,21¢ 11,03:
Convertible notes and accrued interest, — 1,622 1,30¢ 33¢ 2,401
Long term obligations, less current port 26 — 1,32 1,37t 1,42:
Total stockholder equity (deficit) (41¢€) (2,309 (2,069 3,73( 5,94¢

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial@dition and Results of Operations

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwéwdking statements within the meaning of the felderaurities laws. These statem
are subject to risks and uncertainties that coudise actual results and events to differ materifdym those expressed or implied by ¢
forward-looking statements. For a detailed discussiorhebe risks and uncertainties, see the “Risk Fattsextion in Iltem 1A of Part | of ti
Form 1(-K. We caution the reader not to place undue rel@aon these forward-looking statements, which cefieanagemerg’ analysis onl
as of the date of this Form 10-K. We undertake lmgation to update forwardeoking statements to reflect events or circumstarmccurrin
after the date of this Form 10-K.

The following discussion and analysis should bel ieaconjunction with our consolidated financiatstments and the related notes to
those statements contained elsewhere in this AriRejadrt on Form 10-K.

General Overview

We provide cryogenic logistics solutions to thee I§ciences industry through a combination of puefmslt proprietary packagin
information technology and specialized cold chaigistics knowhow. We view our solutions as disruptio the “older technologiesf dry ice
and liquid nitrogen, in that our solutions are coefgnsive and combine our competencies in configu®that are customized to our client’
requirements. We provide comprehensive, reliabdenemic alternatives to all existing logistics swos and services utilized for froz
shipping in the life sciences industry (e.g., peadized medicine, cell therapies, stem cells, ledls, vaccines, diagnostic materials, sel
eggs, embryos, cord blood, hitrarmaceuticals, infectious substances, and otiramodities that require continuous exposure to geyc o
frozen temperatures). As part of our services, vawige the ability to monitor, record and archiveaal information for each shipment t
can be used for scientific and regulatory purposes.

Our Cryoport Expres8 Solutions include a sophisticated clobased logistics operating platform, which is brahes the Cryoportal™
The Cryoportal™ supports the management of theeestipment and logistics process through a simgégface, including initial order inpi
document preparation, customs clearance, courieagenent, shipment tracking, issue resolution,dstidery. In addition, it provides uniq
and incisive information dashboards and validadonumentation for every shipment. The CryoportaBtords and retains a fully documer
“chain-of-custody” and, at the client’s option, ‘ah-of-condition”for every shipment, helping ensure that qualitfetya efficacy, and stabili
of shipped commodities are maintained throughoatgiocess. This recorded and archived informatitmwa our clients to meet exacti
requirements necessary for scientific work andofmof of regulatory compliance during the logistitsgase.
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The branded packaging for our Cryoport Expr&sSolutions includes our liquid nitrogen dry vapoipgters, the Cryoport Expre$s
Shippers. The Cryoport Expre8sShippers are costffective and reusable cryogenic transport contaitfeur standard shipper is a pate
vacuum flask) utilizing an innovative applicatioti ‘tdry vapor” liquid nitrogen (“LN2") technology. oport Express® Shippers ai
International Air Transport Association (“IATA”) céfied and validated to maintain stable tempermgunsf minus 150° C and below for a 10
day dynamic shipment period. The Company curreieéyures three Cryoport Expre8Shippers: the Standard Dry Shipper (holding up3
2.0 ml vials), the High Volume Dry Shipper (holding to 500 2.0 ml vials) and the recently introdLi@ryoport Expres€ CXVC1 Shippe
(holding up to 1,500 2.0 ml vials). In addition, assist clients with internal secondary packagswaell (e.g., vials, canes, straws, plates, etc.

Our most used solution is the “turnkey” solutiorhigh can be accessed directly through our cloasied Cryoportal™ or by contact
Cryoport Client Care for order entry. Once an olidgslaced and cleared, we ship a fully chargecb@oyt Expres§ Shipper to the clientvho
conveniently loads its frozen commodity into th@en chamber of th€ryoport Expres® Shipper. The customer then closes the shi
package and reseals the shipping box displayingéixé recipient’s address (“Flap A”) for pre-arradgcarrier pick up.Cryoport arranges f
the pick-up of the parcel by a shipping servicevjter, which is designated by the client or chobgrCryoport, for delivery to the clierst’
intended recipient. The recipient simply opens ghigper package and removes the frozen commdutitytas been shipped. The recig
then reseals the package, displaying the neargep@rt Operations Center address (“Flap B”), makingady for pre-arranged carrier piak-
The When the Cryoport Operations Center receivesQtyoport Expres® Shipper, it is cleaned, put through quality assceatesting, ar
returned to inventory for reuse.

In late 2012, we shifted our focus to become a cefmmsive cryogenic logistics solutions provideec&ynizing that clients in the |
sciences industry have varying requirements, weundled our technologies, establishing customemngasilutions and taking a consulta
approach to the market. Today, in addition to dandard “Turn-key Solution described above, we also provide the following @our facing
value-added solutions to address our various sliemteds:

« “ Customer Staged Solutio,” designed for clients making 50 or more shipmentsyanth. Under this solution, we supply an inveptoi
our Cryoport Expres8 Shippers to our customer, in an uncharged statélieg our customer (after training/certificatico)charge the
with liquid nitrogen and use our Cryoportal™ to embrders with shipping and delivery service prev&dfor the transportation of 1
package. Once the order is released, our custoemeices professionals monitor the shipment andrétern of the shipper to us -
cleaning, quality assurance testing and re

« “ Customer Managed Solutiori a limited customer implemented solution wherei®y supply our Cryoport Expre$sShippers to clien
in a fully charged state, but leaving it to theenti to manage the shipping, including the seleatibthe shipping and delivery serv
provider and the return of the shipper to

« “ powered by CryoportM ” available to providers of shipping and delivesgrvices who seek to offer a “brandemiyogenic logistic

solution as part of their service offerings, witlpdwered by CryoportM” appearing prominently on the offering software iifstee an
packaging. This solution can also be private labalgon meeting certain requirements, such as mmimaguired shipping volume

- “Integrated Solution,” which is our outsource solution. It is our most poehensive solution and involves our managemettiegntir
cryogenic logistics process for our client, inchgliCryoport employees at the client's site to man#te clients cryogenic logistic
function in total.

« “ Regenerative Medicine Point-of-Care Repository Sadn, " designed for allogeneic therapies. In this modelswpply our Cryopo
Express® Shipper to ship and store cryogenically preseniedskience products for up to 6 days (or longaiogs with supplementa
shippers) at a point-of-care site, with the CryodExpress® Shipper serving as a temporary freezer/repositogbkng the efficient ar
effective distribution of temperature sensitiveoglineic celbased therapies without the expense, inconvenieare,potential cost
failure of an onsight, cryopreservation device. Our customer serpiofessionals monitor each shipment throughoaitptiedetermine
process including the return of the shipper towiken the Cryoport Operations Center receives tlyegrt Expres® Shipper package
is cleaned, put through quality assurance testind,returned to inventory for reu:

o “ Personalized Medicine and Crbased Immunotherapy Solution” designed for autologous therapies. In this model @ryopor
Express® Shipper serves as an enabling technology for tfeetsansportation of manufactured autologous cathhsed immunothera
market by providing a comprehensive logistics sotufor the verified chain of custody and conditimansport from, (a) the collection
the patient cells in a hospital setting, to (b) a centralcpssing facility where they are manufactured infreesonalized medicine, to
the safe, cryogenically preserved return of thesplaceable cells to a point-of-care treatmeritifac If required, the Cryoport Expre$s
Shipper can then serve as a temporary freezeritepo® allow the efficient distribution of thisepsonalized medicine to the patient w
and where the medical provider needs it most withilie expense, inconvenience, and potential cofgtijyre of an orsight
cryopreservation device. Our customer serviceseggibnals monitor each shipment throughout theegpegchined process, including
return of the shipper to us. When the Cryoport @pens Center receives the Cryoport Expf@Shipper package it is cleaned, put thrc
quality assurance testing, and returned to invgrftorreuse
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Strategic Logistics Alliances

We have sought to establish strategic alliances mgthod of marketing our solutions providing mii®° C shipping conditions to |
life sciences industry. We have focused our efforisleading companies in the logistics servicesistry as well as participants in the
sciences industry. In connection with our allianegth providers of shipping services, we refer lteit respective offerings aspbwered b

CryoportSM” to reflect our solutions being integrated inta alliance partner’s services.

Cryoport now serves and supports the three laigésgrators in the world, responsible for over 86%worldwide airfreight, with it
advanced cryogenic logistics solutions for lifeeses. We operate with each independently anddemtfally in support of their respect
market and sales strategies. We maintain our intkp# partnerships with strict confidentiality gelides within the Company. The
agreements represent a significant validation ofsolutions and the way we conduct our business.

FedEx. In January 2013, we entered into a master agreemiémtFederal Express Corporation (“FedEx") (theetlEX Agreemen)”
renewing these services and providing FedEx wittom-exclusive license and right to use a customizgdion of our CryoportalM for the
management of shipments made by FedEx customees-@d#hEx Agreement became effective on January13 8Ad, unless sooner terming
as provided in the FedEx Agreement, expires on Déee 31, 2015. FedEx has the right to terminate #greement at any time
convenience upon 180 days’ notice.

Under our FedEx Agreement, we provide frozen shigdogistics services through the combination of purposebuilt proprietan
technologies and turnkey management processes.xHedEkets and sells Cryoport’s services for froztemperaturesontrolled cold chai
transportation as its FedExDeep Frozen Shipping Solution on a rexelusive basis and at its sole expense. Duringaffigear 2013, tt
Company worked closely with FedEx to further aligg sales efforts and accelerate penetration wiBgdEXSs life sciences customer b
through improved processes, sales incentives, goistiomer calls and more frequent communicatidheasales and executive level. In addi
FedEx has developed a FedEx branded version aEtpeportal™ software platform, which is powered by Cryopo®M” for use by FedE
and its customers giving them access to the fylhbdities of our cloud-based logistics managenseftivare platform.

DHL. In June 2014, we entered into a master agreemehtliieConEx, a part of DHL Global Forwarding (“DHL This relationshi
with DHL is a further implementation of the Comp&ngxpansion of distribution partnerships under ‘th@wered by CryoportM” mode
described above, allowing us to expand our saldszarketing reach through our partners and buildraness of the benefits of our valid:
cryogenic solution offerings. DHL can now enhancel aupplement its cold chain logistics offeringsit® life sciences and healthc
customers with Cryopor’validated cryogenic solutions. DHL added 15 adidél certified Life Sciences stations in the setqoarter of 201
bringing the Thermonet network to 60 stations ieragion. Over the course of rolling out our nevatieinship, this expanded network will o
Cryoport’s cryogenic solutions under the DHL braads' powered by Cryopor®M”. In addition, DHL's customers will be able to have di
access to our cloud-based order entry and traqkimgl to order Cryoport Expre§sSolutions and receive preferred DHL shipping ratec
discounts. Our proprietary logistics managementatjpey platform, the CryoportdM , is integrated with DHLS tracking and billing systems
provide DHL life sciences and healthcare customeétls a seamless way of accessing critical infororatiegarding shipments of biologi
material worldwide.

UPS.In October 2014, we added United Parcel Serviges, ('UPS”) as our third major distributor by entering into agreement wit
UPS Oasis Supply Corporation, a part of UPS, whetéBS will offer our validated and comprehensivgogenic solutions to its life scienc
and healthcare customers on a global basis. Thisaeship with UPS is a further implementationtioé Companys expansion of distributc
under the “powered by Cryopo®M” model described above, allowing us to further edpaur sales and marketing reach through our pa
and build awareness of the benefits of our valdlatyogenic solution offerings through UPS.

Over the course of rolling out our new relationsih UPS, UPS customers will have direct accessutocloudbased order entry a
tracking portal to order Cryoport ExprédSolutions and gain access to UP8toad array of domestic and international shigind logistic

solutions at competitive prices. Our proprietargistics management operating platform, the CryapdM , is integrated with UPS’tracking
and billing systems to provide UPS life scienced apalthcare customers with a seamless way of siogesritical information regardi
shipments of biological material worldwide.
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These agreements the three largest integratoteimorld represent a significant validation of sofutions and the way we conduct
business.

Life Sciences Agreements

Zoetis. In December 2012, we signed an agreement with Pfiwe relating to Zoetis Inc. (formerly the aninfaalth business unit
Pfizer Inc.) pursuant to which we were engaged tmage frozen shipments of a key poultry vaccinedddrthis arrangement, Cryop
provides on-site logistics personnel and its lagismanagement operating platform, the Cryopdithto manage shipments from the Zo
manufacturing site in the United States to domestistomers as well as various international distiiim centers. As part of our logist
management services, Cryoport is constantly anadyirigistics data and processes to further intreceaonomies and reliability throughout
network, ensuring products arrive at their destimat in specified conditions, dime and with the optimum utilization of resourcdse
Company manages Zoetitotal fleet of dewar flask shippers used for thigpwse, including liquid nitrogen shippers. In J@913 th
agreement was amended to expand Cryoport's scopeitage all logistics of Zoetis’ key frozen poultrigccine to all Zoetisinternationz
distribution centers as well as all domestic shiptseln October 2013, the agreement was furthemdegt to further expand Cryopatiole tc
include the logistics management for a second poudtccine.

Liventa Biosciencesln February 2014, we entered into a services ageatemith Liventa Bioscience, Inc. (“Liventa”), aipately-held
commercial stage biotechnology company focusededirbased biologics in the orthopedic industry. Undes aigreement, Liventa will u
Cryoport's Regenerative Medicine Point-of-Care Rsfooy Solution for the logistics of its cdllased therapies requiring cryoge
temperatures and also provide Cryoport ExpfeSslutions to other biologics suppliers within thghopedic arena. The agreement comk
Cryoport’s proprietary, purpose-built cold chaiwiktics solutions for cell-based and advanced Bioltissue forms with Liventa’distributiol
capability to orthopedic care providers. The impdatation of Cryoport's Regenerative Medicine Paifitare Repository Solution w
eliminate the risks of degradation and also elitgntae need for expensive onsite cryogenic freefmrstorage of celbased orthopec
therapies. This will enable Liventa to confidergbrve orthopedic practices, surgical centers, giaiits, hospitals and, eventually, pharma
and specialty care providers. The agreement hasitéal three-year term and may be renewed for eontive thregrear terms, unless earl
terminated by either party. Liventa also agreedadain performance criteria and the issuance &0 shares of its common stocl
Cryoport in exchange for an opportunity for the lasive right to offer, market and promote CryopBrpress® Solutions for cellulabase:
therapies requiring cryogenic temperatures forimgke orthopedic arena in the United States.

In summary, we serve the life sciences industrhwityogenic logistics solutions that are advancedyprehensive, reliable, validat
and efficient. Our clients include those compamieg institutions that have logistics requirementsgersonalized medicine, immunotheraj
stem cells, cell lines, tissue, vaccines, in-vieidilization, cord blood, and other temperaturessive commodities of life sciences.

Going Concern

As reported in the Report of Independent Registé&reldlic Accounting Firm to our March 31, 2015 arf@#l2 consolidated financ
statements, we have incurred recurring losses agative cash flows from operations since inceptibimese factors, among others, r
substantial doubt about our ability to continuaaging concern.

We expect to continue to incur substantial add@i@perating losses from costs related to the camialzation of our Cryoport Expre
® Solutions and do not expect that revenues fromatjpers will be sufficient to satisfy our fundinggrements in the near term. We beli
that our cash resources at March 31, 2015, andsfoudently being raised through a Class B converpreferred stock offering together v
the revenues generated from our services will ific@nt to sustain our planned operations into tiiied quarter of fiscal year 2016; howe
we must obtain additional capital to fund operagitinereafter and for the achievement of sustaimefit@ghle operations. These factors r.
substantial doubt about our ability to continueaaging concern. We are currently working on fugdatternatives in order to secure suffic
operating capital to allow us to continue to ope a going concern.

Future capital requirements will depend upon maamtdrs, including the success of our commerciatimaefforts and the level
customer adoption of our Cryoport Expré&sSolutions as well as our ability to establish addil collaborative arrangements. We cannot r
any assurances that the sales ramp will lead tee@iment of sustained profitable operations or #mt additional financing will be comple!
on a timely basis on acceptable terms or at alhagemens inability to successfully achieve significant@eue increases or its cost reduc
strategies or to complete any other financing adiversely impact our ability to continue as a gaingcern. To address this issue, the Com
is seeking additional capitalization to properlpduour efforts to become a self-sustaining findhcidable entity.
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While we increased revenue year-oyear by 48% to $3.9 million for the fiscal year eddMarch 31, 2015, our revenue is
significantly lower than our operating expensesriuthe year and we have no assurance of the édvature revenues. We incurred a net
of $7.0 million and used cash of $4.1 million irr @perating activities during the year ended Ma&th2015. We had negative working caj
of $835,000 and had cash and cash equivalents.4fillion at March 31, 2015.

We are currently funding our operations throughrefgyred stock offering (see Note 11 in the accawyjay consolidated financi
statements) and plan to raise additional fundsutiincadditional debt or equity offerings to covengel working capital needs and sales
marketing initiatives to expand our customer base iacrease sales. There is no assurance that Gamdbe secured or if these funds wi
allow us to continue our operations until more gigant revenues can be generated or more fundarghle secured. These matters |
substantial doubt about our ability to continueaaging concern.

Recent Developments

The Board of Directors authorized the twelve to aseeerse stock split that became effective on M8y 2015. All prior perioc
presented in this Report have been adjusted tectetthe twelve to one reverse stock split. Findriofarmation updated by this capital cha
includes earnings per common share, dividends permmon share, stock price per common share, weighteslage common shar
outstanding common shares, treasury shares, corastnck, additional paid-in capital, and share-bas®edpensation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2015, the Company had cash and easivalents of $1.4 million and negative workirapital of $835,000. Historicall
we have financed our operations primarily througles of our debt and equity securities.

For the year ended March 31, 2015, we used $4liomibf cash for operations primarily as a restltie net loss of $7.0 million offs
by non-cash expenses of $2.5 million primarily cosgd of amortization of debt discount and deferfedincing costs, stockase:
compensation expense, and depreciation and amatiz#lso contributing to the cash impact of owt wperating loss (excluding naast
items) was an increase in accounts receivable ®6$D due to increased revenues.

Net cash used in investing activities of $70,10€rduthe year ended March 31, 2015 was primarilg thuthe purchase of the rece
introduced Cryoport Expre§sCXVC1 Shippers (holding up to fifteen hundred 2.I0vials).

Net cash provided by financing activities totalé&d2bmillion during the year ended March 31, 201 eesulted from net proceeds fr
the issuance of convertible preferred stock of $diléon, proceeds from the exercise of stock opsi@nd warrants of $92,600 and procee:
$915,000 from notes payable, partially offset by thpayment of notes payable of $173,600, convertibbentures of $50,000, offering .
financing costs of $30,000 and the repayment afteelparty notes of $128,000.

As discussed in Note 2 of the accompanying conatdidl financial statements, there exists substatitiabt regarding the Company’
ability to continue as a going concern. The Compaagived gross proceeds of $3.5 million (approxatya$2.9 million after offering costs)
exchange for the issuance of 291,142 shares of @laonvertible preferred stock and $1.9 milliopgeoximately $1.7 million after offerir
costs) in exchange for the issuance of 161,70%sharClass B convertible preferred stock durisgdl 2015 which is further described in N
11 in the accompanying consolidated financial stetes and proceeds of $915,000 from the 7% Bridged(see Note 7). The funds ra
are being used for working capital purposes andoittinue our sales efforts to advance the Compganogmmercialization of the Cryop

Expres<® Solutions.

The Companys management recognizes that the Company will heesbtain additional capital to fund its operatiangtil sustaine
profitable operations are achieved. Managementiiisently working on such funding alternatives imerto secure sufficient operating cay
through the end of fiscal year 2016. Additional ding plans may include obtaining additional capttalough equity and/or debt fund
sources. The Company currently anticipates thatlitcontinue to raise additional capital to furtd short term operating expenses pursug
private placements similar to private placemenés@ompany has conducted in the past. The Companoyaaiticipates seeking to raise u
$15 million pursuant to a public offering of itsamon stock and warrants to provide working cagtal to support the Compasyanticipate
operations and development plans. No assuranceeagiven that additional capital, if needed, wil &vailable when required or upon te
acceptable to the Company.

In addition, management will continue to reviewdfserations for further cost reductions to extdratime that the Company can ope

with its current cash on hand and additional brifigancing and to utilize third parties for sendceuch as its international recycling
refurbishment centers to provide for greater fl@ijbin aligning operational expenses with the obas in sales volumes.
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Results of Operations
Results of Operations for Fiscal 2015 Compared ts¢al 2014
The following table summarizes certain informataerived from our consolidated statements of opanati

Year Ended March 31,

2015 2014 $ Change % Change
($in 00Cs)

Revenue: $ 3,93t 2,66( $ 1,27¢ 47.%%
Cost of revenues (2,766 (2,227 (543 24.0%
Gross margir 1,16¢ 437 732 167.5%%
Selling, general and administrati (6,409 (5,10€) (1,309 25.5%
Research and developmt (359 (409 56 (13.8%
Debt conversion expen: — (13,719 13,71« (200)%
Interest expens (1,429 (784) (644) 82.(%
Change in fair value of derivative liabilitir — 21 (22) (200)%
Other expens (4) (8 4 (47.2%
Provision for income taxes 2 2 — —
Net loss $ (7,02 $ (19,569 $ 12,53¢ (64.)%

Revenues We generated revenues from customers in all oftanget life sciences markets, such as biotech @ghdstic companie
pharmaceutical companies, central laboratoriestracnresearch organizations, the reproductive ameglimarket/in vitro fertilization marki
and research institutions. Net revenues increase®irillion or 47.9% for the year ended March 3012 as compared to the prior year.
increase is primarily driven by an overall increas¢he number of customers utilizing our serviaad frequency of shipments compared tc
prior year, an increase in revenues in the reprdrimedicine market and the ramp up and expansidogistics services provided to Zoe
Revenues in the reproductive medicine market irsgedoy 59% over the prior year to $924,300 forytbar ended March 31, 2015, driver
continued success of our telemarketing activitersail and other targeted campaigns and in increasgdeness of our cryogenic logis
solutions in this market. Our revenues from Zoetise $893,200 for the year ended March 31, 20iBesenting a 9% increase over the |
year. This is reflective of the expansion of ouvgres, both domestically and globally, providedZteetis for a primary poultry vaccine, and
addition of logistics management for a second veethat was introduced to the market during thetfocalendar quarter of 2013.

Gross margin and cost of revenue&ross margins for the year ended March 31, 204% 20.7% of revenues, as compared to 16.¢
revenues for the prior year. The increase in gneagin is primarily due to the increase in net rmx&combined with a reduction in freight :
percentage of revenues and a decrease of fixedfa@nring costsCost of revenues for the year ended March 31, 2¢570.3% of revenu
as compared to 83.6% of revenues for the prior.y@ar cost of revenues are primarily comprisedrefght charges, payroll and rela
expenses related to our operations center in Caiép thirdparty charges for our European and Asian operatt@mgers in Holland ai
Singapore, depreciation expenses of our Cryopgotdss®Shippers and supplies and consumables used faotutions. The increase in ¢
of revenues is primarily due to freight chargesrfrine growth in shipments.

Selling, general and administrative expenseSelling, general and administrative expensesased $1.3 million, or 25.5% for the y
ended March 31, 2015 as compared to the prior yidas. increase is primarily due to salaries anduiiag fees incurred to expand our si
force, the engagement of an investor relations &nd related activities, equity based compensati@rges, public company related expe
including legal, SOX and financial reporting expemand banking charges as a result of the higtsiéndss volume.

Research and development expensd®esearch and development expenses decreased®%6,343.8% for the year ended March
2015, as compared to the prior year. Our reseandndavelopment efforts are focused on continuatiproving the features of the Cryog
Express® Solutions including the Company’s cloud-based licgsmanagement platform, the Cryoportdl, the Cryoport Expres® Shipper
and development of additional accessories to fatglithe efficient shipment of life science comntiedi using our solution. We use an out
software development company and other third patbeprovide some of these services. Research emelapment expenses to date t
consisted primarily of costs associated with thetiomally improving the features of the Cryoportgeass® Solution including the web bas
customer service portal and the Cryoport ExpfeShippers. Further, these efforts are expectedath tiee the introduction of shippers of vary
sizes based on market requirementmstructed of lower cost materials and utilizinghhvolume manufacturing methods that will mak
practical to provide the cryogenic packages offdngthe Cryoport Expre$$Solution. Other research and development effortileas directe
toward improvements to the liquid nitrogen retemtgystem to render it more reliable in the genghggping environment and to the desig
the outer packaging. Alternative phase change maten place of liquid nitrogen may be used tor@ase the potential markets these shiy
can serve such as ambient and 2°- 8°C markets.
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Debt conversion expensdebt conversion expense for the year ended March2814 of $13.7 million was related to the ind.
conversion of $4.1 million of aggregate principaldaaccrued interest from the convertible bridgeesdtto shares of common stock
warrants. Debt conversion expense represents ithealae of the securities transferred in excestheffair value of the securities issuable L
the original conversion terms of the bridge not€he Company calculated the fair value of the comstock issued by using the closing p
of the stock on the date of issuance. The faunevalf the warrants was calculated using the Bladieis option pricing model.

Interest expense Interest expense increased $643,600 for thegmded March 31, 2015, as compared to the prior. yei@rest expen:
included amortization of the debt discount and aefkfinancing fees of approximately $1.1 milliaf,which $826,900 related to the fair ve
of the beneficial conversion feature of the 5% Beid\Notes that was triggered by the convertiblegoretl stock offering, interest expense
our 5% Bridge Notes of approximately $10,600, aedrinterest on our relatguirty notes payable of approximately $33,500, aixation o
the debt discount on the 7% Bridge Notes of $23Y &fd related interest expense of $15,500. Intesgstnse for the year ended March
2014 included amortization of the debt discount deférred financing fees of approximately $678,90tkrest expense on our bridge note
approximately $71,600 and accrued interest onelatad party notes payable of approximately $36,500

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities The warrants classified as derivative liabilitespired in April 2014. The gain on |
change in fair value of derivative liabilities w&20,800 for the year ended March 31, 2014 as dtreflsa decrease in the value of our war
derivatives, due primarily to a decrease in ouclsqrice.

Other expense, net The other expense, net for the year ended Matc¢tP@15 is primarily due to administrative chargesl foreigi
exchange losses on accounts receivable and panpablees.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off balance sheet arrangematitsihe meaning of Item 303(a)(4) of RegulaticiKS
Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gdions as of March 31, 2015, and the effects silgations are expected to have
liquidity and cash flow in future period$ in ‘000’s):

Less than After
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Contractual obligations
Operating lease obligatiolt) $ 38 $ 27 $ 11 $ — 3 —
Notes payabl(2) 757 757 — — B
Other obligation$ 1,26 1,237 26 — —
Total $ 2,05¢ $ 2,021 $ 37 $ — $ =

(1) The operating lease obligations are primarily edato the facility lease for our principal execaetioffice in Lake Forest, Californ
which expires June 30, 2015. In May 2015, we améride lease to convert to a monthrtienth basis, commencing July 1, 2015.
base rent will be $9,500 and either party will h#we right to cancel this month-tnenth agreement by giving the other party a minir
of a 9(-day prior written notice. We also lease certairicefequipment

(2) Notes payable represent secured convertible promisotes and accrued interest at 7% per annumhwidgce issued in December 2!
through February 2015 to certain accredited invegtarsuant to the terms of subscription agreemamddetters of investment intent.
principal and accrued interest is due July 1, 2@15unpaid principal and interest was paid in A{2015.

(3) Other longterm obligations represent outstanding unsecurddbitedness and accrued interest owed to five celedeties which be
interest at the rate of 6% per annum. The unpaittipal and accrued interest is due at maturityamous dates through May 1, 20:
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Impact of Inflation

From time to time, Cryoport experiences price iases from third party manufacturers and these asere cannot always be passed
Cryoport’s customers. While these price increasa®mot had a material impact on Cryopofistorical operations or profitability in the p
they could affect revenues in the future.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our consolidatednional condition and results of operations are ¢hag®mn our consolidated financ
statements, which have been prepared in conforwiity accounting principles generally accepted ia thS., or GAAP. The preparation
these consolidated financial statements require usake estimates and assumptions that affectetherted amounts of assets, liabilit
revenues and expenses, and related disclosure mingent assets and liabilities reported in our sohidated financial statements. -
estimation process requires assumptions to be w@laoigt future events and conditions, and is consetumherently subjective and uncert:
Actual results could differ materially from our iesates.

The SEC defines critical accounting policies ass¢hthat are, in managemenview, most important to the portrayal of our fical
condition and results of operations and most deimgnaf our judgment. We consider the following pads to be critical to an understandin
our consolidated financial statements and the taic¢ies associated with the complex judgments nigdes that could impact our results
operations, financial position and cash flows. Sle¢e 2: “Summary of Significant Accounting Policiesf our accompanying consolida
financial statements for a description of our catiaccounting policies and estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2: ‘Recent Accounting Pronouncemehtef our accompanying consolidated financial stateméor a description of rece
accounting pronouncements that may have a significapact on our financial reporting and our expéiohs of their impact on our results
operations and financial condition.
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosires About Market Risk

Changes in United States interest rates would tetffiecinterest earned on our cash and cash egnofsale

Based on our overall cash and cash equivalentsesiteate exposure at March 31, 2015, a ten-change in interest rates, base
historical movements, would not have a materiakask effect on our financial position or result®pérations.

We have operated primarily in the United Statesokdingly, we have not had any significant expogar®reign currency rate
fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our annual consolidated financial statements ar@ded in Iltem 15 of this report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants arcéunting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedwe

The term “disclosure controls and procedures” (ofiin Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities and &gd Act of 1934 (theExchang
Act”) refers to the controls and other procedures of mpamy that are designed to ensure that informaiguired to be disclosed by
company in the reports that it files under the Exae Act is recorded, processed, summarized ardtegpwithin the required time perio
Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive ¢ffiand Chief Financial Officer, we hi
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofifegn and operation of our disclosure controts @iocedures, as of March 31, 2015. Bi
on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer aldief Financial Officer concluded that our diseltes controls and procedures were effec
as of March 31, 2015 to ensure the timely disclesirequired information in our Securities and liattge Commission filings.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contre¢iofinancial reporting may not prevent or dete@dstatements. In addition, the desig
any system of control is based upon certain assangabout the likelihood of future events, andé¢hman be no assurance that any desigi

succeed in achieving its stated goals under allréuevents, no matter how remote. Accordingly, es#ective internal control over financ
reporting can only provide reasonable assuraneelitving their control objectives.
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(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over iancial Reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FitariReporting which appears on the following pagacorporated herein by this
reference.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repting

During the quarter ended March 31, 2015, there were&hanges in our internal control over financgborting that have materia
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeef, our internal control over financial reporting

Iltem 9B. Other Information

Based on the recommendation of the Compensationn@idee and approval by the Board, Mr. Jerrell Wel8in, the company’
President and Chief Executive Officer, was awaraeaption to purchase 387,500 shares of the Compaaynmon stock at an exercise p
equal to the closing price of the Compangbmmon stock on the date of the grant, or $4e8Gpare, on December 18, 2014, of which 26:
shares were not granted pursuant to any of the @oyg equity incentive plans. The option vests in migntiver four years and expit
December 17, 2024. The foregoing description idifig in its entirety by reference to the optiograement, which is attached as Exhibit 1
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorpedaby reference herein.
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CRYOPORT, INC.
MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible fabkshing and maintaining effective internal cohver financial reporting and 1
the assessment of the effectiveness of internaraoaver financial reporting. The Compasyinternal control over financial reporting i
process designed, as defined in Rule 18} under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1984rovide reasonable assurance regardin
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of consolidated financial statements for exaémurposes in accordance with accour
principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica.

The Company’s internal control over financial repw is supported by written policies and proceduheat:

* pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaralsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect thengsactions and dispositions of
Compan's assets

e provide reasonable assurance that transactionree@weded as necessary to permit preparation ofotidaged financial statements
accordance with accounting principles generallyeptad in the United States of America, and thagipts and expenditures of
Company are being made only in accordance withoaiztitions of the Compa’s management and directors;

e provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiotimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use disposition of th
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect ondheddidated financial statemen

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tamisstatements. Projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of the Companghnual consolidated financial statements, manegerof the Company h
undertaken an assessment of the effectivenesg @dmpanys internal control over financial reporting basedcaiteria established in Inter
Control — Integrated Framework (1992) issued by @mnmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Twead Commission ¢the COS(
Framework”). Management's assessment included atuation of the design of the Compasyhternal control over financial reporting i
testing of the operational effectiveness of the @any’s internal control over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, management has conthateithe Companyg’ internal control over financial reporting waseetive as ¢
March 31, 2015.

By: /s/ JERRELL W. SHELTOM
Jerrell W. Shelton
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

By: /s/ ROBERT STEFANOVICF
Robert Stefanovict
Chief Financial Office

May 19, 2015
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required under this item is incagied by reference from our definitive proxy stagemrelated to our 2015 Anni
Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy Statemenbeddiled pursuant to Regulation 14A, on or befawly 31, 2015.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTI CIPATION
None.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Executive Officers of the Company
The Company’s current executive officers are agw:

Jerrell W. Shelton, age 69, became President aimaf Ekecutive Officer of the Company on Novembef812. He served on the Bo
of Directors and standing committees of Solera kgg, Inc. from April 2007 through November 201Y¥ofa June 2004 to May 20(
Mr. Shelton was the Chairman and CEO of Wellness, b provider of advanced, integrated hospitdl@imical environments. Prior to that,
served as CEO of IBM'WebFountain. From October 1998 to October 1999 SYelton was Chairman, President and CEO of NGliHgs
I, Inc. Between October 1996 and July 1998, he R@sident and CEO of Continental Graphics Holditgs. and from October 1991 to J
1996, Mr. Shelton served as President and CEO ofriBlon Business Information Group. Mr. Shelton h&3 in Business Administrati
from the University of Tennessee and an M.B.A. fidarvard University. Mr. Shelton currently servestbe Advisory Board of Directors a
the Nominating and Stewardship committee of thetlSsohnian Institution Libraries.

Robert S. Stefanovich, age 50, became Chief Fiah@ificer, Treasurer and Corporate Secretary lier Company on June 27, 2
following the Company’s filing of its Form 18—for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. Fromeld5, 2012 to November 4, 2012,
Stefanovich served as the Principal Executive @ffiaf the Company. From November 2007 through Ma@hl, Mr. Stefanovich served
Chief Financial Officer of Novalar Pharmaceuticdls;., a venturdacked specialty pharmaceutical company. Prioh#t, the held seve
senior positions, including interim Chief Financiafficer of Xcorporeal, Inc., a publicly traded niesl device company, Executive V
President and Chief Financial Officer of Artemideimational Solutions Corporation, a publicly trddsoftware company, Chief Financ
Officer and Secretary of Aethlon Medical Inc., abficly traded medical device company and Vice Rlesi of Administration at SAIC,
Fortune 500 company. Mr. Stefanovich also servea m&mber of the Software Advisory Group and aniAMdnager with Price Waterhot
LLP’s (now PricewaterhouseCoopers)taéh practice in San Jose, CA and Frankfurt, Geymide currently also serves as a board memt
Project InVision International, a provider of buseis performance improvement solutions. He recdngdlasters of Business Administrat
and Engineering from University of Darmstadt, Gemgna

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
The following table contains information with respéo the compensation for the fiscal years endagickl 31, 2015 and 2014 of our cl

executive officer, chief financial officer and foemchief executive officer. We refer to the exeeaitdfficers identified in this table as
“Named Executive Officers.”

Option All Other Total
Fiscal Salary (1) Bonus Awards (4) Compensatior Compensatior
Name and Principal Positic Year (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)
Jerrell W. Sheltoi 201t 300,00((3) — 1,625,91(2) — 1, 925,91
President and Chief Executive Offi 201« 300,00((3) — 930,35{(2) — 1,230,35!
Robert S. Stefanovic 201¢ 225,00((3) — 307,6945) — 532,69!
Chief Financial Office 201¢ 225,00((3) — 201,02¢(5) — 426,02t

(1) This column represents salary as of the last pageosiod prior to or immediately after March 31ezch fiscal yeal

(2) This amount represents the fair value of all optignanted to Mr. Shelton as compensation for sesvis a director and officer of
Company during fiscal year 2015 and 2014. Basethemecommendation of the Compensation Committdeapproval by the Boai
on December 18, 2014 and June 28, 2013, Mr. Sheleangranted an option to purchase 387,500 an@32%5hares, respectively,
common stock in connection with his engagementtasf@&xecutive Officer of the Compan

(3) This amount represents the annual base salary
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(4) This column represents the total grant dabevialue of all stock options granted in fiscall80and the Company’fiscal year ends
March 31, 2014. Pursuant to SEC rules, the amah®/n exclude the impact of estimated forfeituedated to servicéased vestir
conditions. For information on the valuation asstions with respect to the grants made in fiscal328hd 2014, refer to Note 2 “
Summary of Significant Accounting Polic” in the accompanying consolidated financial states

(5) This amount represents the fair value of all ofgtignanted to Mr. Stefanovich as compensation forices during fiscal 2015 a
2015. Based on the recommendation of the Compens@ommittee and approval by the Board, on DecerhBeP014 and June @
2013, 2012 Mr. Stefanovich was granted an optiopuichase 73,334 and 69,918 shares of common sesgectively. The exerci
price of the options are equal to the fair valu¢hef Compan’s stock as of the grant da

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table
Employment Contract:
Jerrell W. Shelton

On November 5, 2012, the Company entered into gilegment agreement (the “Initial AgreementVith Mr. Shelton with respect to |
employment as President and Chief Executive Offithe Initial Agreement provided a term of six mtetThe Initial Agreement provided
initial annual base salary of $300,000 during tleent.

In addition, on the date of the Initial Agreemeat, Shelton was awarded two options giving him tigiat to acquire an aggregate
137,500 shares of the Company’s common stock aixarcise price equal to the closing price of thenBany's common stock on the date
the Agreement, or $2.40 per share. The aggregaberof shares was determined by dividing $350/@0the closing price of the Compasy’
common stock on the date of the Agreement, or $getGshare, and subtracting 8,334 shares, whitfeisumber of shares of common s
that Mr. Shelton was given the right to purchasespant to the option that was issued to him in egtion with his appointment to the Boar«
Directors on October 22, 2012. The first optioruexs in connection with the Agreement was issuecutite Companyg 2011 Stock Incenti
Plan and provides Mr. Shelton the right to purche4467 shares of the common stock of the Compahich is the maximum that may
awarded to Mr. Shelton in this fiscal year undeshsplan. Mr. Shelton subsequently exercised 54dfehiese shares in May and Noven
2013. The second option provided Mr. Shelton tgatrio purchase 83,334 shares of common stockeo€thmpany and was granted outsic
the Companys incentive plans. The options vest in six equahthly installments during the Term and expire &t darlier of (a) ten years fr
the date of the Agreement, and (b) five (5) yesomfthe date of the resignation and/or removahefMr. Shelton as a member of the Boai
Directors of the Company.

On June 28, 2013, after the expiration of the ahithgreement, the Company entered into a new emmpoy agreement (t
“Agreement”)with Mr. Shelton with respect to his employmentPassident and Chief Executive Officer. The Agreenigreffective throug
May 14, 2017 (the “Term”).

The Agreement provides an initial annual base gaté$300,000 during the Term. In addition, on tiete of the Agreement, N
Shelton was awarded options giving him the righa¢guire an aggregate of 325,209 shares of the @oyfgopcommon stock at an exerc
price equal to the closing price of the Compangommon stock on the date of the Agreement, @433er share, and such options were gr:
outside of the Company’incentive plans. The option vests immediatehhwéspect to 13,551 shares and the remaining tightirchase tt
remaining shares vests in equal monthly installsyent the fifth day of each month for forty six miamteginning on July 5, 2013 and ent
on May 5, 2017. Provided that such vesting willdoeelerated on the date that the Company filesran A®-Q or Form 10k indicating al
income from operations for the Company in two consee fiscal quarters and immediately in the exadra change of control of the Compa

The options expire at the earlier of (a) ten ydaym the date of the Agreement, and (b) twenty f@4) months from the date of -
resignation and/or removal of the Mr. Shelton ageChxecutive Officer of the Company.

Mr. Shelton has agreed during the Term and forrengef one year following the termination of thgement, not to solicit, indus

entice or attempt to solicit, induce, or entice amployee of the Company to leave employment whith €Company. Payments due
Mr. Shelton upon a termination of his employmeneagent are described below.
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Robert S. Stefanovich

Although the Company does not have a written emmpbayt agreement with Mr. Stefanovich, pursuant etédrms of his offer letter, t

Company has agreed to pay Mr. Stefanovich an anmasg salary of $225,000 per year. In additionjsheligible for an incentive bon
targeted at 25% of his annual base salary. MraStafich is eligible to participate in all employleenefits plans or arrangements which me
offered by the Company during the term of his agreet. The Company shall pay the cost of Mr. Stefaris health insurance coverage
accordance with the Compasyplans and policies while he is an employee ofdbmpany. Mr. Stefanovich is also eligible fordih (15) pai
time off days a year, and is entitled to receiviage benefits ordinarily and customarily provideg the Company to its senior office
Payments due to Mr. Stefanovich upon a terminatidmnis employment agreement with the Company aseriteed below.

The Company has no other employment agreementsewgtutive officers of the Company as of MarchZ115.
OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END 2015

The following table shows information regarding xeeised stock options held by our Named Execufiffecers as of fiscal year enc

March 31, 2015:

Equity
Incentive
Plan Awards
Number of Number of Number of
Securities Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option
Options (#) Options (#) Unearned Exercise Expiration
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Options (#) Price ($) Date
Jerrell W. Sheltol 8,334(1) = — 3 2.2¢ 10/22/2:
83,33¢(2) — — % 2.4C 11/5/2:
155,82¢(3) 169,38((3) $ 3.2¢ 6/28/2:
24.22((4) 363,28((4) $ 4.8C 12/18/2:
Robert Stefanovic 9,115(5) 1,30%(5) $ 10.3: 6/20/21
—(6) 3,3346) $ 5.1¢ 8/3/2z
3,125(7) 1,8757) $ 5.1¢ 8/3/2z
30,59((8) 39,32¢8) $ 3.2¢ 6/28/2:
4,584(9) 68,75((9) $ 4.8C 12/18/2:

1)

(2)

3)

(4)

()

Based on the recommendation of the Compensatiom@ib@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Shelton wasgpd an option to purch:
8,334 shares of common stock exercisable at $22&lpare on October 22, 2012 upon joining the boérdirectors. Options vests
twelve equal monthly installments. The exercisegffor shares of common stock pursuant to the ngtie equal to the fair value of
Compan’s stock as of the grant da

Based on the recommendation of the Compensatiom@ib@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Shelton wasgd an option to purchs
137,500 shares of common stock exercisable at §#®A8hare on November 5, 2012, which vests iegual monthly installments. 54,1
of these options were issued under the 2011 stptitroplan and exercised in May and November 204B8&8,884 were issued outsidt
a plan. The exercise price for shares of commorkgtarsuant to the option is equal to the fair eadfithe Companyg’ stock as of the gre
date.

Based on the recommendation of the Compensatiom@tb@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Shelton wastgd an option to purchs
325,209 shares of common stock exercisable at $824hare on June 28, 2013. The option vests®2idBnediately with the remainc
vesting 1/48" per month for 46 months. The exercise price forshares of common stock pursuant to the optionisleto the fair valt
of the Compan’s stock on the date of gra

Based on the recommendation of the Compensatiom@ib@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Shelton wasgd an option to purchs
387,500 shares of common stock exercisable at $eB8hare on December 18, 2014. The option vestonthly installments over a fc
year period, 262,500 shares were issued outsideptEfn. The exercise price for the shares of comsbark pursuant to the option is ec
to the fair value of the Compa’s stock on the date of gra

Based on the recommendation of the Compensationn@tee and approval by the Board, Mr. Stefanovidswgranted an option
purchase 10,417 shares of common stock exerciaaBt0.32 per share on June 20, 2011. The optists e six month installments ove
four year period. The exercise price for the shafesommon stock pursuant to the option is equahéofair value of the Comparsystocl
on the date of gran
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(6) Based on the recommendation of the Compensationn@b@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Stefanovidisvgranted an option
purchase 3,334 shares of common stock exercisal§ig. 56 per share on August 3, 2012. The optiomsveased on certain performa
criteria. The exercise price for the shares of comrstock pursuant to the option is equal to thevfalue of the Compang’stock on th
date of gran

(7) Based on the recommendation of the Compensationn@tb@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Stefanovicisvgranted an option
purchase 5,000 shares of common stock exercisaBle 6 per share on August 3, 2012. The optiotsviessix month installments ove
four year period. The exercise price for the shafesommon stock pursuant to the option is equahéofair value of the Compars/stocl
on the date of grai

(8) Based on the recommendation of the Compensationn@b@e and approval by the Board, Mr. Stefanovidisvgranted an option
purchase 69,918 shares of common stock exercigal#id.24 per share on June 28, 2013. The optiostsiveequal monthly installmer
over four years. The exercise price for the shafemmmon stock pursuant to the option is equahéofair value of the Comparsy/stocl
on the date of gran

(9) Based on the recommendation of the Compensationn@tbee and approval by the Board, Mr. Stefanovicisvgranted an option
purchase 73,334 shares of common stock exercisab$.80 per share on December 18, 2014. The aptiest in equal montfr
installments over four years. The exercise praetlfie shares of common stock pursuant to the mpsicequal to the fair value of 1
Compan’s stock on the date of gra

Potential Payments On Termination Or Change In Cook

Pursuant to Mr. Shelton’s employment agreememrifShelton terminates the Agreement, dies, oeliminated for “Cause’ak define
in the agreement), he will be entitled to all comgegtion and benefits that he earned through the afatermination. If he is terminated
Cause, the Company may, to the extent allowed Wy dat off losses, fines or damages that he hasedaas a result of his misconduct. If
terminated “without cause’aé defined in the agreement), he will be entitled tcontinuation of his base salary for three meritilowing
termination and one half of unvested options aslaie of termination shall become fully vested. ie event the Company terminates
employment, except if for “Causeag defined in the agreement), within twelve (12)nthe after a Change in Control (as defined ir
Cryoport, Inc. 2011 Stock Incentive Plan), then, Ehelton will be entitled to: (i) the continuatiof his base salary for twelve (12) mor
following the date of termination, which shall baighin accordance with the Compasgrdinary payroll practices in effect from timetime
and which shall begin on the first payroll periothiediately following the date on which the geneeiase and waiver becomes irrevoc:
and (ii) all options previously granted to Mr. Sloel will become fully vested and exercisable athefdate of termination.

Pursuant to Mr. Stefanovich’s employment offerthie event that Mr. Stefanovichemployment with the Company is terminated
result of a “change of control,” as is defined e tCompanys 2009 Stock Incentive Plan, he will be entitleddoeive a severance payn
equal to twelve months of his base salary, contionaf health benefits for a period of twelve ntmsitand the unvested portion of his s
option grants immediately shall vest in full. Segialy, in the event his employment is terminatedheyCompany for reasons other than c:
Mr. Stefanovich will be entitled to receive a sarere payment equal to six months of his base splas/continuation of health benefits fc
period of six months.

The 2002 Plan, 2009 Plan and 2011 Plan each prakaten the event of a “change of contralie applicable option agreement r
provide that such options or shares will becoméy fuésted and may be immediately exercised by #msgn who holds the option, at
discretion of the board.

The Company does not provide any additional paysmeminamed executive officers upon their resigmattermination, retirement,
upon a change of control.

Change in Control Agreements

There are no understandings, arrangements or agregiknown by management at this time which woetdiit in a change in control
the Company or any subsidiary.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Compensation for the Board is governed by the CayipaCompensation Committee.

46




Director Fees

Effective May 3, 2012 through December 31, 2014, ¢hsh compensation that each eamployee director was paid $40,000 annu
except for the non-employee Chairman of the Boand was paid $56,000 annually. In addition, each-exmployee director who served
Chairman of one or more Board Committees was padgiitianal cash compensation of $8,000 annuallyafb€ommittee Chairmanships.

Effective January 1, 2015, the compensation plamém-employee directors was changed as follows:

Director fees will be paid in cash, restricted sisanf the Compang’common stock or a combination thereof, at theoopmif the director

Option 1: Cash compensation of $40,000, paid qrgrte

Option 2: Cash compensation of $13,000, paid qraréand $27,000 converted into common stock ushegwolume weighted avere
price (VWAP) of the stock for the last five daysthe trading month ending each quarter, plus amangrant of options, on the date of
Company’s annual meeting, to purchase 16,667 sloitte Company’s common stock; or

Option 3: No cash compensation but $40,000 condénte common stock using the volume weighted ayearice (VWAP) of the stor
for the last five days of the trading month end@agh quarter and paid quarterly. This option camid 5% premium, as there is no cash o
to the Company. The calculation would be $40,00D26 = $46,000 / VWAP.

In addition to the compensation options above dhewing compensation applies to nemployee directors chairing a Board commi
This compensation will be paid on the same basika®irector chose from the options described abov

Chairman/Lead Directc $ 25,00(
Audit Committee $ 20,00(
Compensation Committe $ 10,00(
Nominating and Corporate Governance Comm $ 10,00(

Director Stock Option Grant:

Annual awards were granted at the shareholdersimyeah September 6, 2013. Mr. Rathmann and Mr. \&fasan were each granted
option to purchase 6,667 and 4,167 shares, regphgtof the Company’s common stock with an exergisce of $4.56 per share.

On September 13, 2013, Mr. Zecchini was grantedpdion to purchase 8,334 shares of the Commacgimmon stock with an exerc
price of $4.80 per share when he joined the board.

On June 16, 2014, Dr. Mandalam was granted anmoptipurchase 8,334 shares of the Commoghmmon stock, with an exercise p
of $5.40 per share when he joined the board.

Annual awards were granted at the shareholdersimgeat August 29, 2014. Mr. Rathmann, Mr. Zecclind Mr. Mandalam were ez
granted an option to purchase 6,667, 4,167 and/4&héres, respectively, of the Compangdmmon stock with an exercise price of $5.0:
share.

On December 18, 2014, Mr. Rathmann, Mr. Zecchid . Mandalam were each granted an option to @sehl 7,500, 10,834 ¢
10,834 shares, respectively, of the Company’s comshack with an exercise price of $4.80 per share.

On January 12, 2015, Mr. Berman was granted ammpt purchase 16,667 shares of the Commaocgmmon stock, with an exerc
price of $4.56 per share when he joined the board.

The following table sets forth the director compaitn of the non-employee directors of the Compduming fiscal 2015.

Fees Earnec

Or Paid in Stock Option All Other

Cash Awards Awards Compensation Total
Name ®@) (%) ®2) (%) (%)
Richard Rathman 66,68¢ — 101,92: — 168,60¢
Stephen Wasserman | 20,00( — — — 20,00(
Ramkumar Mandalam(« 31,66 — 101,70¢ — 133,37!
Edward Zecchin 48,50( — 63,26¢ — 111,76
Richard Berman (£ 20,12¢ — 64,28’ — 84,41
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(1) Fees earned or paid in cash as shown in this sttheghresent payments and accruals for dire’ services earned during fiscal 2C

(2) This column represents the total grant date fduevaf all stock options granted in fiscal 2015rdant to SEC rules, the amounts sh
exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures reldtedervicebased vesting conditions. For information on thiiation assumptions wi
respect to the grants made in fiscal 2015, refétdte 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policida”"the accompanying consolida
financial statement:

(3) Mr. Stephen Wasserman served as director of thep@oythrough the Compa’s annual meeting of stockholders on August 29, :
(4) Dr. Ramkumar Mandalam became a member of the Boahdne 201«
(5) Mr. Richard Berman became a member of the Boadaimary 201!

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the Board has furnished fiblilowing report on the Company’audit procedures and its relationship wit
independent registered public accounting firm fecdl 2015.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed téhiCompanys management the audited consolidated financiedratents. The Auc
Committee has also discussed with KMJ Corbin & CampLLP the matters required to be discussed byithgdStandards No. 61,
amended (AICPA Professional Standards, Vol. 1, Addti®n 380), as adopted by the Public Company Agtiog Oversight Board in RL
3200T which includes, among other items, mattdegerd to the conduct of the audit of the Compangssolidated financial statements.

The Companys independent registered public accounting firm, X®brbin & Company LLP, also provided to the Au@immittee th
written disclosures and the letter required by Plublic Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB)i& and Independence Rules
Standards as adopted by the PCAOB, and the Auditriitiee discussed with the independent registetddigpaccounting firm that firng
independence.

Based on the review and discussions referred tweabihe Audit Committee recommended to the Boasd the audited consolidai
financial statements be included in the Companyiaueal Report Form 10-K for fiscal 2015 filed witiet SEC.

Audit Committee

Richard Berman (Chairma
Richard Rathmann
Edward Zecchin

Pursuant to Instruction 1 to Item 407(d) of RetataS-K, the information set forth under “Audit @mittee Report’shall not be deem
to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” withhie SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C, othantas provided in Item 407 of Regulation S
K, or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Excluge Act, except to the extent that we specificadiguest that the information be treate
soliciting material or specifically incorporate lity reference into a document filed under the SéesriAct or the Exchange Act. St
information will not be deemed incorporated by refee into any filing under the Securities Act loe Exchange Act, except to the exten
specifically incorporate it by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth information with pest to the beneficial ownership of the Compamydmmon stock as of May 8, 2015,
each person or group of affiliated persons knowthto Company to beneficially own 5% or more ofdtsnmon stock, each director, e
named executive officer, and all of its directonsl anamed executive officers as a group. As of Mag®5, there were 5,025,577 share
common stock outstanding. Unless otherwise indibatee address of each beneficial owner listedvbédoc/o Cryoport, Inc., 20382 Bare
Sea Circle, Lake Forest, CA 92630.
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The following table gives effect to the shares @iheon stock issuable within 60 days of May 8, 2Qifgn the exercise of all options i
other rights beneficially owned by the indicatedcg&holders on that date. Unless otherwise indigdtexlpersons named in the table have
voting and sole investment control with respedlishares beneficially owned.

Number of Shares Number of Shares Percentage of Share

of Preferred Stock of Common Stock of Common Stock
Beneficial Owner Beneficially Ownec  Beneficially Owned(2  Beneficially Owned (6
Executive Officers and Directors:
Jerrell W. Sheltol 15,48: 436,64{1) 8.1%
Robert S. Stefanovic 60,06%(1) 1.2%
Richard Rathman 13,54{(4) 386,11°(1) 7.4%
Edward Zecchin 13,33¢1) *
Ramkumar Mandalam Ph.| 13,33¢1) *
Richard Bermal 1,66%(5) 11,28¢(1) *
All directors and named executive officers as aigr(® persons 920,78:(1) 16.1%
Other Stockholders:
Cranshire Capital Master Fundj 287,4641) 5.4%
Total for all Directors, Executive Officers and @tlStockholder 1,208,25. 20.1%

*  Represents less than

(1) Includes shares which individuals shown abaseetthe right to acquire as of May 8, 2015, or im0 days thereafter, pursuant to
outstanding stock options and/or warrants as fdldvr. Shelton—379,445 shares; Mr. Stefanovich—68,6hares; Mr. Rathmann—
225,832 of which 65,568 are individually owned by. Rathmann and 160,264 are owned by GBR Invessidr® of which Mr.
Rathmann is the manager; Mr. Zecchini—13,334; Danifalam—13,334 shares; Mr. Berman—7,118 sharegs@ira Capital—287,469
shares

(2) The number and percentage of shares beneficalhed is determined in accordance with Rule 18dtBe Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and the information is not necessarily intieaof beneficial ownership for any other purpddader such rule, beneficial ownership
includes any shares as to which the selling sechalder has sole or shared voting power or investrpower and also any shares which
the selling security holder has the right to acgwithin 60 days

(3) Cranshire Capital Master Fund, Ltd. address is 31Mdee Road, Suite 703, Northbrook, IL 60C

(4) GBR Investments, LLC of which Mr. Rathmann is thenager

(5) Mrs. Richard Berman, spouse of Mr. Berm

(6) Includes preferred stock converted on-to-1 basis

Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

We currently maintain three equity compensatiomplaeferred to as the 2002 Stock Incentive Plaa (2002 Plan”)the 2009 Stoc

Incentive Plan (the “2009 Plan”) and the 2011 Stimdentive Plan (the “2011 Plan'Qur Compensation Committee is responsible for ntg

reviewing and recommending grants of options aherosawards under these plans which are approvéebgoard.

The 2002 Plan, which was approved by our stockhsldeOctober 2002, allows for the grant of optidtmgpurchase up to 41,667 sh:
of the Companys common stock. The 2002 Plan provides for thetgramf options to purchase shares of our commooksat prices not le
than the fair market value of the stock at the déditgrant and generally expire 10 years after the @f grant. The stock options are subje

vesting requirements, generally three or four yebine 2002 Plan also provides for the grantingestricted shares of common stock subje
vesting requirements. As of June 30, 2013, no shan@ available for future issuances as the 20@2 s expired.
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The 2009 Plan, which was approved by our stockhsldeour 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders haidOctober 9, 2009, provic
for the grant of stockased incentives. The 2009 Plan allows for the tgpdrup to 100,000 shares of our common stock feards to oL
officers, directors, employees and consultants. Z0@9 Plan provides for the grant of incentive ktoptions, nonqualified stock optio
restricted stock rights, restricted stock, perfanogshare units, performance shares, performarste ammards, stock appreciation rights,
stock grant awards. The 2009 Plan also permitggthat of awards that qualify for the “performanaeséd compensatioréxception to th
$1,000,000 limitation on the deduction of compeiosaimposed by Section 162(m) of the Code. As oyMa2015, a total of 25,314 share
our common stock remained available for future tgramder the 2009 Plan.

The 2011 Plan, as amended, which was approved bgtockholders at our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stadétbrs held on September
2011 and, with respect to the amendments, at o@R,22013, and 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholdezfd lon September 13, 20
September 6, 2013 and August 29, 2014, respectipedyides for the grant of stodlased incentives. The 2011 Plan allows for thetgrvhog
to 1,158,334 shares of our common stock for awtrdsir officers, directors, employees and constdtafhe 2011 Plan provides for the g
of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock ops, restricted stock rights, restricted stockfgyerance share units, performance sh
performance cash awards, stock appreciation rigiig,stock grant awards. The 2011 Plan also pethétgrant of awards that qualify for
“performance-based compensati@xception to the $1,000,000 limitation on the deiduncof compensation imposed by Section 162(mhe
Code. Awards may be granted under the 2011 PlahSeyptember 21, 2021 or until all shares availdbteAwards under the 2011 Plan h
been purchased or acquired unless the stockhadi¢he Company vote to approve an extension o281l Plan prior to such expiration d
As of May 8, 2015, a total of 30,190 shares rentheilable for future grants under the 2011 Plan.

In addition to the stock options issued pursuanthts Companys three stock incentive plans, the Company hastegawarrants 1
employees, officers, non-employee directors andalbents. The warrants are generally not subjewesting requirements and have tera
terms.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Cpensation Plans

The following table sets forth certain informatias of March 31, 2015 concerning the Compamgmmon stock that may be issued t
the exercise of options or warrants or pursuamuiehases of stock under the 2002 Plan, the 2089, fie 2011 Plan and other stock b
compensation:

@ () . ©
Number of Securities Weighted-Average Available for Future
to be Issued Upon th  Exercise Price of Issuance Under Equity

Exercise of Outstanding Compensation Plans

Outstanding Options Options and (Excluding Securities

Plan Category and Warrants Warrants Reflected in Column (a)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockhol 1,027,56. $ 5.1¢€ 182,79¢
Equity compensation plans not approved by stocldrs(d) 788,08t $ 6.3¢€ N/A
1,815,65! 182,79t

(1) During November 5, 2012 through December 18, 2@lital of 766,181options outstanding were grategimployees outside of
option plan of which 671,043 shares were issuddrtdShelton. In the past the Company has issuedants to purchase 27,285 shi
of common stock in exchange for services provideth¢ Company, of which warrants to purchase 21s@%es of common stock
outstanding and expire through June 2019. The Eeeprices ranged from $33.60 to $129.60 and géyerasted upon issuant
Fifteen consultants and former officers and directeceived warrants to purchase 27,285 sharesnofon stock in this manne

The table above excludes options to purchase 46568 20,834 shares of common stock granted on M&p15 to employees a
members of the board of directer'respectively, with an exercise price of $7.80 gfere, of which 355,000 shares were issued autsid
plan. The exercise price for the shares of comnmmekspursuant to the option is equal to the fairkeavalue of the Company’common stoc
on the date of grant.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence.

The Company has established policies and otheregdues regarding approval of transactions betwleerCompany and any employ
officer, director, and certain of their family meerb and other related persons, including thoseinesjdo be reported under Item 404
Regulation K. These policies and procedures are generallymeatiting, but are evidenced by long standing piptes set forth in our Co
of Conduct or adhered to by our Board. As set fortthe Audit Committee Charter, the Audit Comnétreviews and approves all relateakty
transactions after reviewing such transaction fdeptial conflicts of interests and improprieti@scordingly, all such relatedarty transactior
are submitted to the Audit Committee for ongoingie® and oversight. Generally speaking, we ent&r melatedparty transactions only
terms that we believe are at least as favorabbeit@ompany as those that we could obtain fromraalated third party.

The following relatedparty transaction were approved or ratified byesst two independent directors and future materfiiated
transactions will be approved by a majority of ihgependent directors who do not have an intenetta transaction and who had access, i
issuer’'s expense, to issuer’s or independent emaisel.

On May 9, 2013, Richard Rathmann, Director, inves$¢00,000 in the Bridge Notes offered by the Camgptp certain accredit
investors. For information on terms related toBhnieige Notes, refer to Note 8 “Convertible DebeatuPayable” in the Company’s Form KO-
for the period ended March 31, 2013 filed with BEC on June 25, 2013. In addition, on July 12,32@BR Investments, LLC, invest
$100,000 in the Bridge Notes offered by the Comp@angertain accredited investors and also receivadirrant to purchase 33,334 share
common stock at an exercise price of $3.00 pereshaursuant to the terms of such offering. RichRedhmann is the Manager of G
investments, LLC and is considered an indirect fieila¢ owner of these securities.

During the year ended March 31, 2014, the Compsasiyed to certain accredited investors various wmedgromissory notes with 1
terms as described under Note 8 in the accomparnyimgh 31, 2015 consolidated financial statementese unsecured promissory n
included $120,000 of the 5% Bridge Notes issuedetwell Shelton, the CompaisyChief Executive Officer, $100,000 of the Bridget&t
issued to Richard Rathmann, a member of the Bdaldrectors of the Company, $200,000 of the Brid\ies and $100,000 of the 5% Bri
Notes issued to GBR Investments, LLC, of which RitchRathmann, is the manager. In May 2014, botk hotders elected to convert
principal and interest into a newly establisheds€la Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants t@whmse common stock of Cryopori
further described in Note 11 in the accompanyingsotidated financial statements. In November 20b#h Mr. Shelton and GBR Investme
LLC participated in the Class A convertible preéefistock offering and the Company issued 4,167shairClass A convertible preferred st
each in exchange for an aggregate amount of $100,00

As of March 31, 2015, we had an aggregate prindjaddnce of $1.3 million, in unsecured indebtedrmsed to five related partie
including four former members of the Board of Dimes, representing working capital advances madss twom February 2001 through Ma
2005. Accrued interest related to these notes atadun $4,600 as of March 31, 2015.

In March 2015, we entered into definitive agreementating to the exchange or amendment of thesratielencing such working cap
advances. Three of the notes issued to PatrickindulM.D., Maryl Petreccia and Jeffrey Dell, M.Dwhich as of March 31, 2015 h
outstanding principal balances of $448,200, $26%,d@0d $208,900, respectively, were amended andhdlders received warrants for
purchase 37,347, 22,224, and 17,412 shares, ragggcof our common stock at an exercise pric&®00 per share, exercisable on Marc
2015 and expiring on March 1, 2020, and warranfsurchase 834, 417, and 417 shares, respectiidlyge mur common stock, exercisable
March 2, 2015 and expiring on March 1, 2020, tontmirse the three note holders for any fees or @kgenses incurred in connection with
transaction. The notes, as amended, require ihteagsents on a calendar quarterly basis and &tanding principal and accrued interes
the maturity date, which is the earlier to occur(ipfMarch 1, 2016, (ii) the sale of all or substalty all of our assets, or (iii) the merg
consolidation or other similar reorganization of iompany or an affiliate of our Company with amotantity. Under the terms of such n
upon the closing of a public offering pursuant moedfective registration statement under the S&earAct of 1933, as amended, resulting |
least $5,000,000 of gross cash proceeds to the @wyripr the sale of shares of Common Stock or theduthe sale of shares of Common S
among the sale of other securities, the holdethmgption to convert into the securities issueduoh offering at a twenty percent (20%) tc
price per share (or per unit, if applicable) of #exurities issued by the Company in such offeririte securities issued to the holder L
conversion will be restricted securities.

One note issued to Raymond Takahashi, M.D., walsasged for (i) a new convertible promissory notthvain original principal amou
equal to the outstanding principal and interegheforiginal note, and (ii) a warrant to purchag®@ shares of the Compasycommon stock
an exercise price of $6.00 per share, exercisableebruary 20, 2015 and expiring on February 1982The new note, which as of March
2015 had an outstanding principal balance of $35,88quires interest payments on a calendar qlabiasis and all outstanding principal
accrued interest on the maturity date, which isdfial, 2016. Under the terms of such note, upomrlidegng of a public offering pursuant to
effective registration statement under the Seasrithct of 1933, as amended, resulting in at le&sd0R,000 of gross cash proceeds tc
Company for the sale of shares of Common Stockdudes the sale of shares of Common Stock amangale of other securities, the ho
has the option to convert into the securities idsnesuch offering at a twenty percent (20%) to jthiee per share (or per unit, if applicable
the securities issued by the Company in such offefThe securities issued to the holder upon caimemill be restricted securities.
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One note issued to Marc Grossman, M.D., which aslarfch 31, 2015 had an outstanding principal baapic$298,500, as amend
now provides for interest at a rate of 6% per anmommencing on March 13, 2015; however, no intgragments will be due if no event
default occurs and if the Company (i) complies viighregular payment obligations, reimburses thgepdor attorneysfees in connection wi
the negotiation of the Note Amendment, up to a maxh amount of $1,000, on the later of (A) March 2815, or (B) three (3) days al
receiving written notice from the payee of the antoaf attorneysfees incurred by payee, and (iii) the Company imiatety pays all unpa
amounts due and payable in full before the eadidvlay 1, 2016 or at the same time that payee(gngf other promissory note(s) with
Company that were issued in 2005 are paid in fefole May 1, 2016, other than (Y) notes that atésfead upon conversion into comn
stock, warrants or any other equity of the Compamy(Z) notes that have been paid in full beforeréia2, 2015. All principal and inter:
under the Original Note, as amended by the Note ment, will be due and shall be paid on May 1,&00he note requires montl
payments of $20,000, except for the month of JWib2where the monthly payment is $72,000.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLI ANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Gomis directors and executive officers, and persons adio more than 10% of
registered class of the Compasigquity securities, to file with the SEC reportsbeneficial ownership and reports of changes ineffieial
ownership in the Comparg/'securities. Such directors, executive officerd 20% stockholders are also required to furnishGbmpany witl
copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on a review of the copies of such $oreteived by it, the Company believes that dufisical 2015, all Section 16(a) filin
applicable to its directors, officers, and 10% ktmiders were filed on a timely basis, except thatell Shelton had two late reports for
transactions, Richard Rathmann had two late repomsthree transactions, Mandalam Ramkumar Ph.[0l tweo late reports for thr
transactions, Robert Stefanovich had one late tépoone transaction, Ed Zecchini had one lat®rejor two transactions.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Independent Registered Public Accounting FirrFees

The following table shows the fees that were bitledis for the audit and other services provided&bld Corbin & Company LLP (“KMJJ
for the Company'’s fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014.

2015 2014
Audit Fees $ 76,30 $ 69,32¢
Audit-Related Fee 19,77¢
Tax Fees 9,27¢ 7,10(
$ 105,35( $ 76,42¢

The fees billed to us by KMJ during or relatedhe fiscal years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 sbokaudit fees, audielated fee
and tax fees, as follows:

Audit Fees. Represents the aggregate fees billed to us foegsainal services rendered for the audit of ounahconsolidated financi
statements and for the reviews of our consolidfitedhcial statements included in our Form 10-Qn{js for each fiscal quarter.

Audit-Related FeesRepresents the aggregate fees billed to us forrassel and related services that are reasonabliedeta thi
performance of the audit and review of our consaéd financial statements that are not alreadyrtegan Audit Fees. These services inc
accounting consultations and attestation servitaisare not required by statute such as S-1 andllags.

Tax FeesRepresents the aggregate fees billed to us foepsainal services rendered for tax returns, comgdiaand tax advice.

All Other FeesWe did not incur any other fees to KMJ during tisedl years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014.
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Policy on Audit Committee PrApproval of Fees

The Audit Committee must pre-approve all servicebe performed for us by our independent audi®rsapproval is granted usually
regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit Committeunanticipated items arise between regularlhesiuled meetings of the Au
Committee, the Audit Committee has delegated aitthtw the chairman of the Audit Committee to @@prove services, in which case
chairman communicates such @eproval to the full Audit Committee at its next eting. The Audit Committee also may approve
additional unanticipated services by either convgra special meeting or acting by unanimous writtensent. During the fiscal years en
March 31, 2015 and 2014, all services billed by Kivete pre-approved by the Audit Committee in acano# with this policy.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a)(1)Consolidated Financial Statements:
Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 20d2@h4 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeagded March 31, 2015 and 2C F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ (Deficit) Equity for the years ended March 31, 2@hs 201< F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraled March 31, 2015 and 2C F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-7

(2)(2) Financial Statement Scheduleall financial statement schedules are omitted beeathey are not applicable or the reqt
information is included in the Consolidated Finah&tatements or notes thereto.

(2)(3) Exhibits.
Exhibits

Exhibit

No. Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatibthe Company, as amended. Incorporated byereée to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Compémgorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the @amy’s Current Report on
Form &K dated October 23, 201

3.3 Cryoport Systems, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plaspé&etl by the Board of Directors on October 1, 20B2orporated by referen
to Exhibit 3.13 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

3.4 Amended and Restated Certificate of Designadf Class A Preferred Stock. Incorporated byresfee to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 26, 201!

3.5 Certificate of Designation of Class B Preddr6tock. Incorporated by reference to Exhibitdd.the Companys Current Report ¢
Form ¢-K dated February 20, 201

3.6 Amendment to Certificate of Designation cA€3l B Preferred Stock. Incorporated by referem&&ryoports Amendment No. 1
Registration Statement on Forr-1 dated April 17, 2015 and referred to as Exhilst

3.7+ Certificate of Change filed with the Nevada Searetd State on May 12, 201

4.1 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dagpteBhber 28, 2007. Incorporated by reference to@mt’'s Registration
Statement on Form ¢-2 dated November 9, 20C

4.2 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May@@8.2ncorporated by reference to Cryoport’'s CurReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 200¢

4.3 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May@B@8.2ncorporated by reference to Cryoport’'s CurReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 200¢
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Exhibit
No. Description

4.4 Form of Warrant and Warrant Certificate imwection with the February 25, 2010 public offeritrgcorporated by reference to
Cryopor’'s Amendment No. 5 to Formr-1/A Registration Statement dated February 9, 2

4.5 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in ection with the August to October 2010 private plaent. Incorporated by
reference to Cryopc's Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201

4.6 Form of First Amendment to Security Purchageeement in connection with the August to Octa®@t0 private placement.
Incorporated by reference to Cryof’ s Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201

4.7 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (Coation of the Placement) in connection with the #stgo October 2010 private
placement. Incorporated by reference to Cryc's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

4.8 Registration Rights Agreement in connectidtih the August to October 2010 private placemertotporated by reference to
Cryopor’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

4.9 Form of Joinder to Registration Rights Agreatrin connection with the August to October 208i0gte placement. Incorporated
by reference to Cryopcs Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

4.10 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement imection with the February 2011 private placemeamtotporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011

411 Form of Registration Rights Agreement inrexstion with the February 2011 private placemertotporated by reference to
Cryoport’'s Registration Statement on Form S-1 détedl 1, 2011.

4.12 Form of Warrant in connection with the AuigiesOctober 2010 private placement. Incorporatedetference to Cryoport’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1/A dated April 22, 2011

4.13 Form of Warrant in connection with the Felip2011 private placement. Incorporated by refegdn Cryoport’s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A dated April 22, 2011

4.14 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement. parated by reference to Cryoport’s Current ReporEorm 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 24, 201

4.15 Form of Registration Rights Agreement. Ipooated by reference to Cryoport's Current ReporEorm 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 24, 201

4.16 Form of Warrant. Incorporated by reference to Coyt's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 20:

4.17 Form of Warrant issued with Convertible Pissory Notes. Incorporated by reference to Exifi0 of Cryoport’s Quarterly

Report on Form 1-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2

4.18 Form of Warrant issued upon Conversion afv@dible Promissory Notes. Incorporated by rafeesto Exhibit 4.21 of
Cryopor’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

4.19 Form of Warrant Issued to Placement Agelrtsorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 of Cryrjs Quarterly Report on Form
1C-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

4.20 Form of Warrant issued with Convertible Pissory Notes (5% Bridge Notes). Incorporated bgnence to Exhibit 4.23 of
Cryopor’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2(

4.21 Form of Warrant issued in connection with kiay 2014 private placement. Incorporated by esfee to Exhibit 4.24 of
Cryopor’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

4.22 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. Incorpdray reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’sr€uir Report on Form B-datec
December 9, 201«
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Exhibit
No.

Description

4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.2.1

10.2.2

10.2.3

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. Incorpdriay reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’sr€uir Report on Form B-datec
February 20, 201!

Form of Warrant issued in connection with Etxchange and Investment Agreement. Incorporatedfbrence to Exhibit 4.1 of
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 9, 201!

Form of March Warrant issued in connectiath whe Investment Agreement. Incorporated by eziee to Exhibit 4.2 of the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 9, 201!

Form of March Fee Warrant issued in cononaatiith the Investment Agreement. Incorporateddfgnence to Exhibit 4.3 of the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 9, 201!

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and D. Petreccia executed on August 26520®orporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and J. Dell executed on September 1, 2B@®rporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and P. Mullens executed on September 25 20@@orporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and R. Takahashi executed on August 25520f@orporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Lease Agreement dated June 26, 2007 bet@s®@Port, Inc. and Viking Investors—Barents Sé&LIncorporated by reference
to CryoPor's Quarterly Report on Form -QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 and reféoras Exhibit 10.!

Second Amendment To Lease: Renewal datgd# 24, 2009, between CryoPort, Inc. and Vikimgehtors-Barents Sea LLC.
Incorporated by reference to Cryof's Amendment No. 1 to Forn-1/A Registration Statement dated January 12, 2

Third Amendment to Lease: Renewal datee 8,)2010 between Viking Investors Barents Se&,.llhcorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5.3 to Cryopo’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Securities Purchase Agreement dated Septeétvib2007. Incorporated by reference to Cryopdregistration Statement on Form
SB-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhibé.

Registration Rights Agreement dated Septe@be2007. Incorporated by reference to CryopdRigjistration Statement on Form
SB-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhibit.

Security Agreement dated September 27, 280@rporated by reference to Cryoport’s Registratbtatement on Form SBeater
November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhibit 1

Securities Purchase Agreement dated Mag@BIB. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’s QurReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1C

Registration Rights Agreement dated May2808. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’s CatrReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1C

Waiver dated May 30, 2008. Incorporateddigrence to Cryoport's Current Report on Form 8ated June 9, 2008 and referred
to as Exhibit 10.12
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.9

10.10

10.111

10.11.2

10.11.3

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23*

10.24*

Security Agreement dated May 30, 2008. Iporated by reference to Cryoport’s Current ReporEorm 8-K dated June 9, 2008
and referred to as Exhibit 10.1

Consent, Waiver and Agreement with Enalben@ Partners LP, Enable Opportunity PartnersRiBrce Diversified Strategy
Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fund atttd Cryoport Inc. and its subsidiary dated JulyZBW9. Incorporated by
reference to Cryopc's Current Report on Forn-K dated July 29, 2009 and referred to as Exhibit8(

Master Consulting and Engineering Sesvitgreement dated October 9, 2007 with KLATU NetwgoiLC and CryoPort, Inc.
Incorporated by reference to Cryoport, Inc.’s Regifon Statement on Form S-8 dated March 25, 20@Preferred to as Exhibit
10.2.

First Amendment to Master Consulting Bndineering Services Agreement dated as of ApriB®9, between CryoPort, Inc.
and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorporated by referertoeCryoport’s Registration Statement on Form S-ddted December 17,
2010 and referred to as Exhibit 10.:

Second Amendment to Master Consultingeargineering Services Agreement dated as of Novethi#10, between CryoPort,
Inc. and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorporated by redeice to Cryoport’s Registration Statement on Fortd/Sdated December
17, 2010 and referred to as Exhibit 10.

Stock Option Agreement ISO under the 2002KSIncentive Plan of Cryoport Systems, Inc. Ipaoated by reference to Exhibit
3.14 to the Compar's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

Stock Option Agreement NSO under the 2aG62kSncentive Plan of Cryoport Systems, Inc. Ipaoated by reference to Exhibit
3.15 to the Compar' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Compangorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of trmpany’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated October 15, 2009 and referred to as Exhihi21.

Form Incentive Stock Option Award Agreemamder the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Comphioprporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.22 of the Compa's Current Report on Forn-K dated October 9, 200

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Awardragment under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan oCiw@pany. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Comp’s Registration Statement on Fori-8 dated April 27, 201(

2011 Stock Incentive Plan (as amendedestdted). Incorporated by reference to Exhibif Bve Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC og 30| 2012

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement. Imaoated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Cryopo@itsrent Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 27, 20

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Awardr&gment. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@038ryoport’s Current Report
on Form i-K filed with the SEC on September 27, 20

Form of Convertible Promissory Note. Inavgied by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Cryopofttsiual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Amendment to Convertible Promis9éoge. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10@&tyoport’s Annual Report on
Form 1(-K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Convertible Promissory Note. Inavgted by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Cryopofttsiual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Employment Agreement between the CompaudyJerrell Shelton. Incorporated by referencévéo@ompanys Current Report ¢
Form &K filed on November 6, 2012 and referred to as Bixti0.45.

Stock Option Agreement dated November03.22between the Company and Jerrell Shelton. Imcated by reference to Exhibit
10.28 to Cryopo’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.25#

10.26*

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42*+

21+

23.1+

Master Agreement between the Company and FedepabEs Corporation dated January 1, 2013. Incorpatay reference to tl
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 8, 2013 and referred to as Bxhib.1.

Employment Agreement dated June 28, 2018 Jerrell Shelton. Incorporated by referenc&xbibit 10.30 to Cryoport’s
Current Report on Formr-K filed with the SEC on July 3, 201

Form of Convertible Promissory Notes isswéd Warrants. Incorporated by reference to EiHib.31 to Cryoport’'s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2

Form of Letter of Tender and Exchange ofporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Cryogduarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2(

Form of Convertible Promissory Note (5%dBg Note) issued with Warrants. Incorporated ligremce to Exhibit 10.33 to
Cryopor’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2(

Form of Subscription Agreement in connection wite May 2014 private placement. Incorporated byregfee to Exhibit 10.34 1
Cryopor’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Election to Convert in connectiathvthe May 2014 private placement. Incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 10.35 to
Cryopor’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Indemnification Agreement. Incomded by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cryoport’'s 1@at Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on July 16, 201

Subscription Agreement and Letter of Investt Intent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibitllto Cryoports Current Report @
Form &K filed with the SEC on December 9, 20

2014 Series Secured Promissory Note. liocatgd by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Cryoportigt@nt Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 9, 20

Security Agreement. Incorporated by refeeein Exhibit 10.3 to Cryoport’s Current Reportiorm 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 9, 201.

Subscription Agreement and Letter of Investt Intent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibitllto Cryoports Current Report @
Form &K filed with the SEC on February 20, 20:

Form of Note Exchange Agreement and Leftémvestment Intent, dated February 19, 2015. iparated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Cryopor's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

Form of Exchange Note issued in connedtiim the Exchange and Investment Agreement. Inaated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to Cryopor's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

Form of Letter of Investment Intent, datéarch 2, 2015. Incorporated by reference to ExHiBi8 to Cryoport’s Current Report
on Form &K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

Form of Amended and Restate Note issuedrnection with the Exchange and Investment Agresnhiecorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to Cryopd’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

Amendment to Simple Interest Commerciahi?ssory Note, dated March 2, 2015. Incorporatedeigrence to Exhibit 10.5 to
Cryopor’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 20:

Stock Option Agreement dated December 18, 2014dmitthe Company and Jerrell Sheli
Subsidiaries of Registrar

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing—KMJ Corbin & Company LLP
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Exhibit
No.

Description

31.1+

31.2+

32.1+

32.2+

101.INS+

101.SCH+

101.CAL+

101.DEF+

101.LAB+

101.PRE+

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puieut to Rule 13-14(a)/15«-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1!
Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursnt to Rule 13-14(a)/15+-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1!

Certification of Principal Executive Offiggursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Ses Exchange Act of 1934 and
18 U.S.C. Section 135

Certification of Principal Financial Officgursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Stes Exchange Act of 1934 and
18 U.S.C. Section 135

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutn
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni

* Indicates a management contract or compensatomyoplarrangemen

# Confidential portions omitted and filed sepanatgith the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commispimsuant to Rule 24B-promulgate
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk

+ Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regidthas duly caused this Ann
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalfi®/undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Cryoport, Inc.

By: /s/ JERRELL W. SHELTOM
Jerrell W. Sheltoi
Chief Executive Officer and Directt

Date: May 19, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this Annual Report on FormKL®as been signed below by
following persons on behalf of the Registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ JERRELL W. SHELTON Chief Executive Officer and Director May 19, 2015
Jerrell W. Sheltor (Principal Executive Officer)

/s ROBERT S. STEFANOVICH Chief Financial Officer May 19, 2015

Robert S. Stefanovic (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ RICHARD G. RATHMANN Director May 19, 2015
Richard G. Rathman

/s/ EDWARD ZECCHINI Director May 19, 2015
Edward Zecchin

/s RAMKUMAR MANDALAM, PH.D. Director May 19, 2015
Ramkumar Mandalam Ph.|

/s/ RICHARD BERMAN Director May 19, 2015
Richard Bermau

59




Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Financial Statements
As of March 31, 2015 and 2014

For Each of the Two Years Ended March 31, 2015




Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Financial Statements

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdingn F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 20d 264 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yedsed March 31, 2015 and 2014 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (DefiEg)ity for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ymaited March 31, 2015 and 2014 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

F-1




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Cryoport, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of CryoPort, Inc. (the “Compang®) of March 31, 2015 and 2014, and
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ (deficit) equity and cash flows for eamhthe years in the twgear period ende
March 31, 2015. These consolidated financial statgmare the responsibility of the Compangianagement. Our responsibility is to exg
an opinion on these consolidated financial statésieased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmliobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are
of material misstatement. An audit includes exangnion a test basis, evidence supporting the ammamd disclosures in the consolid:
financial statements. The Company is not requicethave, nor were we engaged to perform, an auditsahternal control over financ
reporting. Our audits included consideration ofinal control over financial reporting as a basis designing audit procedures that
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiverdthe Company' internal control ow
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no lsupinion. An audit also includes assessing th@wating principles used and signific
estimates made by management, as well as evaludingverall consolidated financial statement preg@®n. We believe that our auc
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetsereferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the consolidated finan
position of CryoPort, Inc. at March 31, 2015 and£20and the results of its operations and its ¢asts for each of the years in the twea
period ended March 31, 2015 in conformity with agtting principles generally accepted in the Unistates of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial stateméate been prepared assuming the Company will asmtas a going concern.
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financiatesnents, the Company has incurred recurring tipgréosses and has had negative
flows from operations since inception. Although @empany has cash and cash equivalents of $1./bmdt March 31, 2015, management
estimated that cash on hand, which include procteds Class B convertible preferred stock receisaldsequent to the fourth quarter of fi:
2015, will only be sufficient to allow the Compatgycontinue its operations into the third quartefiscal 2016. These matters raise subste
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue agommg concern. Managemesithlans in regard to these matters are also desciibNote 1
The consolidated financial statements do not irelaidy adjustments that might result from the outoifrthis uncertainty.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
May 19, 2015
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31,
2015 2014
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,405,18 $ 369,58
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdfttounts of $12,200 and $24,600,
respectively 589,69 515,82!
Inventories 69,68( 29,70:
Other current assets 97,331 196,50!
Total current asse 2,161,90: 1,111,61.
Property and equipment, r 307,92¢ 408,89:
Intangible assets, n 136,82: 180,08t
Deposits and other assets — 9,35¢
Total assets $ 2,606,64 $ 1,709,95!
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' DEFICIT
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and other accrued expe $ 758,69t $ 579,67
Accrued compensation and related expe 725,71: 454,28
Notes payable and accrued interest, net of discafub221,400 at March 31, 20: 535,50° —
Convertible debentures payable and accrued intaresof discount of $184,800 at March =
2014 — 1,622,35'
Related-party notes payable and accrued interesgfrdiscount of $259,600 at March 31,
2015 976,58: 1,358,12
Total current liabilities 2,996,49i 4,014,44!
Related-party notes payable, net of current portion 26,45: —
Total liabilities 3,022,94 4,014,44:

Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder (Deficit) Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 2,500,000 shargésrized
Class A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 paneaB00,000 shares authorized; 454,
and 0 shares issued and outstanding at March 3%, &@d 2014, respectively (aggrec
liguidation preference of $5,758,485 at March 311%) 45¢& —
Class B convertible preferred stock, $0.001 pane;a85,000 shares authorized; 161,
and 0 shares issued and outstanding at March 35, &@d 2014, respectively (aggrec

liquidation preference of $1,944,351 at March 311%) 162 —

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 20,833,333 shartt®azed; 5,025,577 and 4,998,330
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2015 and 2@%gectively 5,02¢ 4,99¢
Additional paic-in capital 97,346,13 83,567,38
Accumulated deficit (97,768,07) (85,876,87)
Total stockholders’ deficit (416,299 (2,304,49)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 2,606,64' $ 1,709,95

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tistents.
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Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended March 31,

Revenue:! $
Cost of revenues

Gross margin

Operating costs and expens
Selling, general and administrati
Research and development

Total operating costs and expenses

Loss from operation
Other (expense) incom
Debt conversion expen:
Interest expens
Other expense, n
Change in fair value of derivatives

Loss before provision for income tax
Provision for income taxes

Net loss
Preferred stock beneficial conversion che
Undeclared cumulative preferred dividends

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

Net loss per share attributable to common stockdre— basic and diluted $

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic amedlil

2015 2014
393532 $ 2,659,94.
2,766,39. 2,222,98
1,168,92! 436,95!
6,409,38. 5,106,21'
352,58( 409,11
6,761,96 5,515,33
(5,593,03) (5,078,37)

— (13,713,76)
(1,428,01) (784,45
(4,266) (8,079
— 20,84¢
(7,025,31) (19,563,82)
(1,600 (1,600
(7,026,91) (19,565,42)
(4,864,29) —
(305,32) —
$ (12,196,53) $  (19,565,42)
(249 $ (4.87)
5,006,21! 4,070,87

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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Balance at March 31, 201

Net loss
Stock-based compensatic
expense
Estimated relative fair
value of warrants issus
in connection with
convertible bridge not¢
payable
Issuance of common sto
upon exercise of
options and warran
Issuance of common sto
units upon conversion
of convertible bridge
notes and accrued
interest
Induced debt conversic
expense
Balance at March 31, 201
Net loss
Stock-based compensatic
expenst
Issuance of Class A
convertible preferred
stock, net of offering
costs of $577,60
Issuance of Class
convertible preferred
stock upon conversior
of 5% bridge notes an
accrued interes
Issuance of Class
convertible preferred
stock, net of offering
costs of $249,00
Issuance of common sto
upon exercise of
options and warran
Accretion of the fair valu
of the Class A and
Class B convertible
preferred stock
beneficial conversion
features and relative fi
value of warrant
Estimated relative fa
value of beneficial
conversion feature of
5% bridge note
Issuance of restricted stc
in connection with
consulting agreemel
Estimated relative fair
value of warrants issus
in connection with
related-party notes
payable
Estimated relative fair
value of warrants issui
in connection with 7%
notes payable

Balance at March 31, 201

Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (DeficiEquity

Class A Class B Total
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Paid-In Capital Deficit (Deficit) Equity
— 3 — — 3 — 314671 $ 3141 $ 6424502 $ (66,311,44) $  (2,063,27)
— — — — — — —  (19,565,42) (19,565,42)
— — — — — — 678,11 — 678,11¢
— _ — — — — 478,22 — 478,22¢
— — — — 131,94 132 326,75! — 326,89(
— — — — 1,719,66! 1,72C 4,125,48 — 4,127,20
_ _ — — — — 13,713,76 — 13,713,76
— — — — 4,998,33 4,99¢ 83,567,38 (85,876,87) (2,304,49)
_ _ — _ — — — (7,026,91) (7,026,91)
— — — — — — 864,30t — 864,30t
291,14. 291 — — — — 2,915,77. — 2,916,06!
163,60t 164 — — — — 1,766,83 — 1,766,99
— 161,70¢ 162 — — 1,691,34. — 1,691,501
— — — — 23,91 24 92,58¢ — 92,60¢
— — — — — — 4,864,29: (4,864,29) —
— — — — — — 826,91¢ — 826,91¢
— — — — 3,33¢ 3 17,39% — 17,40(
— — — — — — 280,37( — 280,37(
— — — — — — 458,93 — 458,93
454,75( $ 45E 161,70¢ $ 162 5,025,57 $ 5,02¢ $ 97,346,13 $ (97,768,07) $ (416,29Y)

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.

F-5




Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended March 31,

2015 2014
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (7,026,91) $ (19,565,42)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 197,93t 311,59(
Amortization of debt discount and deferred finagciosts 1,368,30! 678,91!
Stocl-based compensation expel 881,70t 678,11
Change in fair value of derivative instrume — (20,84%)
Loss on disposal of cryogenic shipp 16,42: 16,06¢
Provision for bad det 2,71: 24,87¢
Debt conversion expen: — 13,713,76
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivable, n (76,587 (323,60:)
Inventories (39,977 9,50¢
Other asset 10,17¢ (26,58%)
Accounts payable and other accrued expe 209,13t (221,929
Accrued compensation and related expe 271,42. 236,85t
Accrued interest 57,954 108,03
Net cash used in operating activities (4,127,70) (4,380,651
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (70,13() (138,881)
Net cash used in investing activities (70,130 (138,88)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of Class A and Clasmigectible preferred stock, net of
offering costs 4,607,57. —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and was 92,60¢ 326,89(
Proceeds from the issuance of notes pay 915,00( —
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢ — 4,558,30
Repayment of notes payal (173,62) —
Repayment of convertible de (50,000 —
Repayment of offering and deferred financing ¢ (30,120) (463,169
Repayment of related-party notes payable (128,00() (96,000
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,233,43 4,326,02.
Net change in cash and cash equival 1,035,60! (193,52)
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of year 369,58 563,10:
Cash and cash equivalents — end of year $ 1,405,18 $ 369,58:
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest $ 755 $ _

Cash paid for income taxes $ 1,60(
Supplemental Disclosure of No-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Deferred financing costs in connection with conbdetdebt payable included in accour
payable $ — $ 30,12(
Accretion of convertible preferred stock benefidahversion feature and relative fair

value of warrants issued in connection with thevestible preferred stock units to
accumulated deficit $ 4,864,29; $ —

Estimated relative fair value of warrants issuedannection with convertible bridge not
payable

Estimated relative fair value of warrants issuedannection with relategarty convertibl
notes payable

Estimated relative fair value of warrants issuedannection with notes payable
Conversion of bridge notes payable and accruedgsiténto common stock units

Conversion of convertible debentures payable antuad interest into convertible
preferred stock units

&

1,60(

©»
|
»

478,22!

280,37(
458,93

4,127,20

054 AL H

1,766,99

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.






Cryoport, Inc. and Subsidiary
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Nature of the Business

Cryoport Inc. (the “Company”, “Cryoport”, “we” ordur”) is a Nevada corporation originally incorpa@tunder the name G.TL3mited
(“GT5") on May 25, 1990. In connection with a Share Excleafgreement, on March 15, 2005 we changed our rtan@yoport, Inc. an
acquired all of the issued and outstanding sharesramon stock of Cryoport Systems, Inc., a Catlifarcorporation, in exchange for 200,
shares of our common stock (which represented appately 81% of the total issued and outstandingre$ of common stock following t
close of the transaction). Cryoport Systems, Im¢hjch was originally formed in 1999 as a Califorrimited liability company, an
subsequently reorganized into a California corponabn December 11, 2000, remains an operating aognpnder Cryoport, Inc. We becs
“publicly held” by the reverse merger with GT5 described abover @wve the Company transitioned from being a dgwelent company to
fully operational public company in early 2011, yiding global cryogenic logistics solutions to thietechnology and life sciences industries.

The Company became public by a reverse mergerangtiell company in May 2005. Over time the Complaaxy transitioned from bei
a development company to a fully operational pubbmpany, providing cold chain logistics solutidnsthe biotechnology and life scien
industries globally.

Since fiscal year 2011, the Company has takenfignt steps towards commercialization of the ComoExpresS logistics solutions i
validating, perfecting and expanding its featufBse Company has now managed shipments of its Cry@gress® Shippers through i
Cryoportal™ into and out of more than 80 countries, handlivast array of different biological products andapeens.

We provide cryogenic logistics solutions to thee I§ciences industry through a combination of puefmslt proprietary packagin
information technology and specialized cold chaigistics knowhow. We view our solutions as disruptio the “older technologiesf dry ice
and liquid nitrogen, in that our solutions are coefgnsive and combine our competencies in configu®that are customized to our client’
requirements. We provide comprehensive, reliabdenemic alternatives to all existing logistics swos and services utilized for froz
shipping in the life sciences industry (e.g., peadized medicine, stem cells, cell lines, vaccimiagnostic materials, semen, eggs, emb
cord blood, biggharmaceuticals, infectious substances, and otbermmmodities that require continuous exposure to gew or froze
temperatures). We provide the ability to monitegard and archive crucial information for each siépt that can be used for scientific
regulatory purposes.

Our Cryoport Expres8 Solutions include a sophisticated clobased logistics operating platform, which is brahes the Cryoportal™
The Cryoportal™ supports the management of theeesliipment and logistics process through a simgéaface, including initial order inpi
document preparation, customs clearance, courieagenent, shipment tracking, issue resolution,datidery. In addition, it provides uniq
and incisive information dashboards and validadonumentation for every shipment. The CryoportaBtords and retains a fully documer
“chain-of-custody” and, at the client’s option, ah-of-condition”for every shipment, helping ensure that qualitfetya efficacy, and stabili
of shipped commodities are maintained throughoatptocess. This recorded and archived informatitowa our clients to meet exacti
requirements necessary for scientific work andpfmof of regulatory compliance during the logistitsase.

The branded packaging for our Cryoport Expr8sSolutions includes our liquid nitrogen dry vapoipgiers, the Cryoport Expre$s
Shippers. The Cryoport Expre8sShippers are costffective and reusable cryogenic transport contaiifeur standard shipper is a pate
vacuum flask) utilizing an innovative applicatiori tdry vapor” liquid nitrogen (“LN2”) technology. oport Express® Shippers ai
International Air Transport Association (“IATA”) céfied and validated to maintain stable tempemdunf minus 150° C and below for a 10
day dynamic shipment period. The Company curreietiyures three Cryoport Expré¥Shippers: the Standard Dry Shipper (holding up3
2.0 ml vials), the High Volume Dry Shipper (holding to 500 2.0 ml vials) and the recently introdli@ryoport Expres® CXVC1 Shippe
(holding up to 1,500 2.0 ml vials). In addition, assist clients with internal secondary packagsgaell (e.g., vials, canes, straws, plates, etc.

Our most used solution is the “turnkey” solutiorhigh can be accessed directly through our cloasked Cryoportal™ or by contact
Cryoport Client Care for order entry. Once an olidgrlaced and cleared, we ship a fully chargec@oyt Expres® Shipper to the clienvho
conveniently loads its frozen commodity into th@en chamber of th€ryoport Expres® Shipper. The customer then closes the shi
package and reseals the shipping box displayingéxé recipient’s address (“Flap A”) for pre-arradgcarrier pick up.Cryoport arranges f
the pick-up of the parcel by a shipping servicevfater, which is designated by the client or chobgrCryoport, for delivery to the clierst’
intended recipient. The recipient simply opens shipper package and removes the frozen commdutilytas been shipped. The recif
then reseals the package, displaying the neargsep@rt Operations Center address (“Flap B”), makirrgady for pre-arranged carrier piak-
The When the Cryoport Operations Center receivesQtyoport Expres® Shipper, it is cleaned, put through quality assceatesting, ar
returned to inventory for reuse.




In late 2012, we shifted our focus to become a aefmnsive cryogenic logistics solutions provideec®&nizing that clients in the |

sciences industry have varying requirements, waundled our technologies, establishing customemngasiolutions and taking a consulta
approach to the market. Today, in addition to ¢andard “Turn-key Solutiondescribed above, we also provide the following @our facing
value-added solutions to address our various cliergeds:

“ Customer Staged Solutio,” designed for clients making 50 or more shipmentsnpenth. Under this solution, we supply an invey
of our Cryoport Expres® Shippers to our customer, in an uncharged staahliey our customer (after training/certificatici) charg
them with liquid nitrogen and use our Cryoportal®“enter orders with shipping and delivery servigavjaers for the transportation of
package. Once the order is released, our custoemeicas professionals monitor the shipment andrétern of the shipper to us -
cleaning, quality assurance testing and re

“ Customer Managed Solutiotf’ a limited customer implemented solution wherelsy supply our Cryoport Expre&sShippers to clien
in a fully charged state, but leaving it to theenli to manage the shipping, including the seleatibthe shipping and delivery serv
provider and the return of the shipper to t

“ powered by CryoportM " available to providers of shipping and delivasgrvices who seek to offer a “brandemi{ogenic logistic
solution as part of their service offerings, witppdwered by CryoportM” appearing prominently on the offering software iifatee an
packaging. This solution can also be private labelgon meeting certain requirements, such as mmimaguired shipping volume

“ Integrated Solution,” which is our outsource solution. It is our most gouehensive solution and involves our managemettieoentir
cryogenic logistics process for our client, inchgliCryoport employees at the client’s site to mantte clients cryogenic logistic
function in total.

“ Regenerative Medicine Poi-of-Care Repository Solution” designed for allogeneic therapies. In this modelswpply our Cryopo
Express® Shipper to ship and store cryogenically preserifedstience products for up to 6 days (or longeiggs with supplementa
shippers) at a point-of-care site, with the Cryogxpress® Shipper serving as a temporary freezer/repositoabkng the efficient ar
effective distribution of temperature sensitiveogitneic celbased therapies without the expense, inconvenieara,potential cost
failure of an orsight, cryopreservation device. Our customer serpiofessionals monitor each shipment throughcaitpitedetermine
process including the return of the shipper towlken the Cryoport Operations Center receives tlyef@rrt Expres® Shipper package
is cleaned, put through quality assurance testind,returned to inventory for reu:

“ Personalized Medicine and C+based Immunotherapy Solution” designed for autologous therapies. In this model @uyopor
Express® Shipper serves as an enabling technology for tfeetsansportation of manufactured autologous catbhsed immunothera
market by providing a comprehensive logistics sotufor the verified chain of custody and conditimansport from, (a) the collection
the patient cells in a hospital setting, to (b) a centralcessing facility where they are manufactured infeesonalized medicine, to
the safe, cryogenically preserved return of thespliaceable cells to a point-of-care treatmeniifac If required, the Cryoport Expre$s
Shipper can then serve as a temporary freezeritepoto allow the efficient distribution of thisepsonalized medicine to the patient w
and where the medical provider needs it most withihe expense, inconvenience, and potential cofgilpyre of an onsight
cryopreservation device. Our customer servicesegsibnals monitor each shipment throughout thegbegchined process, including
return of the shipper to us. When the Cryoport @pens Center receives the Cryoport Expr8sShipper package it is cleaned,
through quality assurance testing, and returneaivintory for reuse

Strategic Logistics Alliances

We have sought to establish strategic alliances mgthod of marketing our solutions providing mii®° C shipping conditions to |

life sciences industry. We have focused our efforisleading companies in the logistics servicesistry as well as participants in the

sciences industry. In connection with our allianagth providers of shipping services, we referheit offerings as powered by CryoportM”
to reflect our solutions being integrated into alliance partner’s services.

Cryoport now serves and supports the three laigésgrators in the world, responsible for over 86%worldwide airfreight, with it

advanced cryogenic logistics solutions for lifeeses. We operate with each independently anddemtfally in support of their respect
market and sales strategies. We maintain our intkpe partnerships with strict confidentiality gelides within the Company. The
agreements represent a significant validation ofsolutions and the way we conduct our business.
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FedEx. In January 2013, we entered into a master agreemiémtFederal Express Corporation (“FedEx") (theetlEX Agreemen)”
renewing these services and providing FedEx wittom-exclusive license and right to use a customizgdion of our CryoportalM for the
management of shipments made by FedEx customees-@dhEx Agreement became effective on January13 2Ad, unless sooner terming
as provided in the FedEx Agreement, expires on Dbee 31, 2015. FedEx has the right to terminate #greement at any time
convenience upon 180 days’ notice.

Under our FedEx Agreement, we provide frozen shigdogistics services through the combination of purposebuilt proprietan
technologies and turnkey management processes.xFadEkets and sells Cryoport’s services for froremperaturesontrolled cold chal
transportation as its FedExDeep Frozen Shipping Solution on a rexelusive basis and at its sole expense. Durirgaffigear 2013, tt
Company worked closely with FedEx to further aliggrsales efforts and accelerate penetration wiBgdEXSs life sciences customer b
through improved processes, sales incentives, goistiomer calls and more frequent communicatidheasales and executive level. In addi
FedEx has developed a FedEx branded version aEtpeportal™ software platform, which is powered by Cryopo®M” for use by FedE
and its customers giving them access to the fylhbdities of our cloud-based logistics managenseftivare platform.

DHL. In June 2014, we entered into a master agreemehtliieConEx, a part of DHL Global Forwarding (“DHL This relationshi
with DHL is a further implementation of the Comp&ngxpansion of distribution partnerships under ‘th@wered by CryoportM” mode
described above, allowing us to expand our saldswzarketing reach through our partners and buildraness of the benefits of our valid:
cryogenic solution offerings. DHL can now enhancel aupplement its cold chain logistics offeringsit® life sciences and healthc
customers with Cryoport’validated cryogenic solutions. DHL added 15 adid#l certified Life Sciences stations in the setqnarter of 201
bringing the Thermonet network to 60 stations ieragion. Over the course of rolling out our nevatieinship, this expanded network will o
Cryoport’s cryogenic solutions under the DHL braads' powered by CryoporfM”. In addition, DHL's customers will be able to have di
access to our cloud-based order entry and traqkimgl to order Cryoport Expre§sSolutions and receive preferred DHL shipping ratec
discounts. Our proprietary logistics managementatjpey platform, the CryoportdM , is integrated with DHLS tracking and billing systems
provide DHL life sciences and healthcare custométls a seamless way of accessing critical infororatiegarding shipments of biologi
material worldwide.

UPS.In October 2014, we added United Parcel Serviges, ('UPS”) as our third major distributor by entering into agreement wit
UPS Oasis Supply Corporation, a part of UPS, whetéBS will offer our validated and comprehensivgogenic solutions to its life scienc
and healthcare customers on a global basis. Thgaeship with UPS is a further implementationtioé Companys expansion of distributc
under the “powered by Cryoporf™” model described above, allowing us to further eipaur sales and marketing reach through our pa
and build awareness of the benefits of our valdlatyogenic solution offerings through UPS.

Over the course of rolling out our new relationsih UPS, UPS customers will have direct accessutocloudbased order entry a
tracking portal to order Cryoport ExprédSolutions and gain access to UP8toad array of domestic and international shigind logistic
solutions at competitive prices. Our proprietargistics management operating platform, the CryapdM , is integrated with UPS’tracking
and billing systems to provide UPS life scienced apalthcare customers with a seamless way of siogesritical information regardi
shipments of biological material worldwide.

These agreements the three largest integratoheimorld represent a significant validation of sotutions and the way we conduct
business.

Life Sciences Agreements

Zoetis. In December 2012, we signed an agreement with Pfiwe relating to Zoetis Inc. (formerly the aninfaalth business unit
Pfizer Inc.) pursuant to which we were engaged tnage frozen shipments of a key poultry vaccinedddrthis arrangement, Cryop
provides on-site logistics personnel and its lagismanagement operating platform, the Cryopditato manage shipments from the Zo
manufacturing site in the United States to domestistomers as well as various international distiim centers. As part of our logist
management services, Cryoport is constantly anadyirigistics data and processes to further intredeamnomies and reliability throughout
network, ensuring products arrive at their destimat in specified conditions, dime and with the optimum utilization of resourcdse
Company manages Zoetittal fleet of dewar flask shippers used for thiggwse, including liquid nitrogen shippers. In J@§13 thi
agreement was amended to expand Cryoport’s scopeitage all logistics of Zoetis’ key frozen poultrgccine to all Zoetisinternationg
distribution centers as well as all domestic shiptaieln October 2013, the agreement was furthemdeto further expand Cryopatiole tc
include the logistics management for a second pouidtccine.
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Liventa Biosciencesln February 2014, we entered into a services ageaemith Liventa Bioscience, Inc. (“Liventa”), aiyately-held
commercial stage biotechnology company focusedetirbased, advanced biologics in the orthopedic ingustnder this agreement, Livel
will use Cryoport's Regenerative Medicine Pointcdire Repository Solution for the logistics of ildased therapies requiring cryoge
temperatures and also provide Cryoport ExpfeSslutions to other biologics suppliers within thghopedic arena. The agreement comk
Cryoport’s proprietary, purpose-built cold chaigiktics solutions for cell-based and advanced bioltissue forms with Liventa’distributior
capability to orthopedic care providers. The impdatation of Cryoport's Regenerative Medicine PaifiCare Repository Solution w
eliminate the risks of degradation and also elit@ngie need for expensive onsite cryogenic freefmrstorage of celbased orthopec
therapies. This will enable Liventa to confidergBrve orthopedic practices, surgical centers, giaiits, hospitals and, eventually, pharma
and specialty care providers. The agreement hasital three-year term and may be renewed for eontive threerear terms, unless ear
terminated by either party. Liventa also agreedadain performance criteria and the issuance &0 shares of its common stocl
Cryoport in exchange for the exclusive right toeoffmarket and promote Cryoport ExprésSolutions for cellulabased therapies requiri
cryogenic temperatures for use in the orthopedioain the United States.

In summary, we serve the life sciences industrwityogenic logistics solutions that are advancednprehensive, reliable, validat
and efficient. Our clients include those compamied institutions that have logistics requirementspersonalized medicine, immunotherag
stem cells, cell lines, tissue, vaccines, in-vitdilization, cord blood, and other temperaturessive commodities of life sciences.

Going Concern

The consolidated financial statements have begraped using the accrual method of accounting inrance with accounting princip
generally accepted in the United States of AmefithS. GAAP”) and have been prepared on a going concern badish whntemplates tl
realization of assets and the settlement of ligddiin the normal course of business. We havaiest operating losses since our inceptior
have used substantial amounts of working capitalinoperations. At March 31, 2015, we had an actared deficit of $97.8 million. Durir
the year ended March 31, 2015, we used cash iratipes of $4.1 million and had a net loss of $7illion.

We expect to continue to incur substantial addéiaperating losses from costs related to the camialzation of our Cryoport Expre
® Solutions and do not expect that revenues fromatjpers will be sufficient to satisfy our fundinggrements in the near term. We beli
that our cash resources at March 31, 2015, additioimds raised subsequent to March 31, 2015 thirdlig Class B convertible preferred st
(see Note 15), together with the revenues genefadedour services will be sufficient to sustairr @lanned operations into the third quarte
fiscal year 2016; however, we must obtain additiczapital to fund operations thereafter and for #uhievement of sustained profite
operations. These factors raise substantial dobbtitaour ability to continue as a going concern. ®We currently working on fundil
alternatives in order to secure sufficient operatiapital to allow us to continue to operate asiagyconcern.

Future capital requirements will depend upon maamtdrs, including the success of our commerciatimaefforts and the level
customer adoption of our Cryoport Expré&sSolutions as well as our ability to establish addil collaborative arrangements. We cannot r
any assurances that the sales ramp will lead tewe@iment of sustained profitable operations or #mt additional financing will be comple!
on a timely basis and on acceptable terms or aMahagemens inability to successfully achieve significant eeue increases or implem
cost reduction strategies or to complete any dfinencing will adversely impact our ability to cimie as a going concern. To address
issue, the Company is seeking additional capitadinao properly fund our efforts to become a selftaining financially viable entity.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatiol

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieane been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

On May 12, 2015, our Board of Directors approvedaarendment to our certificate of incorporation tie@ a reverse stock split b
ratio of 1-ford12, with no reduction in the number of shares omemn stock that were previously authorized in oertificate o
incorporation. The reverse stock split is effeeton May 19, 2015. Unless otherwise noted, alieslad per share data in this annual re
give effect to the 1-fof-2 reverse stock split of our common stock. Finalniciformation updated by this capital change ideki earnings p

common share, dividends per common share, stock per common share, weighted average common slaarssanding common shai
treasury shares, common stock, additional paicapital, and share-based compensation.
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Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include tooants of Cryoport, Inc. and its wholly owned ddiasy, Cryoport Systems, Inc. /
intercompany accounts and transactions have baamated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymith U.S. GAAP requires management to make egtis and assumptions t
affect the reported amounts of assets and liasliéind disclosure of contingent assets and ligsildat the date of the financial statements
the reported amounts of revenues and expensegdhemrreporting periods. Actual results could diffem estimated amounts. The Company’
significant estimates include allowances for dowlbtccounts, recoverability of loriyed assets, allowance for inventory obsolesce
deferred taxes and their accompanying valuatiams valuation of equity instruments and conversiatiires.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of castl cash equivalents, accounts receivable, refsteyg notes payable, converti
debentures payable, notes payable, accounts pagmathlaccrued expenses. The carrying value foruah snstruments approximates fair ve
at March 31, 2015 and 2014 due to their short-teaare. The difference between the fair value awdnded values of the relatpdsty note
payable is not significant.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers highly liquid investmentswitiginal maturities of 90 days or less to be caghivalents.
Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash accounts in finhno#itutions. Accounts at these institutions @meured by the Federal Depc
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC"ith basic deposit insurance coverage limits u$280,000 per owner. At March 31, 2015 and 2014
Company had cash balances of approximately $11®m#énd $159,000, respectively, which exceeded=BEC insurance limit. The Compa
performs ongoing evaluations of these institutittmimit its concentration risk exposure.

Customers

The Company grants credit to customers within tt@. @nd to a limited number of international custesrand does not require collate
Revenues from international customers are genesattured by advance payments except for a limisedber of established foreign custom
The Company generally requires advance or credit payments for initial revenues from new custom@&fe Company ability to collec
receivables is affected by economic fluctuationghe geographic areas and industries served byCtmpany. Reserves for uncollecti
amounts are provided based on past experience apedfic analysis of the accounts, which managérbetieves is sufficient. Accoutr
receivable at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are nets#rves for doubtful accounts of $12,200 and $24,688pectively. Although the Comp:
expects to collect amounts due, actual collectimay differ from the estimated amounts. The Compaayntains reserves for bad debt
such losses, in the aggregate, historically hatexceeded our estimates.

The majority of the Compang’customers are in the biotechnology, pharmacéuiua life science industries. Consequently, there
concentration of accounts receivable within thegkistries, which is subject to normal credit risk.March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectiv
there was one customer that accounted for 14.698@u&6 of net accounts receivable. No other sing&tomer owed us more than 10% of
accounts receivable at March 31, 2015 and 2014.

The Company has revenue from foreign customersaeilynin Europe, Japan, Canada, India and Austr8liaing fiscal years 2015 a
2014, the Company had revenues from foreign cuswnoé approximately $617,200 and $434,000, respelgti which constitute
approximately 15.7% and 16.3% of total revenuespeetively. For the fiscal year ended March 31,528dd 2014, there was one customer
accounted for 22.7% and 30.8% of total revenuesotNer single customer generated over 10% of tetenues during 2015 and 2014.
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Inventories

The Company’s inventories consist of accessoriasdhe sold and shipped to customers along withpgayse containers that are
returned to the Company with the containers atctiimination of the customes’shipping cycle. Inventories are stated at theetosf cost ¢
current estimated market value. Cost is determimgidg the standard cost method which approximdtesfitst-in, first-toexpire methot
Inventories are reviewed periodically for slomeving or obsolete status. The Company writes ddvencarrying value of its inventories
reflect situations in which the cost of inventoriemot expected to be recovered. Once establiske-downs of inventories are conside
permanent adjustments to the cost basis of thelatksor excess inventories. Raw materials andHedsgoods include material costs
reserves for obsolete or excess inventories. Thmpgaay evaluates the current level of inventoriessaering historical trends and ot
factors, and based on the evaluation, records @mfunds to reflect inventories at its net realizaldtie. These adjustments are estimates, \
could vary significantly from actual results if éwe economic conditions, customer demand, competitr other relevant factors differ fr
expectations. These estimates require us to maesssents about future demand for the Comgamygducts in order to categorize the si
of such inventories items as slow-moving, obsoteten excess-of-need. These estimates are subjgicetongoing accuracy of the Company’
forecasts of market conditions, industry trendsnpetition and other factors.

Property and Equipmen

The Company provides shipping containers to itdacusrs and charges a fee in exchange for the uteeafontainer. The Company’
arrangements are similar to the accounting stanftardeases since they convey the right to usecth@ainer over a period of time. 1
Company retains the title to the containers andigas its customers the use of the container gpegific shipping cycle. At the culmination
the customes shipping cycle, the container is returned toGbenpany. As a result, the Company classifies tmeadoers as fixed assets for
per-use container program.

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Cnjoghippers, which comprise of 90% and 89% of Glmenpanys net property ar
equipment balance at March 31, 2015 and 2014, c&sply, are depreciated using the strailje- method over their estimated useful live
three years. Equipment and furniture are depreatiating the straightne method over their estimated useful lives (galhe three to seve
years) and leasehold improvements are amortized ube straigl-line method over the estimated useful life of tissed or the lease tel
whichever is shorter. Equipment acquired undertabfgases is amortized over the estimated usd&lof the assets or term of the lei
whichever is shorter and included in depreciatiod amortization expense.

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repairseki@nd the lives of the assets are capitalizéteraepairs and maintenance cha
are expensed as incurred. The cost and relatednatated depreciation and amortization applicabledsets retired are removed from
accounts, and the gain or loss on dispositiondsgeized in current operations.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets are comprised of patents anértratks and software development costs. The Compapiyalizes costs of obtaini
patents and trademarks, which are amortized, ufiegstraightine method over their estimated useful life ofefiyears. The Compa
capitalizes certain costs related to software dgped for internal use. Software development costsirred during the preliminary
maintenance project stages are expensed as incuitnéd costs incurred during the application depehent stage are capitalized and amor
using the straighline method over the estimated useful life of th&ware, which is five years. Capitalized costdude purchased materi
and costs of services including the valuation ofrauats issued to consultants.

Long-lived Assets

If indicators of impairment exist, we assess theoverability of the affected lonlived assets by determining whether the carryinge
of such assets can be recovered through undisabfuiigre operating cash flows. If impairment isigaded, we measure the amount of ¢
impairment by comparing the fair value to the ceagyvalue. We believe the future cash flows to éeeived from the lontived assets wi
exceed the assets’ carrying value, and accordimghyhave not recognized any impairment losses tfrddiarch 31, 2015.

Deferred Financing Cost:

Deferred financing costs represent costs incumedonnection with the issuance of the convertibdées payable and private eq
financing. Deferred financing costs related to id®uance of debt are being amortized over the wrthe financing instrument using -
effective interest method while deferred financougts from equity financings are netted againstgttess proceeds received from the ec
financings.

Conversion Features

If a conversion feature of convertible debt is rotounted for as a derivative instrument and pewibr a rate of conversion tha
below market value, this feature is characterizedh eneficial conversion feature (“BCFA.BCF is recorded by the Company as a
discount. The convertible debt is recorded nehefdiscount related to the BCF. The Company anextize discount to interest expense
the life of the debt using the effective interegermethod.
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Preferred stock is convertible to common stock ite of conversion that is below market valuerdfare, this feature is characterize:
a BCF. The Company records this BCF as a discauttitet preferred stock and accretes the discourgtéined earnings as a deemed divic
upon issuance of the preferred stock.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under theigiom of the Financial Accounting Standards Bo&iEASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740ncome Taxes or ASC 740. As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, theege no unrecognized tax bene
included in the accompanying consolidated balaheets that would, if recognized, affect the effextax rate.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuredyenacted tax rates expected to apply to taxacleme in the years in which the
temporary differences are expected to be recoveresettled. The effect on deferred tax assets wfilities of a change in tax rates
recognized in income in the period that includesehactment date. A valuation allowance is providedertain deferred tax assets if it is v
likely than not that the Company will not realizex tassets through future operations. Based on éighivof available evidence, the Company’
management has determined that it is more likedn thot that the net deferred tax assets will notdadized. Therefore, the Company
recorded a full valuation allowance against thedadérred tax assets. The Company’s income taxigiomvconsists of state minimum taxes.

The Companys policy is to recognize interest and/or penaltéated to income tax matters in income tax expefse Company had
accrual for interest or penalties on its consoédabalance sheets at March 31, 2015 and 2014,atesgde and has not recognized inte
and/or penalties in the consolidated statementpefations for the years ended March 31, 2015 8dd.2The Company is subject to taxa
in the U.S. and various state jurisdictions. Adafrch 31, 2015, the Company is no longer subjett.®. federal examinations for years be
2011 and for California franchise and income tammekations for years before 2010. However, to theerg allowed by law, the taxil
authorities may have the right to examine prioiquks where net operating losses were generatedanéd forward, and make adjustment
to the amount of the net operating loss carry fodvamount. The Company is not currently under eration by U.S. federal or st
jurisdictions.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company provides shipping containers to ittacuers and charges a fee in exchange for the ueeafontainer. The Compay’
arrangements are similar to the accounting stanfitaréeases since they convey the right to usecthrgainers over a period of time. ~
Company retains title to the containers and pravitie customers the use of the container for aipeécshipping cycle. At the culmination
the customer’s shipping cycle, the container isrmatd to the Company.

The Company recognizes revenue for the use of liigpar at the time of the delivery of the shipperthie end user of the enclo
materials, and at the time that collectabilityéasonably certain. Revenue is based on gross asymenttof discounts and allowances.

The Company also provides logistics support andagament to some customers, which may include olugjistics personnel. Rever
is recognized for these services as services atered and at the time that collectability is rewdiy certain.

Accounting for Shipping and Handling Revenue, Feaad Costs

The Company classifies amounts billed for ship@ng handling as revenue. Shipping and handlingdedscosts are included in cost of
revenues in the accompanying consolidated statsnoéioiperations.

Research and Development Expen:

Expenditures relating to research and developnrentxpensed in the period incurred.
Stoclk-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based payments fologees and directors in accordance with stoaked payment account
guidance which requires all stoblesed payments to employees and directors, ingugliants of employee stock options and warrantbg
recognized based upon their estimated fair vallles.fair value of stock-based awards is estimatepiamt date using the Blackeholes optio

pricing method (“Black-Scholes™and the portion that is ultimately expected to \isstecognized as compensation cost over the riée
service period.
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Since stockbased compensation is recognized only for thosedsmhat are ultimately expected to vest, the Caomgeas applied ¢
estimated forfeiture rate to unvested awards ferghrpose of calculating compensation cost. Themates will be revised, if necessary
future periods if actual forfeitures differ fromtiesates. Changes in forfeiture estimates impactpmmation cost in the period in which
change in estimate occurs. The estimated forferates at March 31, 2015 and 2014 was zero as thgp&uy has not had a significant hist
of forfeitures and does not expect significantédrfres in the future.

Cash flows from the tax benefits resulting from ¢teeductions in excess of the compensation cosgrered for those options or warra
are classified as financing cash flows. Due toGbenpanys loss position, there were no such tax benefitigyears ended March 31, 2(
and 2014.

The Company uses Black-Scholes to estimate thedhie of stock-based awards. The determinatidaip¥alue using Blackscholes i
affected by the Comparg/'stock price as well as assumptions regardingr@eu of complex and subjective variables, includimgected stoc
price volatility, risk-free interest rate, expectididends and projected employee stock optiona@serehaviors.

The Company’s stock-based compensation plans scestied further in Note 12.
Equity Instruments Issued to Nc-Employees for Acquiring Goods or Services

Issuances of the Compasytommon stock for acquiring goods or servicesnaeasured at the estimated fair value of the coreside
received or the estimated fair value of the eqintruments issued, whichever is more reliably mestde. The measurement date for
estimated fair value of the equity instruments éssto consultants or vendors is determined at dnkéee of (i) the date at which a commitm
for performance to earn the equity instrumente&ched (a “performance commitmemthich would include a penalty considered to be
magnitude that is a sufficiently large disincentfee nonperformance) or (ii) the date at which perfance is complete. When it is appropi
for the Company to recognize the cost of a tramsaaduring financial reporting periods prior to theeasurement date, for purpose
recognition of costs during those periods, the tyqguistrument is measured at the thmnrent estimated fair values at each of thosaim
financial reporting dates.

Basic and Diluted Net Income (Loss) Per She

We calculate basic and diluted net income (loss)spare attributable to common stockholders udiregvwreighted average numbe
common shares outstanding during the periods piedeand adjust the amount of net income (lossil iisethis calculation for cumulati
preferred stock dividends, (if any), whether they @arned or not during the period. In periods négloss position, basic and diluted weig!
average shares are the same. For the diluted garpier share calculation, we adjust the weightestame number of common she
outstanding to include dilutive stock options, vaats and shares associated with the conversionrofectible debt and convertible prefer
stock outstanding during the periods. For the pealed March 31, 2015, the Company had cumulativeéeciared dividends that have not t
accrued related to its preferred stock of $305,3@dch were added to the net loss on the conselitiatatement of operations in orde
calculate net loss per common share attributabé@momon stockholders.

The following shows the amounts used in computiegloss per share for each of the two years ipér®d ended March 31, 2015:

Years Ended March 31,

2015 2014

Net loss $ (7,026,91) $ (19,565,42)
Less:

Preferred stock beneficial conversion che (4,864,29) —

Undeclared cumulative preferred dividends (305,32%) —
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (12,196,53) $ (19,565,42)
Weighted average shares issued and outstanding 5,006,21! 4,070,87
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributabitmmons stockholders $ (2449 $ (4.87)

The following table sets forth the number of shaesluded from the computation of diluted earnipgs share, as their inclusion wo
have been anti-dilutive:
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Years Ended March 31,

2015 2014
Class A convertible preferred st 1,136,87! —
Class B convertible preferred stc 404,27 —
Stock options 419,78! 288,19:
Warrants 436,77 268,47¢

2,397,71, 556,67

Segment Reportin

We currently operate in one reportable segment.

Fair Value Measurements

We measure fair value based on the prices thatdvogilreceived to sell an asset or paid to trarsfe@bility in an orderly transactis
between market participants at the measurement Eaitevalue measurements are based on a tleekierarchy that prioritizes the inputs u
to measure fair value. These tiers include thevalg:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marketsdentiical assets or liabilities that are accessiblbe measurement date. The
value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Letehputs.

Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs ndedumn active markets, but corroborated by markéd.dThese inputs inclu
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiesptpd market prices in markets that are not activegther inputs that are observable or ca
corroborated by observable market data for suliathnthe full term of the assets or liabilitiesuCently we do not have any items classifie
Level 2.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or noketadata is available. The fair value hierarchyegithe lowest priority
Level 3 inputs.

In determining fair value, we utilize valuationctmiques that maximize the use of observable inpumd minimize the use
unobservable inputs to the extent possible, asasationsider counterparty credit risk in the assens of fair value.

We have no assets or liabilities that are requindae measured at fair value on a recurring bascf 8arch 31, 2015 and 2014.
Foreign Currency Transactions

We record foreign currency transactions at the amgk rate prevailing at the date of the transagtitimresultant gains and losses being
included in results of operations. Foreign curretnapsaction gains and losses have not been signiffor any of the periods presented.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Pnésigon of Financial Statements-Going Conce@urrently, there is no guidar
in U.S. GAAP about management’s responsibility valeate whether there is substantial doubt abowdrdity’s ability to continue as a goi
concern or to provide related footnote disclosuiid®e amendments require management to assessignseability to continue as a goi
concern by incorporating and expanding upon cepaimciples that are currently in U.S. auditingngtards. Specifically, the amendments
provide a definition of the term substantial dou®) require an evaluation every reporting periadiuding interim periods, (3) provi
principles for considering the mitigating effectranagemens’ plans, (4) require certain disclosures when anlisi doubt is alleviated a:
result of consideration of managemanplans, (5) require an express statement and dibelosures when substantial doubt is not alled
and (6) require an assessment for a period of eae gfter the date that the financial statemerdsisaued (or available to be issued).
amendments in this ASU are effective for the rdpgriperiods beginning after December 15, 2016 aaudy eapplication is permitte
Management is currently assessing the impact tbptash of ASU 2014-15 will have on our consolidafadhncial statements.

F- 15




In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Rexe from Contracts with Customers”. ASU 2009 -supersedes the reve
recognition requirements in FASB Topic 605, "Reweecognition”. The ASU implements a fistep process for customer contract rev:
recognition that focuses on transfer of controlppposed to transfer of risk and rewards. The amend also requires enhanced disclos
regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncesgtahtrevenues and cash flows from contracts witstmmers. Other major provisions incli
the capitalization and amortization of certain caat costs, ensuring the time value of money isitlared in the transaction price, and allov
estimates of variable consideration to be recoghipefore contingencies are resolved in certairuoistances. The amendments in this ASU
effective for interim and annual periods beginnafter December 15, 2016 and early adoption is meomjited. In April 2015, the FAS
proposed a one year deferral of the effective flatgublic entities and others, related to this ASlle comment deadline for the one
deferral period is May 29, 2015. Entities can tiéms to the standard either retrospectively oaasimulativeeffect adjustment as of the datt
adoption. Management has not selected a trangiigthod and is currently assessing the impact thptawh of ASU 201439 will have on ot
consolidated financial statements

Note 3. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

March 31,
2015 2014
Raw material $ 41,728 % 18,28
Finished goods 27,95¢ 11,42(
$ 69,68( $ 29,70:
Note 4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:
March 31,
2015 2014
Cryogenic shipper $ 1,034,55. $ 1,037,28
Furniture and fixture 30,74¢ 30,74¢
Machinery and equipme 350,52( 386,73:
Leasehold improvements 23,65: 30,91
1,439,47. 1,485,67
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,131,541 (1,076,78)

$ 307,92t $ 408,89.

Total depreciation and amortization expense relaigaoperty and equipment amounted to $154,7006248,400 for the years ended
March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Note 5. Intangible Assets

March 31, 2015

Weighted
Average
Gross Accumulated Net Amortization
Intangible assets consist of the following: Amount Amortization Amount Period (years)
Patents and tradematr $ 154,21: $ (56,12¢) $ 98,08¢ 5.0
Software development costs for internal use 547,12° (508,39 38,73¢ 1.0
Total intangible assets $ 701,34, $ (564,52() $ 136,82:
March 31, 2014
Weighted
Average
Gross Accumulated Net Amortization
Amount Amortization Amount Period (years)
Patents and trademar $ 154,21: $ (55,71) $ 98,50: 4.9
Software development costs for internal use 547,12° (465,542) 81,58¢ 1.6
Total intangible assets $ 701,34, $ (521,25Y) $ 180,08¢

Amortization expense for intangible assets fonyjtbars ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 was $43,2083%)200, respectively.

Future amortization of intangible assets is appnately as follows
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Years Ending March 31,

2016 $ 49,80(
2017 28,20(
2018 19,60(
2019 19,60(
2020 19,60(

$ 136,800

Note 6. Accrued Compensation and Related Expenses

Accrued compensation and related expenses coffisist tollowing:

March 31,
2015 2014
Accrued salary and wag $ 161,24. $ 80,32¢
Accrued paid time of 159,99:. 155,16¢
Accrued board of director fe: 401,53: 214,55;
Other accrued obligations 2,94 4,241
$ 725,71 $ 454,28

Board of director’s fees aggregating $346,700 atdd&1, 2015 were paid in April 2015.
Note 7. Notes Payable

From December 2014 through February 2015, the Comnsasued to certain accredited investors 2014eSeSecured Promissory Nc
(the “7% Bridge Notes”)n the aggregate original principal amount of $808, The 7% Bridge Notes accrue interest at aafaféo per annur
All principal and interest under the 7% Bridge Noteill be due on July 1, 2015, however, the Compaay elect to extend the maturity ¢
of the notes to January 1, 2016 by providing wmittetice to the note holders and a warrant to @seta number of shares of the Compgny
common stock equal to (a) the then outstandingcjpah balance of the note, divided by (b) $6.00 tiplied by 125%. The Company
prepay the 7% Bridge Notes at any time without figrend shall prepay the 7% Bridge Notes in an am@gual to 25% of the net ci
proceeds received by the Company during each nfomththe issuance of either debt or equity.

The 7% Bridge Notes are secured by all tangibletassf the Company pursuant to the terms of thabiceSecurity Agreement dat
December 3, 2014 between the Company and the mdders. The Company is obligated to keep the alditand all of its other perso
property and assets free and clear of all otharrggdnterests, except for certain limited exceps.

In connection with the issuance of the 7% Bridgdedpthe Company issued the note holders warrangsitchase 190,625 share:
common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 peresfdre warrants were exercisable on May 31, 20t5eapire on November 30, 2021. ~
relative fair value of the warrants of $458,900 weorded as a debt discount and is amortized¢oest expense using the straihe methor
which approximates the effective interest methodrdhie term of the notes. During the year endedcM&1, 2015, the Company amorti
$237,500 of the debt discount to interest expeosthese notes.

The Company did not pay any discounts or commisswith respect to the issuance of the 7% Bridgeeblor the warrants. In Janu
and March 2015, the Company repaid an aggregatl 08,600 of the original principal balance outstagdrepresenting 25% of the
proceeds received from the Class A and Class Bagtible preferred stock offering through FebruaBy 2015. All remaining principal a
accrued interest at March 31, 2015 was repaid iril 2015.

Note 8. Convertible Debentures Payable
2013 and 2014 Bridge Notes
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 and first nimenths of fiscal 2014, the Company issued to tedacredited investors unsecu

convertible promissory notes (the “Bridge Notegi)the original principal amount of $1,294,500 a$#,765,300, respectively, for tc
principal of $4,059,800, pursuant to the termsulifsgription agreements and letters of investmeahin
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The Bridge Notes accrued interest at a rate of p6f@annum from date of issuance until January 8132nd at a rate of 5% per anr
from February 1, 2013 through the date of paymargach case on a nmempounding basis. All principal and interest unither Bridge Note
were due on December 31, 2013.

In connection with the issuance of the Bridge Ndteshree accredited investors totaling $400,000une, July and August 2013,
Company granted these investors warrants to puech48,789 shares of common stock at an exercisespranging from $2.28 to $3.48
share. The relative fair value of the warrants ®®%200 was recorded as a debt discount and wasgtiaeabto interest expense using
straightline method which approximated the effective ins¢method over the term of the Bridge Notes. Therg#ge Notes accrued interes
8% per annum from the date of issuance through ofapmayment, on a nocempounding basis. All other terms of these Britigges ar
consistent with the rest of the Bridge Notes. Uponversion of the Bridge Notes in September anai@xt2013, the remaining unamorti
debt discount was amortized to interest expense.

In September and October 2013, the Bridge Noteensldccepted an offer by the Company and convaneafjgregate of $4,127,20(
outstanding principal and accrued interest undedge Notes into 1,719,668 units (the “Unitat)a price of $2.40 per Unit, with each {
consisting of (i) one share of common stock of@wenpany (“Common Stock’and (ii) one warrant to purchase one share of Com&tock &
an exercise price of $4.44 per share. The warramgsexercisable beginning on March 31, 2015 ane laterm of five years from date
issuance. As the transaction was considered ancéadgonversion under the applicable accounting angd, the Company recogni
$13,713,800 in debt conversion expense represetitngstimated fair value of the securities tramstein excess of the estimated fair valu
the securities issuable upon the original convergioms of the Bridge Notes. The Company calcul#éttedestimated fair value of the comr
stock issued by using the closing price of thelstt the date of issuance. The estimated fair vafube warrants was calculated using Blacl
Scholes.

Upon conversion of the Bridge Notes, the remainingmortized debt discount was amortized to interegéense. During the years en
March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company amortizech$i0$4.99,200, respectively, to interest expense.

5% Bridge Notes

From December 2013 to March 2014, the Company issueertain accredited investors unsecured coinepromissory notes in t
original principal amount of $1,793,000.

The 5% Bridge Notes accrued interest at a rate%fpBr annum from the date of issuance through ditpayment, on a non-
compounding basis. All principal and interest unither 5% Bridge Notes became due on June 30, 2014.

In connection with the issuance of the 5% Bridgeddpthe Company granted these investors warranpaiichase 74,709 shares
common stock at an exercise price of $5.88 peresfidre warrants were exercisable on May 31, 20t4eapire on December 31, 2018. -
relative fair value of the warrants of $279,100 wesorded as a debt discount and was amortizedtéoest expense using the straitihé
method which approximated the effective interesthme over the term of the 5% Bridge Notes. Duting years ended March 31, 2015
2014, the Company amortized $184,700 and $94,48pectively, of the debt discount to interest espeir these notes.

The agreement allowed that in the event the Complasjgnated and issued one or more types of eqaityrities while the 5% Brid
Notes were outstanding “Subsequent Offering”)the Company must provide written notice to the baddof the notes and such holders h
right to convert up to all of the principal and aeed unpaid interest on the notes into shares af equity securities on the same terms a
Subsequent Offering during the ten days followimg provision of such notice. The conversion prmetfiese equity securities was 90% of
offering price for the equity securities in the Sequent Offering. At the time of issuance, the Camypwas unable to value the conver
feature of these 5% Bridge Notes given the absehadixed conversion rate and the convertibilifytiee 5% Bridge Notes was contingent u
the completion of a Subsequent Offering. HoweverMay 6, 2014, the Company completed the first estilvie preferred stock offering whi
established a firm commitment date. This triggetedvaluation of the beneficial conversion featof¢he 5% Bridge Notes which aggregz
$826,900 and was recorded as interest expensegdilményear ended March 31, 2015. Note holders wititincipal amount of $1,743,0!
together with $24,000 of accrued interest, condetiteir 5% Bridge Notes to convertible preferreatktunits (see Note 11) and one note he
was paid principal and interest of $50,800.

Emergent Financial Group, Inc. (“Emergent”) serasdthe Compang’ placement agent in connection with the originat@ment of th
Bridge Notes and 5% Bridge Notes and earned a cesion of 9% of the original principal balance otlsunotes. Debt financing costs in
aggregate of $492,500, comprised primarily of themission earned by Emergent, were amortized &rest expense using the straiihe
method which approximated the effective interesthm@ over the term of the notes. During the yeaded March 31, 2015 and 2014,
Company amortized $98,400 and $385,400, respegtigéthe debt financing costs to interest expdos¢hese notes.
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Note 9. Related-Party Transactions

As of March 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company hadeagde principal balances of $1.3 million and $566,5espectively, in outstandi
unsecured indebtedness owed to five related paitiekiding four former members of the Board of égitors, representing working cap
advances made to the Company from February 200lighrMarch 2005.

Relatec-Party Convertible Notes Payable

In March 2015, we entered into definitive agreeraertating to the exchange or amendment of thesrmtglencing such working cap
advances. Three of the notes issued to PatrickingulM.D., Maryl Petreccia and Jeffrey Dell, M.Dwvhich as of March 31, 2015 h
outstanding principal balances of $448,200, $26%,d@0d $208,900, respectively, were amended andhdlders received warrants for
purchase 37,347, 22,224, and 17,412 shares, resgecof our common stock at an exercise pric&®00 per share, exercisable on Marc
2015 and expiring on March 1, 2020, and warranysutchase 834, 417, and 417 shares, respectiiabyiracommon stock at an exercise p
of $6.00 per share, exercisable on March 2, 201bexpiring on March 1, 2020, to reimburse the thmeee holders for any fees or ot
expenses incurred in connection with this transacflhe convertible notes, as amended, requiresstt@ayments on a calendar quarterly |
and all outstanding principal and accrued inteogsthe maturity date, which is the earlier to ocsti(i) March 1, 2016, (ii) the sale of all
substantially all of our assets, or (iii) the margmnsolidation or other similar reorganizationtied Company or an affiliate of our Comp
with another entity. Under the terms of such cotibler note, upon the closing of a public offeringrguant to an effective registration stater
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, treguh at least $5,000,000 of gross cash procéedse Company for the sale of share
common stock or includes the sale of shares of comstock among the sale of other securities, theéelhdas the option to convert into
securities issued in such offering at a twenty @er¢20%) discount to the price per share (or pér, if applicable) of the securities issuec
the Company in such offering. The securities isdoatie holder upon conversion will be restrictedwsities.

One note issued to Raymond Takahashi, M.D., wakawged for (i) a new convertible promissory notthvain original principal amou
equal to the outstanding principal and interegheforiginal note, and (ii) a warrant to purchagi©Q shares of the Compasy¢ommon stock
an exercise price of $6.00 per share, exercisableetruary 20, 2015 and expiring on February 1982The new convertible note, which a
March 31, 2015 had an outstanding principal balasfc35,800, requires interest payments on a calegdarterly basis and all outstanc
principal and accrued interest on the maturity defsich is March 1, 2016. Under the terms of suchvertible note, upon the closing ¢
public offering pursuant to an effective registatistatement under the Securities Act of 1933 nasnaed, resulting in at least $5,000,00
gross cash proceeds to the Company for the sadhaseés of common stock or includes the sale ofeshair common stock among the sal
other securities, the holder has the option to ednnto the securities issued in such offering aenty percent (20%) discount to the price
share (or per unit, if applicable) of the secusitissued by the Company in such offering. The siesiissued to the holder upon conver
will be restricted securities.

The conversion of the relatgrhrty convertible notes payable at a 20% discomtihé price per share of the securities issuedpualdic
offering is contingent upon the closing of a puldftering pursuant to an effective registrationtestaent under the Securities Act of 193:
amended, resulting in at least $5,000,000 of goash proceeds to the Company. The fair value ob#reficial conversion feature will
recorded upon the contingency being resolved amtimpany estimated the fair value of the benéficiaversion feature of the relatpdsty
convertible notes aggregated $521,000 at Marcl2@15.

The relative fair value of the relatedrty warrants of $280,400 was recorded as a dstbuht and will be amortized to interest expi
using the straighline method which approximated the effective ins¢m@ethod over the term of the convertible notesring the year end:
March 31, 2015, the Company amortized $20,800 @fibt discount to interest expense for these cbhleenotes.

Relatedparty interest expense under these notes was $Baid $36,500 for the years ended March 31, 20852814, respectivel
Accrued interest, which is included in relajgaity notes payable in the accompanying consolidbtdance sheets, amounted to $4,60(
$802,600 as of March 31, 2015 and 2014, respeytivel

Relate-Party Note Payable

One note issued to Marc Grossman, M.D., which aslafch 31, 2015 had an outstanding principal baaoic$298,500, as amend
now provides for interest at a rate of 6% per anmommencing on March 13, 2015; however, no intguagiments will be due if no event
default occurs and if the Company (i) complies viighregular payment obligations, reimburses thgepdor attorneysfees in connection wi
the negotiation of the note amendment, up to a maxi amount of $1,000, on the later of (A) March 2815, or (B) three (3) days ai
receiving written notice from the payee of the anmtoaf attorneysfees incurred by payee, and (iii) the Company imiatety pays all unpa
amounts due and payable in full before the eadfdvlay 1, 2016 or at the same time that payee(9ngf other promissory note(s) with
Company that were issued in 2005 are paid in fefole May 1, 2016, other than (Y) notes that atésfsad upon conversion into comn
stock, warrants or any other equity of the Compamy(Z) notes that have been paid in full beforeréa2, 2015. All principal and intert
under the original note, as amended by the notendment, will be due and shall be paid on May 1,&20he note requires monthly payme
of $20,000, except for the month of June 2015, wihlee monthly payment is $72,000.

5% Bridge Notes

From December 2013 to March 2014, the Company is58& Bridge Notes in the original principal amooh$1,793,000. This includ
two notes in the aggregate amount of $120,000 dssuderrell Shelton, the Compés Chief Executive Officer, on December 11, 2013



January 10, 2014 as well as a note in the amoufii0®,000 issued to GBR Investments, LLC on Felyr@ar2014, of which Richa
Rathmann, a Director of the Company, is the mangger Note 8).
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Class A Convertible Preferred Stock

In November 2014, both Mr. Shelton and GBR InvesiisieLLC participated in the Class A convertibleefprred stock offerir
described in Note 11 and the Company issued 4,fiéiés of Class A convertible preferred stock eaobxchange for an aggregate amoul
$100,000.

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies
Facility and Equipment Leases

We lease 11,900 square feet of corporate, resemrdhdevelopment, and warehouse facilities in Lakee$t, California under |
operating lease expiring June 30, 2015, which waatdntend to renew. In May 2015, we amended ¢aséd to convert to a month+toentt
basis, commencing July 1, 2015. The base rentb&il$9,500 and either party will have the right ameel this month-toronth agreement |
giving the other party a minimum of a @@y prior written notice. We are currently explariother facilities to meet our growing demands.
lease agreement contains certain scheduled rergases, which are accounted for on a strdigbt-basis. We also lease certain ol
equipment which expires in March 2018.

Future minimum lease payments are approximatefglksvs:

Operating
Years ending March 31, Leases
2016 $ 27,20(
2017 5,50(
2018 5,50(
$ 3820

Rent expense for the years ended March 31, 2012@Hwas approximately $168,900 and $178,000eisly.
Employment Agreement

We have entered into employment agreements witlaioeof our officers under which payment and besefiould become payable in
event of termination by us for any reason othen tb&use, or upon a change in control of our Companlyy the employee for good reason.

Consulting and Engineering Services

Effective November 1, 2010, the Company enteregl inSecond Amendment to Master Consulting and Eegimg Services Agreem
(the “Second Amendment”) with KLATU Networks, LLCKLATU"), which amended the Master Consulting and EngineeBagice
Agreement between the parties dated as of Octql2d® (the “Agreement”las amended by the First Amendment to Master Cangudinc
Engineering Services Agreement between the pattigsd as of April 23, 2009. The parties entered iné Second Amendment to clarify tt
mutual intent and understanding that all licengélts granted to the Company under the Agreemeratiresded, shall survive any termina
or expiration of the Agreement. In addition, inagnition that the Company has paid KLATU less tlemmarket rate for comparable servi
the Second Amendment provides that if the Compaminates the Agreement without cause, which tha@my has no intention of doing,
liquidates, KLATU shall be entitled to receive dilmhial consideration for its services provided frdne commencement of the Agreen
through such date of termination, which additioc@inpensation shall not be less than $2 million phkgstimes the “cost of work’as define
in the Agreement). Any such additional compensati@uld be payable in three equal installments with? months following the date 1
amount of such additional compensation is deterchifdKLATU terminates that agreement, no such pegta are payable.

The agreement provides for one year terms endinDemember 31 of each year, but it automaticallyevenfor one year periods unl
otherwise terminated. Consulting fees for servipewided by KLATU were $339,300 and $395,300 far tlears ended March 31, 2015
2014, respectively.

Litigation
The Company may become a party to product litigaiiothe normal course of business. The Companguasdor open claims based

its historical experience and available insurarmestage. In the opinion of management, there ardegel matters involving the Company 1
would have a material adverse effect upon the Coyipa&onsolidated financial condition or resultsopierations.
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Indemnities and Guarantee

The Company has made certain indemnities and giegsnunder which it may be required to make paysnam a guaranteed
indemnified party, in relation to certain actions toansactions. The guarantees and indemnities adoprovide for any limitation of tt
maximum potential future payments the Company ctaldbligated to make. Historically, the Compang hat been obligated nor incur
any payments for these obligations and, therefoodjabilities have been recorded for these indéiemiand guarantees in the accompar
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company indemnifies its directors, officers,pbogees and agents, as permitted under the lawtheofStates of California a
Nevada. In connection with its facility lease, tbempany has indemnified its lessor for certainnataiarising from the use of the facility. 1
duration of the guarantees and indemnities vagied,is generally tied to the life of the agreement.

Note 11. Stockholders’ Equity
Authorized Stock

The Company has 20,833,333 authorized shares ofmoonstock with a par value of $0.001 per shareSéptember 2011, ¢
stockholders approved an amendment to the AmendddRastated Articles of Incorporation to authorizelass of undesignated or "bli
check" preferred stock, consisting of 2,500,000reshat $0.001 par value per share. Shares of pedfstock may be issued in one or n
series, with such rights, preferences, privilegas restrictions to be fixed by the Company's ba#rdirectors. In May 2014, our stockhold
approved a Certificate of Designation, which deatgd 800,000 shares of preferred stock as Claserettible Preferred Stock. In Febru
2015, the Company filed with the Secretary of Stdtthe State of Nevada a Certificate of Desigmatidhich designated 400,000 shares o
Companys previously authorized preferred stock, par v§0®01, as Class B Convertible Preferred Stoclddril 2015, the Company file
with the Secretary of State of the State of Newadacrease the number shares of Class B Conveffiléferred Stock from 400,000 share
585,000 shares.

Designation of Class A Convertible Preferred Stc

On May 2, 2014, the Company filed with the SecsetsfrState of the State of Nevada a Certificat®esignation which designai
800,000 shares of the Company’s previously authdrigreferred stock, par value $0.001, as Class Avé&rtible Preferred Stock Class /£
Preferred Stock”).

The rights, preferences, and privileges of the CRafreferred Stock are summarized as follows:

« Dividends shall accrue on shares of Class A PredeBtock at the rate of $0.96 per annum. Such elidd shall accrue day-to-day,
shall be cumulative, and shall be payable on whenand if declared by the Board of Directors ef @ompany

« Inthe event of any voluntary or involuntary ligatibn, dissolution, or winding up of the Companglders of Class A Preferred Stock
then outstanding shall be entitled to receive aidigtion preference payment equal to $12.00 paedsabject to appropriate
adjustment in the event of a stock dividend, spbinbination, or other similar recapitalizationyiplany accrued dividends, but unpaid
thereon, whether or not declared, together withaher dividends declared but unpaid there

» Shares of Class A Preferred Stock shall vote tegetlith the common stock on an esaverted basis. Holders of the Class A Prefe
Stock will have 2.5 votes per share of Class Adtretl Stock held compared to one vote for eactestfahe Company’s common
stock.

« Atany time after September 1, 2014, shares ofsAaBreferred Stock shall be convertible into Z&res of common stock. In
addition, accrued but unpaid dividends on the PrefeStock, whether or not declared, will also bewertible into common stock af
September 1, 2014 at the rate of one share for®a80 of dividend. Such conversion is subjectdinstment in the event of any st
split or combination, certain dividends and disitibns, and any reorganization, recapitalizatiea|assification, consolidation, or
merger involving the Compan

« Shares of the Class A Preferred Stock shall beesuty redemption by the Company at any time oafter January 15, 2017, upon
payment of $12.00 per share (subject to appropaidiiestment in the event of a stock dividend, sptitmbination, or other similar
recapitalization) plus all accrued but unpaid dérids, whether or not declared, there

« On March 26, 2015, the Company filed with the Sexryeof State of the State of Nevada an AmendedRewdated Certificate of
Designation (“Restated Designation”). The Rest&tedignation adopted certain special mandatory asiom provisions for the Class
A Preferred Stock upon a qualified offering (defires a public offering resulting in at least $5,000 of gross cash proceeds),
whereby the Class A Preferred Stock is convertethe type of securities issued in such qualitédring at a twenty percent (20%)
discount.
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Issuance of Class A Convertible Preferred Stc

In May 2014, the Company entered into definitiveeggnents for a private placement of its securiteesertain institutional ar
accredited investors (the “Class A Investoqgiysuant to certain subscription agreements arti@hs to convert between the Company an
Class A Investors. Through March 31, 2015, aggeegabss cash proceeds of $3.5 million (approxinga®@.9 million after offering cost
were collected in exchange for the issuance of1221shares of our Class A Convertible PreferreatkStand warrants, exercisable for i
years, to purchase up to a total of 194,095 shafrear common stock at an exercise price of $6.@0share. The Company intends to ust
net proceeds for working capital purposes.

Pursuant to the subscription agreements, the Coyniganed shares of a newly established Class A €tible Preferred Stock a
warrants to purchase common stock of Cryoport. Sfeges and warrants were issued as a unit (a “tisisting of (i) one share of Clas
Convertible Preferred Stock and (ii) one warranpuechase 0.67 shares of the Compamgmmon stock at an exercise price of $6.00 pae:
which were immediately exercisable and may be ésetlcat any time on or before March 31, 2019.

Pursuant to the terms of the 5% Bridge Notes isqiyethe Company between December 2013 and March @@h a total origine
principal amount of $1,793,000, the issuance ofithis to Class A Investors at $12.00 per Unittéetdithe holders of the 5% Bridge Note
convert up to the entire principal and accruedregeamount under the 5% Bridge Notes into Units i@te of $10.80 per Unit. Through Ma
31, 2015, 5% Bridge Note holders totaling $1,748,000riginal principal sum elected to convert thg% Bridge Notes, including accrt
interest of $24,000, for Units in exchange for thsuance of 163,608 shares of our Class A ConVerfleferred Stock and warrants
purchase up to 109,072 shares of our common stoak axercise price of $6.00 per share. Two of5#eBridge Note holders that exect
subscription agreements to convert 5% Bridge Notd¢ke aggregate principal amount of $220,000 #ikates of the Company Jerrell W
Shelton, the Company’ Chief Executive Officer, and GBR Investments, | Lwhich is managed by Richard Rathmann, a Direaiw
Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Comparolléctively, the “Affiliates”).

The fair value of the beneficial conversion featafeéhe convertible preferred stock issuance aedréative fair value of the warra
issued, aggregated $3.0 million through March 31,52 This amount was accreted to accumulated tefid additional paié capital durin
the year ended March 31, 2015.

Emergent served as the Companglacement agent in this transaction and receivét,respect to the gross proceeds received
Class A Investors who converted their 5% Bridgedsahto Units (not including those conversionshoy Affiliates), a commission of 3% an
non-accountable finance fee of 1% of such proceedswatidrespect to gross proceeds received fromth#rolnvestors, a commission of 1
and a noraccountable finance fee of 3% of the aggregatesguosceeds received from such Investors, plus naise@ment of legal expense:
up to $40,000. Emergent was issued a warrant tohpse 0.25 shares of common stock at an exerdise @ $6.00 per share for each
issued in this transaction. The offering of Undsew Investors concluded on February 4, 2015.

As of March 31, 2015, 454,750 shares of Class Av€dible Preferred Stock and 303,167 of the relatadants were outstanding
Class A Investors and 106,432 warrants were owtstgrfor Emergent in connection with the Class A@artible Preferred Stock offering e
the 5% Bridge Note conversions.

No dividends have been declared as of March 315;20dwever, the cumulative preferred stock dividef®301,500 is included in t
net loss attributable to common stockholders (sete I8) and the liquidation preference.

Designation of Class B Convertible Preferred Stc
On February 20, 2015, the Company filed with ther8mary of State of the State of Nevada a Certdiaaf Designation whic
designated 400,000 shares of the Compmapyéviously authorized preferred stock, par vé#iQé01, as Class B Convertible Preferred £
(“Class B Preferred Stock”Dn April 15, 2015, the Company filed with the Se¢arg of State of the State of Nevada to increasentimber ¢
Class B Convertible Preferred stock from 400,00886,000 shares.
The rights, preferences, and privileges of the CBfreferred Stock are summarized as follows:
« Dividends shall accrue on shares of Class B PedeBtock at the rate of $0.96 per annum. Such elidd shall accrue day-tay

shall be cumulative, and shall be payable on whenand if declared by the Board of Directors ef @ompany
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« Inthe event of any voluntary or involuntary ligatébn, dissolution, or winding up of the Companglders of Class B Preferred St
then outstanding shall be entitled to receive aidigtion preference payment equal to $12.00 peresfsubject to appropric
adjustment in the event of a stock dividend, spbtnbination, or other similar recapitalizationyiplany accrued dividends, but ung
thereon, whether or not declared, together withahgr dividends declared but unpaid there

« Shares of Class B Preferred Stock shall vote tegetith the common stock on an emaverted basis. Holders of the Clas
Preferred Stock will have 2.5 votes per share @S€IB Preferred Stock held compared to one votedoh share of the Compasy’
common stock

« At any time after issuance, shares of Class B BefeStock shall be convertible into 2.5 sharesashimon stock. In addition, accrt
but unpaid dividends on the Class B Preferred Stablether or not declared, will also be convertibt® common stock after issual
at the rate of one share for each $4.80 of divid&Suth conversion is subject to adjustment in theneof any stock split
combination, certain dividends and distributionsd any reorganization, recapitalization, reclasatfbn, consolidation, or mer¢
involving the Company

« Shares of the Class B Preferred Stock shall beestity) redemption by the Company at any time oafter January 15, 2017, upon
payment of $12.00 per share (subject to appropaditestment in the event of a stock dividend, spbtmbination, or other similar
recapitalization) plus all accrued but unpaid dérids, whether or not declared, there

» Shares of the Class B Preferred stock shall beesuty) special mandatory conversion provisions wpgnalified offering (defined as
public offering resulting in at least $5,000,000g0éss cash proceeds), whereby the Class B PréfStoek is converted into the type
of securities issued in such qualified offeringdtventy percent (20%) discou

Issuance of Class B Convertible Preferred Stc

In February 2015, the Company entered into defi@itigreements for a private placement of its seesirto certain institutional a
accredited investors (the “Class B Investofgijsuant to certain subscription agreements arufi@bs to convert between the Company an
Class B Investors. Through March 31, 2015, aggeegabss cash proceeds of $1.9 million (approxinga®dl.7 million after offering cost
were collected in exchange for the issuance of 7@l shares of our Class B Convertible Preferred¢kStand warrants, exercisable for 1
years, to purchase up to a total of 107,806 shafresr common stock at an exercise price of $6.80spare. The Company intends to us:
net proceeds for working capital purposes.

Pursuant to the subscription agreements, the Coyniganed shares of a newly established Class B €tihle Preferred Stock a
warrants to purchase common stock of Cryoport. Sifees and warrants were issued as a unit (a “JJotisisting of (i) one share of Clas
Convertible Preferred Stock and (ii) one warranpuechase 0.67 shares of the Compamgmmon stock at an exercise price of $6.00 pae:
which were immediately exercisable and may be ésedcat any time on or before May 31, 2020.

The fair value of the beneficial conversion featafghe convertible preferred stock issuance ardrétative fair value of the warra
issued, aggregated $1.9 million through March 31,52 This amount was accreted to accumulated tefid additional paié capital durin
the year ended March 31, 2015.

Emergent served as the Companglacement agent in this transaction and receivét, respect to the gross proceeds received
Class B Investors, a commission of 10% and a amountable finance fee of 3% of the aggregatesguosceeds received from such Cla:
Investors, plus reimbursement of legal expensegpdbd $5,000. Emergent was issued a warrant tchasec0.25 shares of common stock
exercise price of $6.00 per share for each Uniteidsn this transaction. The offering of Units ®nClass B Investors will conclude on M
18, 2015.

As of March 31, 2015, 161,709 shares of Class BvEdible Preferred Stock and 107,806 of the relatadants were outstanding
Class B Investors and 38,115 warrants were outstgridr Emergent in connection with the Class B @Gatible Preferred Stock offering.

No dividends have been declared as of March 315;20dwever, the cumulative preferred stock dividen®3,800 is included in the 1
loss attributable to common stockholders and tingidiation preference (see Note 2).

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
As of March 31, 2015, approximately 8.8 million sd& of common stock were issuable upon conversioexercise of rights grant

under prior financing arrangements, preferred stetdck options and warrants, as follows:
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Class A and B convertible preferred stock convertecbmmon stoc

Exercise of stock optior
Exercise of warrants

Total shares of common stock reserved for futiseanaces

1,541,14
1,793,74!
5,475,801

8,810,69!

In August 2014 and January 2015, we issued an ggtgref 3,334 shares of restricted common stock tonsultant in exchange
services. The Company recognized $17,400 in stasledb compensation expense related to these sbathe fyear ended March 31, 2015.

Note 12. Stock-Based Compensation

Warrant Activity

We typically issue warrants to purchase sharesioEommon stock to investors as part of a finantiagsaction or in connection with services
rendered by placement agents and consultants dealun outstanding warrants are 21,905 warrantsaath 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
issued to employees or directors. Our outstandiagamts expire on varying dates through Novemb@&d 28 summary of warrant activity is

follows:

Outstandinc— March 31, 201:
Issued
Exercisec
Forfeited
Expired
Outstandinc— March 31, 201«
Issued
Exercisec
Expired
Outstanding — March 31, 2015

Vested (exercisable) — March 31, 2015

Weighted-
Weightec- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price/Share Term (Years) Value (1)
3,085,601 $ 14.1¢€
2,103,431 4.2C
(77,199 2.64
(3,31) 101.8¢
(9,004 95.5:
5,099,52 10.0¢
826,28« 6.0C
(23,25¢) 4.0¢
(426,750 39.3¢
5,475,801 $ 7.2C 2€ $ 11,225,30
5,278,511 $ 7.2C 24 $ 10,704,40

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the differdoesveen the exercise price of the warrant anctiteéng market price of the comrmr
stock on March 31, 2015, which was $8.64 per st

The following table summarizes information withpest to warrants outstanding and exercisable ativiat, 2015:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Weighted- Weighted-
Number Contractual Average Number Average
Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 2.28-2.4C 198,96! 3.3 $ 2.4C 198,96! $ 2.4C
$ 2.52-4.4¢ 1,729,31 3.5 $ 4.4¢ 1,729,31' $ 4.44
$ 4.56-8.2¢ 1,734,81! 3.0 $ 7.2C 1,537,52" $ 7.2C
$ 8.40-11.0¢ 1,785,96. 0.7 $ 9.24 1,785,96. $ 9.24
$ 11.16 —129.6( 26,74 2.2 $ 85.9¢ 26,74: $ 85.9:
5,475,80! 5,278,511
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Stock Options

We have three stock incentive plans: the 2002 Shockntive Plan (the “2002 Plan”), the 2009 Stockelntive Plan (the “2009 Plan”
and the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2011 Pla(cdllectively, the “Plans”)The 2002 Plan expired and no options have beeneay
pursuant the 2002 Plan or 2009 Plan subsequehetadoption of the 2011 Plan. On September 6, B4 3tockholders approved an incre
to the number of shares of the Compangommon stock available for issuance under thd Z04n by 591,667 shares. On August 29, 201
stockholders approved an increase to the numbsharfes of the Comparsycommon stock available for issuance by 125,0@0esh As ¢
March 31, 2015, the Company has 25,314 shares®Rd8&2 available for future awards under the 20@@ Bnd the 2011 Plan, respectively
December 2014, 262,500 options were granted outisalplan to Jerrell Shelton, the Company’s Chieddtitive Officer.

During each of the two years in the period endedckl®1, 2015, we granted stock options at exefqmiges equal to or greater than
guoted market price of our common stock on thetgilate. The fair value of each option grant wasresed on the date of grant using Black
Scholes with the following weighted average assionpt

March 31,
2015 2014
Expected life (years 15-6.1 1.6-6.0
Risk-free interest rat 0.31%- 2.03% 0.19%- 1.84%
Volatility 103%- 128% 127%- 140%
Dividend yield 0% 0%

The expected option life assumption is estimatesktdan the simplified method. Accordingly, the Camp has utilized the average
the contractual term of the options and the weidjlaeerage vesting period for all options to cal®ikhe expected option term. The riske
interest rate assumption is based upon observetesitrates appropriate for the expected term pfemployee stock options. The expe:
volatility is based on the historical volatility our stock commensurate with the expected lifehefstockbased award. We do not anticif
paying dividends on the common stock in the forabksefuture.

We recognize stock-based compensation cost overvélsting period using the straight-line single optimethod. Stockase!
compensation expense is recognized only for theseds that are ultimately expected to vest. Amesstied forfeiture rate has been applie
unvested awards for the purpose of calculating @msation cost. The estimated forfeiture rate of @86 year is based on the histor
forfeiture activity of unvested stock options. Taesstimates are revised, if necessary, in futuredge if actual forfeitures differ from tl
estimates. Changes in forfeiture estimates impatipensation cost in the period in which the changsstimate occurs.

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price/Share Term (Years) Value (1)
Outstandinc— March 31, 201: 424,641 % 5.64
Granted (weighted-average fair value of $2.88 pe
share) 639,43¢ 3.3¢€
Exercisec (54,750 2.4C
Forfeited (16,489 3.84
Expired (1,667 72.0(
Outstandinc— March 31, 201« 991,18 4.2C
Granted (weighted-average fair value of $4.20 pe
share) 955,19¢ 4.92
Exercisec (657) 3.2¢4
Forfeited (150,130 4.5¢€
Expired (1,850 27.4¢
Outstanding — March 31, 2015 1,793,74' $ 4.5€ 83 $ 7,761,501
Vested (exercisable) — March 31, 2015 686,84¢ $ 4.6¢ 6.8 $ 3,119,20i
Unvested (unexercisable) — March 31, 2015 1,106,89° $ 4.44 33 § 4,642,30

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the differelnegveen the exercise price of the option and thsing market price of the comm
stock on March 31, 2015, which was $8.64 per st
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The following table summarizes information withpest to stock options outstanding and exercisatiiéaach 31, 2015:

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Years) Price Exercisable Price
$ 2.04-4.6¢ 856,95¢ 7.8 $ 3.3¢ 47353 $ 3.12
$ 4.80-6.2¢ 835,50: 9.4 $ 4,92 121,67¢ $ 5.1¢€
$ 6.36— 11.7¢ 90,101 4.7 $ 7.92 80,77: $ 8.04
$ 12.60- 26.4( 4,467 5.4 $ 19.4¢ 4,158 % 19.6¢
$ 51.60-99.72 6,71¢ 15 $ 55.4¢ 6,71t $ 55.4¢
1,793,74 686,84

As of March 31, 2015, there was unrecognized corsgdgon expense of $4.2 million related to unvestedk options, which we exp:
to recognize over a weighted average period of/8a3s.

Note 13. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 are sholewbe

March 31,
2015 2014

(00C's)
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 16,83( $ 15,37¢
Research credi 56 60
Expenses recognized for granting of options andamas 1,55¢ 1,651
Accrued expenses and reser 20 13t
Valuation allowance (18,46() (17,225

$ — $ =

Based on the weight of available evidence, the Gamis management has determined that it is moedylithan not that the net deferred
tax assets will not be realized. Therefore, the Gamy has recorded a full valuation allowance agaimesnet deferred tax assets. The
Company’s income tax provision consists of stateimiim taxes.

The income tax provision differs from that computisihg the federal statutory rate applied to inctrefre taxes as follows:

March 31,
2015 2014

Computed tax benefit at federal statutory | $ (2,382,000 $ (6,650,00i)
State tax, net of federal bene (187,000 (327,000
Warrant MTM Adjustmen — (7,000
Induced conversion cos — 4,663,00!
Interest expens 462,00( —
Permanent items and ott 873,60( 4,60(
Valuation allowance 1,235,00! 2,318,001

$ 1,600 $ 1,60(

At March 31, 2015, the Company has federal anck stat operating loss carryforwards of approxima#®,386,000 and $36,057,(
which will begin to expire in 2019, unless previlyustilized, and as of 2012 have already begurotcstate carryforwards. At March 31, 2C
the Company has federal and California researchdamdlopment tax credits of approximately $18,000 $58,000, respectively. The fed
research tax credit begins to expire in 2026 urpesgiously utilized and the California research ¢eedit has no expiration date.

Utilization of the net operating loss and reseant development carryforwards might be subject satzstantial annual limitation due
ownership change limitations that may have occuoretthat could occur in the future, as requiredSegtion 382 of the Internal Revenue C
of 1986, as amended (the “Codedy well as similar state and foreign provisionseSéhownership changes may limit the amount of NG
R&D credit carryforwards that can be utilized anhuto offset future taxable income and tax, respedy. In general, an “ownership change’
as defined by Section 382 of the Code results feotransaction or series of transactions over setear period resulting in an owners
change of more than 50 percentage points of the@anding stock of a company by certain stockholdeysublic groups. Since the Compasy’
formation, the Company has raised capital throughissuance of capital stock on several occasidrishwcombined with the purchas
stockholder’ subsequent disposition of those shares, may hawéted in such an ownership change, or could résw@h ownership change



the future upon subsequent disposition.
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The Company has not completed a study to assesthevhan ownership change has occurred. If the Caomnpes experienced
ownership change, utilization of the NOL or R&D ditecarryforwards would be subject to an annuaithtion under Section 382 of the Cc
which is determined by first multiplying the valoéthe Company'’s stock at the time of the ownershiange by the applicable long-term, tax
exempt rate, and then could be subject to additadiastments, as required. Any limitation may tesuexpiration of a portion of the NOL
R&D credit carryforwards before utilization. Furthentil a study is completed and any limitatiorki®wn, no amounts are being considere
an uncertain tax position or disclosed as an umy@ized tax benefit. Due to the existence of theiatidn allowance, future changes in
Companys unrecognized tax benefits will not impact itseeffve tax rate. Any carryforwards that will exppeor to utilization as a result
such limitations will be removed from deferred tesets with a corresponding reduction of the valnatllowance.

On September 13, 2013, the U.S. Treasury Departmed@ased final income tax regulations on the deolicand capitalization
expenditures related to tangible property. Thasa fiegulations apply to tax years beginning oafter January 1, 2014. The Company adc
the tax treatment of expenditures to improve taegivoperty and the capitalization of inherentlgilitgative costs to acquire tangible props
as of April 1, 2014. The tangible property reguas required the Company to make additional taxauiing method changes as of Apri
2014; however, the impact of these changes wasnatdrial to the Company’consolidated financial position, its results pemtions or il
footnote disclosures.

Note 14. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
A summary of quarterly financial data is as follof8sn ‘000’s):

Quarter Ended

June 30 September 3(C December 31 March 31

Year ended March 31, 201!
Total revenue $ 937 $ 82t $ 97t % 1,19¢
Gross margit $ 33¢ $ 22t % 23t $ 37C
Operating los: $ (1,169 $ (1,37 $ (1,357) $ (1,699
Net loss $ (2,297) $ (1,385 $ (1,409 $ (1,937
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldrs-

basic and dilute $ (0.67) $ (0.6 $ (040 $ (0.79
Year ended March 31, 201+
Total revenue $ 48¢ % 58C $ 757 $ 83t
Gross margit $ 55 § 72 % 167 $ 142
Operating los: $ (1,260 $ (1,287 $ (1,257 $ (1,279
Net loss $ (1,329 $ (14,96() $ (1,840 $ (1,447
Net loss per share attributable to common stocldre-

basic and dilute $ (042 $ (459 $ (0370 $ (0.29)

Earnings per basic and diluted shares are compntighendently for each of the quarters presentsddan basic and diluted she
outstanding per quarter and, therefore, may nottsutime totals for the year.

Note 15. Subsequent Events

From April 6, 2015 to May 18, 2015, the Companyéss additional shares of the Class B ConvertibkfdPred Stock to Class
Investors. Gross proceeds of $4.2 million (appratety $3.6 million after offering costs) were calied in exchange for the issuanct
347,637 shares of our Class B Convertible Prefestedk, and warrants, exercisable for five yeargurchase up to a total of 231,758 shar
our common stock at an exercise price of $6.00spare. In May 2015, Mrs. Richard Berman, spousa lbbbard member, participated in
Class B Convertible Preferred Stock offering arel @ompany issued 1,667 shares of Class B conwepileiferred stock each in exchange
an aggregate amount of $20,000. The Company intenase the net proceeds for working capital puepos

On May 7, 2015, the Company granted employees ardbvars of the board of directsroptions to purchase 465,625 and 20,834 s
of common stock, respectively, with an exerciseguf $7.80 per share, of which 355,000 shares vgsteed outside of a plan. The exer
price for the shares of common stock pursuant ¢ootbtion is equal to the fair market value of ttmmpanys common stock on the date
grant.

F-27




Index to Exhibits

Exhibit

No. Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatibthe Company, as amended. Incorporated byeneée to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Compémgorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the @amy’s Current Report on
Form &K dated October 23, 201

3.3 Cryoport Systems, Inc. 2002 Stock IncentilenRdopted by the Board of Directors on Octob&0D2. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.13 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

3.4 Amended and Restated Certificate of Designaif Class A Preferred Stock. Incorporated byreefee to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 26, 201!

3.5 Certificate of Designation of Class B Preddr6tock. Incorporated by reference to Exhibitd.the Companys Current Report ¢
Form &K dated February 20, 201

3.6 Amendment to Certificate of Designation 0A€3 B Preferred Stock. Incorporated by referem€aryoport’'s Amendment No. 1
to Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 17, 2015 and referred to as Exhilft

3.7+ Certificate of Change filed with the Nevada Seatetd State on May 12, 201

4.1 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dagptehber 28, 2007. Incorporated by reference to@nmt's Registration
Statement on Form $-2 dated November 9, 20C

4.2 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May@@8.2ncorporated by reference to Cryoport’s CurfReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 200¢

4.3 Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May@B@B.2ncorporated by reference to Cryoport’s CurReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 200¢

4.4 Form of Warrant and Warrant Certificate imwection with the February 25, 2010 public offeritrgcorporated by reference to
Cryopor’'s Amendment No. 5 to Formr-1/A Registration Statement dated February 9, 2

4.5 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in ection with the August to October 2010 private plaent. Incorporated by
reference to Cryopc's Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201

4.6 Form of First Amendment to Security Purchageeement in connection with the August to Octa®@t0 private placement.
Incorporated by reference to Cryof's Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201

4.7 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (Coation of the Placement) in connection with the #stgo October 2010 private
placement. Incorporated by reference to Cryc's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

4.8 Registration Rights Agreement in connectidtii the August to October 2010 private placemertotporated by reference to
Cryopor’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

4.9 Form of Joinder to Registration Rights Agreatrin connection with the August to October 204i0gie placement. Incorporated
by reference to Cryopcs Registration Statement on Forr1 dated October 19, 201

4.10 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement imection with the February 2011 private placemerdoiporated by reference to
Cryopor’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011

4.11

Form of Registration Rights Agreement in conrattvith the February 2011 private placement. Incoated by reference to
Cryoport's Registration Statement on Form S-1 détedl 1, 2011.




Exhibit
No.

Description

412

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

Form of Warrant in connection with the AugiesOctober 2010 private placement. Incorporatedeference to Cryoport’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1/A dated April 22, 2011

Form of Warrant in connection with the Fely2011 private placement. Incorporated by refegdn Cryoport’s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A dated April 22, 2011

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement. parated by reference to Cryoport’s Current ReporEorm 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 24, 201

Form of Registration Rights Agreement. lipooated by reference to Cryoport's Current ReporForm 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 24, 201

Form of Warrant. Incorporated by reference to Cort's Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 20:

Form of Warrant issued with Convertible Pissary Notes. Incorporated by reference to ExHit#0 of Cryoport’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

Form of Warrant issued upon Conversion afv@dible Promissory Notes. Incorporated by rafeesto Exhibit 4.21 of
Cryopor’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

Form of Warrant Issued to Placement Agelitsorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 of Crgrfs Quarterly Report on Form
1C-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

Form of Warrant issued with Convertible Pissary Notes (5% Bridge Notes). Incorporated gnence to Exhibit 4.23 of
Cryopor’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2(

Form of Warrant issued in connection with thay 2014 private placement. Incorporated by esfee to Exhibit 4.24 of
Cryopor’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. Incorpdriay reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’sr€ur Report on Form B-datec
December 9, 201:

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. Incorpdray reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’sr€uir Report on Form B-datec
February 20, 201!

Form of Warrant issued in connection with ixchange and Investment Agreement. Incorporatedfbrence to Exhibit 4.1 of
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 9, 201!

Form of March Warrant issued in connectidth the Investment Agreement. Incorporated by exfee to Exhibit 4.2 of the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 9, 201!

Form of March Fee Warrant issued in cononaatiith the Investment Agreement. Incorporateddfgnence to Exhibit 4.3 of the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated March 9, 201!

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and D. Petreccia executed on August 26520®orporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and J. Dell executed on September 1, 2D@®rporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and P. Mullens executed on September 25 2@@orporated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryoport, &imd R. Takahashi executed on August 25, 2005rpacated by reference to
Cryopor’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(




Exhibit
No.

Description

10.2.1

10.2.2

10.2.3

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11.1

10.11.2

10.11.3

10.12

10.13

10.14

Lease Agreement dated June 26, 2007 bet@s®@Port, Inc. and Viking Investors—Barents Sé&LIncorporated by reference
to CryoPor's Quarterly Report on Form -QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 and reféoras Exhibit 10.!

Second Amendment To Lease: Renewal daigdst 24, 2009, between CryoPort, Inc. and Vikimgehtors-Barents Sea LLC.
Incorporated by reference to Cryof's Amendment No. 1 to Forn-1/A Registration Statement dated January 12, 2

Third Amendment to Lease: Renewal datee &,)2010 between Viking Investors Barents Se&.llhcorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5.3 to Cryopad’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Securities Purchase Agreement dated Septemb@0@7, Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’s Riegiion Statement on Form
SB-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhib@.

Registration Rights Agreement dated Septembe2@7F7. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’s Biegiion Statement on Form
SB-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhibit.

Security Agreement dated September 27, 2007 rpocated by reference to Cryoport’s Registraticaté8hent on Form SB-datel
November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhibit 1

Securities Purchase Agreement dated May 30, 2868tporated by reference to Cryoport’'s Currenpéeon Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1C

Registration Rights Agreement dated May2808. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’s CatrReport on Form 8-K dated
June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1C

Waiver dated May 30, 2008. Incorporateddigrence to Cryoport's Current Report on Form 8ated June 9, 2008 and referred
to as Exhibit 10.12

Security Agreement dated May 30, 2008. Iporated by reference to Cryoport’s Current ReporEorm 8-K dated June 9, 2008
and referred to as Exhibit 10.]

Consent, Waiver and Agreement with Enalben@ Partners LP, Enable Opportunity PartnersRiBrce Diversified Strategy
Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fund atttd Cryoport Inc. and its subsidiary dated JulyZBW9. Incorporated by
reference to Cryopc's Current Report on Forn-K dated July 29, 2009 and referred to as Exhibit 8(

Master Consulting and Engineering Sesvitgreement dated October 9, 2007 with KLATU Netwgoi LC and CryoPort, Inc.
Incorporated by reference to Cryoport, Inc.’s Regifon Statement on Form S-8 dated March 25, 20@Preferred to as Exhibit
10.2.

First Amendment to Master Consulting Bndineering Services Agreement dated as of AprilB®9, between CryoPort, Inc.
and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorporated by referertoeCryoport’s Registration Statement on Form S-déted December 17,
2010 and referred to as Exhibit 10.:

Second Amendment to Master Consultingeargineering Services Agreement dated as of Novethd#)10, between CryoPort,
Inc. and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorporated by redeice to Cryoport’s Registration Statement on Forid/Sdated December
17, 2010 and referred to as Exhibit 10.

Stock Option Agreement ISO under the 2a02KSIncentive Plan of Cryoport Systems, Inc. Ipaoated by reference to Exhibit
3.14 to the Compar's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

Stock Option Agreement NSO under the 2aG62kSncentive Plan of Cryoport Systems, Inc. Ipaoated by reference to Exhibit
3.15 to the Compar' s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Compangorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of trmmPany’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated October 15, 2009 and referred to as Exhihi21.




Exhibit
No.

Description

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23*

10.24*

10.25#

10.26*

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

Form Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement undher 2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Company. Inoaied by reference to
Exhibit 10.22 of the Compa's Current Report on Forn-K dated October 9, 200

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreemender the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Comphamarporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Comp’s Registration Statement on Fori-8 dated April 27, 201(

2011 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended and restaledyrporated by reference to Exhibit B of then@pany’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC og 30| 2012

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement. Incorporabgdeference to Exhibit 10.37 to Cryoport’s CurrBetport on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 27, 20

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreemédntorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to Quyd’'s Current Report
on Form i-K filed with the SEC on September 27, 20

Form of Convertible Promissory Note. Incorporatgddference to Exhibit 10.24 to Cryoport’'s Annuafrt on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Amendment to Convertible Promissory Noteokporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Crytpdnnual Report on
Form 1(-K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Convertible Promissory Note. Incorporatgdédference to Exhibit 10.26 to Cryoport’s Annuad®rt on Form 10-K filed
with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Employment Agreement between the Company and D&irelton. Incorporated by reference to the Comfm@urrent Report ¢
Form &K filed on November 6, 2012 and referred to as Bixti0.45.

Stock Option Agreement dated November 5, 2012 betvtlee Company and Jerrell Shelton. Incorporatekfgrence to Exhibit
10.28 to Cryopo’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Master Agreement between the Company and FedepaeEsx Corporation dated January 1, 2013. Incorpwtay reference to tt
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 8, 2013 and referred to as ExAib.1.

Employment Agreement dated June 28, 2013 with ID&helton. Incorporated by reference to Exhilfit3D to Cryopors Curren
Report on Form-K filed with the SEC on July 3, 201

Form of Convertible Promissory Notes issued withriéfiats. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1a@Cryoport’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

Form of Letter of Tender and Exchange. Incorpatéiereference to Exhibit 10.32 to Cryoport’s Qadst Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2(

Form of Convertible Promissory Note (5% Bridge Nassued with Warrants. Incorporated by referaidexhibit 10.33 to
Cryopor’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended December 31, 2(

Form of Subscription Agreement in connection wite May 2014 private placement. Incorporated byregfee to Exhibit 10.34 t
Cryopor’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Election to Convert in connection with fay 2014 private placement. Incorporated by refegeio Exhibit 10.35 to
Cryopor’s Annual Report on Form -K filed with the SEC on June 25, 20:

Form of Indemnification Agreement. Incorporatedreference to Exhibit 10.1 to Cryoport’s Current Ben Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on July 16, 201

Subscription Agreement and Letter of Investmergnntincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 tgaport’s Current Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on December 9, 20:




Exhibit

No. Description

10.34 2014 Series Secured Promissory Note. locatgd by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Cryoportigi@nt Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 9, 20:

10.35 Security Agreement. Incorporated by refegein Exhibit 10.3 to Cryoport’s Current Reportform 8-K filed with the SEC on
December 9, 201

10.36 Subscription Agreement and Letter of Inwestt Intent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibitllto Cryoport’'s Current Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on February 20, 20:

10.37 Form of Note Exchange Agreement and Leftémvestment Intent, dated February 19, 2015. dporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Cryopo’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

10.38 Form of Exchange Note issued in connegtidimthe Exchange and Investment Agreement. Incaited by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to Cryopo’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

10.39 Form of Letter of Investment Intent, datéarch 2, 2015. Incorporated by reference to ExHibBi8 to Cryoport’s Current Report
on Form K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

10.40 Form of Amended and Restate Note issuedrninection with the Exchange and Investment Agregnhecorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to Cryopad’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 201

10.41 Amendment to Simple Interest Commerciah®ssory Note, dated March 2, 2015. Incorporatedetigrence to Exhibit 10.5 to
Cryopor’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 20:

10.42*+  Stock Option Agreement dated December 18, 2014dwtwthe Company and Jerrell Sheli

21+ Subsidiaries of Registrar

23.1+ Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking—KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

31.1+ Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puest to Rule 13-14(a)/15¢-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

31.2+ Certification of Principal Financial Officer, purant to Rule 13-14(a)/15+14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

32.1+ Certification of Principal Executive Officgursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the Gtes Exchange Act of 1934 and
18 U.S.C. Section 135

32.2+ Certification of Principal Financial Offiggursuant to Rule 13a-14(b)/15d-14(b) of the $ides Exchange Act of 1934 and
18 U.S.C. Section 135

101.INS+ XBRL Instance Documen

101.SCH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

101.CAL+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutn

101.DEF+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docure

101.LAB+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documk

101.PRE+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeni




Indicates a management contract or compensatomygplarrangemen

Confidential portions omitted and filed sepanatgith the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commispimsuant to Rule 24B-promulgate
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astk
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BARBARA K. CEGAVSKE e
Sacretary of State

202 Nortt Carsor Stract

Carscn City, Mevada 85701 4201

(775) BE4-ET0B

Website: www.nvsos.gov

——

Filed i1 the officz of  Doourient Mombe
Certificate of Change Pursuant o ki e T
to NRS 78.209 Sesretary of State | 05/12/2016 3:42 P
State of Heovads Frticy Mianher
G4643-1990
USE BLACK INK DMLY - DO 4CT HIGHLIGHT ABDVE SPALCE 5 FOR OFFICE UBE ONLY
i i€ 09
For Nevada Profit Corporations

1. Name of corporaiicn

Cryoport, Ine.

Z. The board of directors have adoptec a resclution pursuant to NRS 78.2C9 and have obtained any
requirad approval o’ the stockolders:

3. The currant number of authorized shares and Ihe par value, if a1y, of sach class or series, fany of
shares beforz ihe change:

250,000,000 shares of corrmon stoek, sér value $0.001; 2,500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
_Si]_{I{I'I , of which 800,000 arz des gnated as Class A Preferred Steck and ... (continuation attached)

4. The nurber of autherized shares and the par value If any of each cass orseries, if any, of shares after
the change:

20,833,333 sharzs cf common stock, par value $0.001; 2,500,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
SC.001, of which 300,000 are des gnated as Class A Preferrec Stock and .. (contimuation attached)

5. The number of shares of ezch affecied elass or series, if any, tc be lssued fter the change in exchange
for eazh ssued share of the same class or series:

 The corporation shell issue one (1) share cf common siock for every twelve (12) sheres of eommon stock
issued and outstanding immediately prior 1o the effective date of the reverse stock split.

8. Tne provisicns, if any, for the issuance of fraztonal sheres, or for the payment of maney or the issuarce of
scrip to stockholders otherws2 antitlec 1 a fraction of a share and the perceniage of cutstancing shares
aftected thereby:

"The corporation will not issue any “ractioral shares resulting from the reverse stock split, axd, instead, any
fractional shares tesulting from the reverse stock split skall be rounded 1o the next whole share.

7. Effective date and time of fling (opfonal)  Date: 51915 Time:
8. Signature: (required) (st not be faler than 60 days aftar the certficate s filed)
rs . ¥ I
x -"r III. h ™ /N Y s ; ‘
fie Nl B LA _}m_ P, Caiaf Financial Officer
Sigr@frp-ﬁ?hﬁhﬂ Tigle

IMPORTANT: Failurs to induse any of the above hformation and submit with the proper fees ngy cause ths filing b2 be rejeciec.

This formm must be acsaTanEd by ApRERTA ees bt bl i e

= Fm |







{continuation from Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78.209)

3 585,000 are designated as Class B Preferred Stock.

4. 585,000 are designated as Class B Preferred Stock.




EXHIBIT 10.42
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

This Stock Option Agreement (“Agreement”) is betwe@ryoport, Inc. (“Company”) anderrell Shelton (the “Optionee”),and it
effective as of December 18, 2014 (“Grant Date”).

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the mutual covenants and cardithereinafter set forth and for other good aaldiable consideration, the rect
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledghd,Gompany and the Optionee agree as follows:

1. Grant of Option. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Compaants to the Optionee the right and option tachpase fror
the Company all or any part of an aggregat&,460,000shares of the Common Stock of the Company (“Opjioffie Option granted unc
this Agreemenis not intended to be an “incentive stock optiomider Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code9861as amended (|
“Code").

2. Purchase Price. The purchase price under this Agreemen$040, the per share closing price the of Common Stdcthe
Company (“Stock”) on the Grant Date, which is eqoahe fair market value of a share of Stock a@rant Date.

3. Vesting of Option. The Option shall vest and be exercisable accortirige following schedule:
1/48 of the options vest on the ¥8of each month for forty eight months beginning orf18/2015 and ending on 12/18/20

Provided that such vesting will be accelerated o date that the Company files a Form 10-Q or Fb@K indicating an income fro
operations for the Company in two consecutive figcarters;

Provided further, that, pursuant to Section 13 Wwekuch vesting will be accelerated in the evera 6hange of Control (as defined in Section
13).

4. Exercise of Option. This Option may be exercised, to the extent ve@teder Section 3 above), in whole or in part at &ime
before the Option expires by delivery of a writtestice of exercise (under Section 6 below) and gaymof the purchase price in cash or ¢
other method permitted by the Compensation Comenitiethe Board of Directors of the Company (the rfi@uittee”) under Section 5 ai
communicated to the Optionee before the date thm@ge exercises the Option.

5. Payment. The Committee may determine methods other thah by which the exercise price of the Option may#iel, the forr
of payment, including, without limitation, cashoprissory note, shares of Stock held for longer tiammonths (through actual tender ol
attestation), any net-issuance arrangement or gbheperty acceptable to the Committee (includingkbr-assisted “cashless exercise
arrangements), and the methods by which sharetok Shall be delivered or deemed to be delivendti¢ Optionee.




6. Method of Exercising Option. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Optitaly be exercised by timely delivery to
Company of written notice, which notice shall bieefive on the date received by the Company. Thie@shall state the Optionaseglection t
exercise the Option and the number of underlyirayeshin respect of which an election to exerciselde®n made. Such notice shall be si
by the Optionee, or if the Option is exercised lyyeason or persons other than the Optionee beadube Optionees death, such notice m
be signed by such other person or persons andshatcompanied by proof acceptable to the Compétlye legal right of such person
persons to exercise the Option.

7. Registration. The Company shall use its commercially reasonafftits to file a registration statement on Form3 8nder th
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, covering tealeeof the Stock and will use its commerciallys@able efforts to cause such registre
statement to be declared effective as soon asiqahbld.

8. Term of Option. The Option granted under this Agreement expirdbeearlier of (a) ten (10) years from the GranteD#roug!
and including the normal close of business of tbenBany on the tenth (I0) anniversary of the Grant Date, and (b) ninety) (@dys after th
resignation and/or removal of the Optionee as apl@yee of the Company, through and including themad close of business of the Comp
on the ninetieth (90th) day after such resignagiod/or removal.

9. Tax Withholding . Unless otherwise provided by the Committee priothe vesting of Option, the Optionee shall satiafy
federal, state, local or foreign employment or meataxes due upon the vesting of Option (or otreedy having the Company withhold fr
those shares of Stock that the Optionee would wikerbe entitled to receive, a number of sharesngaa fair market value equal to
minimum statutory amount necessary to satisfy tlen@anys applicable federal, state, local and foreign mmeoand employment t
withholding obligations. Any such withholding shakk subject to the provisions of applicable law &mény conditions the Committee n
determine to be necessary to comply with Rule 36dr- its successors under the Exchange Act. In diewand subject to, the above,
Committee may also permit the Optionee to satisfy #&deral, state, local, or foreign employmentrmome taxes due upon the vestin
Option (or otherwise) by (i) personal check or otbash equivalent acceptable to the Company, éiinitting the Optionee to execute a s
day sale of Stock pursuant to procedures approyadebCompany, or (iii) such other method as apgdolyy the Committee, all in accorda
with applicable Company policies and proceduresapplicable law.

10. Nontransferability. The Option granted by this Agreement shall notrbadferable by the Optionee or any other persamiig
through the Optionee, either voluntarily or invdiamily, except by will or the laws of descent anstiibution.

11. Nonstatutory Stock Option The Option granted hereunder is a nonstatutasp-(ualified) stock option, and is not ancentive
stock option” pursuant to the Code.




12. Stock Certificates Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrahe Company shall not be required to issue or delan
certificates evidencing shares of Stock pursuarthéoexercise of the Option, unless and until then@ittee has determined, with advice
counsel, that the issuance and delivery of sudiificates is in compliance with all applicable lawsgulations of governmental authorities i
if applicable, the requirements of any exchangejuotation system on which the shares of Stock iated, quoted or traded. All Stc
certificates delivered pursuant to this Agreemeatsaibject to any stoppansfer orders and other restrictions as the Cdéteendeems necess
or advisable to comply with Federal, state, or ifprgurisdiction, securities or other laws, ruleslaegulations and the rules of any nati
securities exchange or automated quotation systemvhich the Stock is listed, quoted, or traded. Twenmittee may place legends on
Stock certificate to reference restrictions apptiieato the Stock. In addition to the terms and dtms provided herein, the Board Direct
may require that the Optionee make such reasoralenants, agreements, and representations asotirel Bf Directors, in its discretic
deems advisable in order to comply with any suefs)aegulations, or requirements.

13. Change in Control. Notwithstanding any other provision herein to tieatrary, upon a Change in Control, the entirei@pshal
automatically become immediately vested and/or@sable and that all restrictions relating to thgi@n shall lapse.

a. “Change in Control” means any one or more of tHiefdng events:

(i) The date that any one person, or more than gereon acting as a group (as determined in accoedwiitt
Treasury Regulation Section 1.40%8)(5)), acquires ownership of stock of the Compadimat, together with stock held by such persc
group, constitutes more than 50% of the total faérket value or total voting power of the stocktlteé Company. This paragraph (i) o
applies when there is a transfer of stock of then@any (or issuance of stock of the Company) ancksitothe Company remains outstanc
after the transaction;

(i) The date that any one person, or more than person acting as a group (as determined in accoedwitt
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)), acesior has acquired during the m®nth period ending on the date of the most re
acquisition by such person or persons) assets tfihenCompany that have a total gross fair marketevalgual to or more than 40% of the t
gross fair market value of all of the assets of @menpany immediately prior to such acquisition ogudsitions. For this purposegross fai
market value’means the value of the assets of the Company,eovdtue of the assets being disposed of, determintdut regard to ar
liabilities associated with such assets; or

(iii) The date that any person, or more than ormsgreacting as a group (as determined in accordaitheTreasur
Regulation 1.409A-3(i)(5)), acquires (or has acegiiduring the 12nonth period ending on the most recent acquisiiprsuch person
persons) ownership of stock of Company posses$ifg@& more of the total voting power of the sto€kCompany.




The transfer of stock or assets of the Companymnection with a bankruptcy filing by or agains¢ tiompany under Title 11 of the Uni
States Code wilhot be considered to be a Change of Control fopgees of this Agreement. Additionally, a transatsball not constitute
Change in Control if its sole purpose is to chathgestate of the Comparsyincorporation or to create a holding company wilitoe owned ii
substantially the same proportions by the persdrsveld the Company’s securities immediately begueh transaction.

14. Waiver and Modification. The provisions of this Agreement may not be waigedhodified unless such waiver or modificatio
in writing and signed by a representative of thenGuttee.

15. Adjustments. In the event of any change in the outstanding shaff&tock by reason of a stock dividend or spditapitalizatior
merger, consolidation, combination, exchange ofes)aor other similar corporate change, the aggeegamber of shares of Stock subjec
the Option and its stated exercise price shalldyeséed appropriately by the Committee, whose dgtation shall be conclusive; provid
however, that fractional shares shall be roundetiemearest whole share. Moreover, in the evesuci transaction or event, the Commi
in its discretion, may provide in substitution tbe Option such alternative consideration (inclgdiash) as it, in good faith, may determin
be equitable under the circumstances and may eequiconnection therewith the surrender of the @pto replaced. Further, with respec
any Option that otherwise satisfies the requiresefithe stock rights exception to Section 409Ahaf Code, any adjustment pursuant to
Section 15 shall be made consistent with the reqents of the final regulations promulgated purst@®ection 409A of the Code.

16. Requirements of Law

a. Securities Act The Company shall not be required to deliver argresh of Stock pursuant to the vesting of the Opifi
in the opinion of counsel for the Company, sucluasge would violate the Securities Act of 1933 oy ather applicable federal or st
securities laws or regulation¥he granting of the Option and the issuance ofeshand/or cash under this Agreement shall be dutgjeal|
applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and t& sipprovals by any governmental agencies or ndtgmarities exchanges as may be reqt
The Company shall be under no obligation to regiptesuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as ameénday of the shares of Stock [
pursuant to the Agreement. If the shares of Staill pursuant to the Agreement may in certain cistamces be exempt from registra
pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amentiedCompany may restrict the transfer of suchesher such manner as it deems advisat
ensure the availability of any such exemption.

b. Securities Law Compliance If Optionee is obligated to file reports pursuaat Section 16 of the Exchange #
transactions pursuant to this Agreement are ingtidecomply with all applicable conditions of Ruléb-3 or its successors pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Notwithstanding ather provision herein, the Committee may impsseh conditions on the exercise of
Option as may be required to satisfy the requirdmefnRule 168 or its successors pursuant to the Securities dbgsh Act of 1934. To tl
extent any provision herein or action by the Cornterifails to so comply, it shall be void to thees#tpermitted by law and voidable as dee
advisable by the Committee.




c. Restrictions. The Committee shall impose such restrictionstan @ption as it may deem advisable, including wit
limitation, restrictions under applicable federatsrities law, under the requirements of any Stathange upon which the Stock is then li
and under any blue sky or state securities lawlcgigpe to such Option.

17. Section 409A of the Code

a. General Compliance If this Agreement is subject to Section 409At Code, the Company intends (but cannot and
not guarantee) that this Agreement complies fulithvand meets all of the requirements of SectiopM6f the Code or an exception ther
To the extent necessary to comply with Section 469#e Code, this Agreement may be modified, regdiaor terminated in the discretior
the Committee. Notwithstanding any provision ofstiAgreement to the contrary, in the event that @wnmittee determines that t
Agreement is or may become subject to Section 46B#he Code, the Company may adopt such amendnetités Agreement, without t
consent of Optionee, or adopt other policies amdguiures (including amendments, policies and proesdwith retroactive effective dates)
take any other action that the Committee determiod® necessary or appropriate to either comptly @&ction 409A of the Code or to excl
or exempt this Agreement from the requirementseaaftin 409A of the Code.

b. Delay for Specified Employeedf, at the time of Optionee’s “separation of seeV the Company has any Stock whic
publicly traded on an established securities masketherwise, and if the Optionee is considerebe@ “specified employedd the extent ar
payment or consideration under this Agreement ligesti to the requirements of Section 409A of th@l€and is payable upon the Optiorzee
“separation from servicesuch payment shall not commence prior to the fitstiness day following the date which is six (6)ths after th
Optionee’s “separation from service” (or if earltean the end of the six (6) month period, the détihe Optionees death). Any amounts ti
would have been distributed during such six (6) thqreriod will be distributed on the day followitige expiration of the six (6) month period.

c. Prohibition on Acceleration or Deferral. Under no circumstances may the time or schediileng payment for ar
amount under this Agreement that is subject tagl@irements of Section 409A of the Code be acatddror subject to further deferral exc
as otherwise permitted or required pursuant tolatigms and other guidance issued pursuant to @ed9A of the Code. If the Company f.
to make any payment pursuant to the payment pamsgsapplicable to this Agreement that is subjecSéation 409A of the Code, eitl
intentionally or unintentionally, within the timeepod specified in such provisions, but the paynm&mntade within the same calendar year,
payment will be treated as made within the timdgaespecified in the provisions. In addition, iretbvent of a dispute with respect to
payment, such payment may be delayed in accordaiticehe regulations and other guidance issuedyauntsto Section 409A of the Code.




18. Voting and Other Shareholder Related Right$he Optionee will have no voting rights or any athights as a shareholder of
Company with respect to any Option until exercisgdhe Optionee.

19. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted and adminidtereler the laws of the State of Nevada.
20. Amendments This Agreement may be amended only by a writtee@gent executed by the Company and the Optionee.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thiségyent to be executed by its duly authorized reptative and Option
has signed this Agreement, and this Agreement beadfffective as of the day and year first writiove.
Cryoport, Inc.
12/18/14 By:

Date Name: Robert Stefanovic
Title: Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 21

CRYOPORT, INC.
Subsidiaries of Registrant
CryoPort Systems, Inc.




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement Nos. 333-159899, 333-166323-177168, 333-184543 and 333
197437 on Form S-8 of our report dated May 19, 2@lfsich includes an explanatory paragraph regardingport, Inc.5 ability to continu
as a going concern), with respect to the consadifinancial statements of Cryoport, Inc. includedhis Annual Report on Form 1K-of
Cryoport, Inc. for the years ended March 31, 204d 2014.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
May 19, 2015




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, Jerrell W. Shelton, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Cryoport, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contamsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtuibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtibés report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armmtguiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegit’s internal control over financial reportingat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @dndwer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controtofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadvwmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrarst’

internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 19, 2015

/s/ JERRELL W. SHELTOM
JERRELL W. SHELTON

Chief Executive Officer and Directi
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Robert S. Stefanovich, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Cryoport, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitede a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contamsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtuibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtibés report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armmtguiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegit’s internal control over financial reportingat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbm that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @dndwer financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controtofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadvwmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrarst’

internal control over financial reportin

Date: May 19, 2015

/s/ ROBERT S. STEFANOVIC}
Robert S. Stefanovic

Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedigot$o Section 906 of the Sarbaridey Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Croay,
Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to suchicgf’s knowledge, that:

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-Khaf Company for the year ended March 31, 2015 @aeport”) fully complies witt
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 1%l gpplicable, of the Securities Exchange Actd&41 as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmigdition and results of operations of
Company.

Date: May 19, 2015

/s/ JERRELL W. SHELTOM
Jerrell W. Sheltoi
Chief Executive Officer and Direct

This certification accompanies this Report pursuarRule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15dHb) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193

amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and shallendebmed filed by the Company for purposes of Sedi8 of the Securities Exchange
of 1934, as amended.




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedigotr$o Section 906 of the Sarbaridey Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Croay,
Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to suchicgf’s knowledge, that:

(i) the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-Khaf Company for the year ended March 31, 2015“@eport”) fully complies witt
the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 1% gpplicable, of the Securities Exchange Actd®41 as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmigdition and results of operations of
Company.

Date: May 19, 2015

/s/ ROBERT S. STEFANOVICl
Robert S. Stefanovic
Chief Financial Office

This certification accompanies this Report pursuarRule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15dHb) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193

amended, and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and shallexdebmed filed by the Company for purposes of &edi8 of the Securities Exchange
of 1934, as amended.




